

THINK YOU KNOW CLIMATE CHANGE?

THINK AGAIN

HERE ARE REAL SOLUTIONS THAT CAN PROTECT AND RESTORE AND RESTORE OUR WORLD.

FUND OUR FUND OUR FUND OUR FUND OUR

JOIN US AND WE CAN ACT TOGETHER, NOW!

CONTENTS

Glossary	4
Foreword by Vanessa Nakate	6
Executive Summary	7
Introduction	12
PART 1. CLIMATE CRISIS AND THE NEED FOR SYSTEM CHANGE	13
Climate crisis hitting communities	13
Climate impacts from fossil fuels and industrial agriculture	17
Fossil fuels: gendered, social, environmental, and health impacts	21
Debunking the development myths of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture	25
PART 2. THE MONEY FLOW: HOW FINANCIAL FLOWS ARE HARMING THE PLANET	27
The banks that are financing the climate crisis	27
Industrial agriculture	28
Fossil fuels	29
China	31
International and national banks	32
Net zero is not net zero	33
Bank Profiles	34
EUROPE	34
Barclays	34
BNP Paribas	35
HSBC	36
AMERICAS	38
Bank of America	38
Citigroup	39
JPMorgan Chase	40
ASIA	41
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China (ICBC)	41
China CITIC Bank	43
Mitsubishi UFJ	44
PART 3. HOW PUBLIC FUNDS ARE HARMING PUBLIC INTEREST	46
State Subsidies and direct budget support	46
State-owned enterprises	48
Public Investment: Sovereign Wealth Funds, Public Pension and Insurance Funds	48
State-Owned Banks	49
Development finance and official development assistance	50
PART 4: SCALING UP SOLUTIONS FOR FOOD, ENERGY AND THE CLIMATE	53
Renewable energy	54
Agroecology	56
Feminist Just Transitions	59
Financing the transition	60
PART 5: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	64
Key recommendations	65
Banks	65
Governments	66
Annex: Summary of methodology	67
Endnotes	69



GLOSSARY

AFD	Agence Francaise de Développement
AFOLU	Agriculture, Forestry and other Land Use
Agribusiness	A term to describe the multinational corporations selling the inputs and products of industrial agriculture including seeds, fertilisers, pesticides, machinery or export commodities
Agrochemical	Chemicals used in industrial agriculture such as synthetic fertilisers or pesticides
Agroecology	A term to describe sustainable and socially equitable farming practices that work with nature, and rely mostly on knowledge instead of purchased chemical or seed inputs. The UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) has developed a framework of the 10 Elements of Agroecology ¹
BECCS	Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage
Bonds	Bonds are a form of debt, similar to an IOU, and a slightly different from when banks provide loans. Companies or governments issue bonds in units to investors such as banks to raise money, with the bonds defined at an agreed interest rate and to be repaid over an agreed of time. Banks may do the initial "underwriting" or purchasing of bonds, and may sell these on to investors.
CAT	Climate Action Tracker
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage
CFS	UN Committee on World Food Security
CO2	Carbon dioxide
Corporate Financing	The lending given by banks to a corporation's general activities including salaries, contractors, equipment, office costs etc. While several banks have, for example, committed to end specific 'project financing' for fossil fuels (see below), their policies which allow continued financing of general corporate activities mean that they effectively continue to finance fossil fuel expansion.
DAC	Direct Air Capture
EACOP	East African Crude Oil Pipeline
FAO	UN Food and Agriculture Organisation
FISP	Farm Input Subsidy Programme
Fossil fertilisers	Synthetic nitrogen fertilisers which are produced using fossil fuels
FPIC	Free, Prior and Informed Consent
GCF	Green Climate Fund
GFANZ	Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero
GHG	Green House Gas emissions
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

IMF	International Monetary Fund		
MDBs	Multilateral Development Banks		
NCQG	New Collective Quantified Goal on climate finance under the UNFCCC		
OCHA	UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs		
ODA	Official Development Assistance		
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development		
NZBA	Net Zero Banking Alliance		
LGBTQI+	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Intersex +		
LNG	Liquid Natural Gas		
LULUCF	Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry		
PIF	Saudi Arabia's Public Investment Fund		
Project Financing	The lending given by banks specifically attributed to particular projects, e.g. developing new fossil fuel activities or palm oil plantations. Several banks have announced policies to stop financing coal projects, for example. However these announcements do not cover the much larger-scale 'corporate financing' (see above), meaning that financing of harmful activities effectively continues.		
RSPO	Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil		
RTRS	Round Table on Responsible Soy Association		
Scope 1-3	Scope 1 emissions are the GHGs released and controlled as a result of a company's own activities, including extraction of fossil fuels, production of agrochemicals, or the driving of a fleet of vehicles; scope 2 emissions are the GHGs released as a result of the company's purchased electricity, for example for office buildings; scope 3 emissions are all other GHGs, including those that result from customers' use of a company's product further down the value chain, such as the GHGs resulting from customers' burning petrol in their cars. Several fossil fuel corporations have announced net zero targets that cover only scopes 1 and 2, but not the major source of GHGs released under scope 3.		
STDs	Sexually Transmitted Diseases		
SWFs	Sovereign Wealth Funds		
UN	United Nations		
Underwriting	The provision of finance in the form of loans, bonds, insurance or investments, with terms based on an assessment of the risk and likelihood of repayment.		
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change		
WB	World Bank		
WHO	UN World Health Organisation		



Photo by DeLovie Kwagala

Yet again, this year we have seen climate disasters hit countries on a scale that has not been witnessed before, with every region in the world being affected by droughts, heatwaves, wildfires, flooding and hurricanes. People are losing their lives to this catastrophe, while countless more are losing their livelihoods.

The country I live in, Uganda, has one of the fastest changing climates in the world. I've seen firsthand the devastation extreme weather can inflict on the lives of people who did very little to cause it, and this injustice is what spurs me on as a climate activist. You may have heard it time and time again, but we cannot wait any longer – the situation is desperate, and it's time to expose the biggest contributors to this crisis.

What angers me the most is the lack of action that world leaders and huge polluters are taking to halt this crisis.

Money continues to be pumped into harmful activities that threaten the existence of our planet and its people. As the IPCC's 6th Assessment Report shows, more finance is flowing to the causes of climate change than to its solutions. How can this still be the case when the world can see the full effects of the climate crisis?

As communities in Africa, Asia and Latin America living on the front lines of the climate crisis suffer floods, droughts, cyclones and rising sea levels, the banks continue to add insult to injury by funding activities that push the same communities off their land and pollute their waters.

True climate leadership means embracing a move away from fossil fuels and other drivers of climate change, but as this vital report by ActionAid exposes, it's impossible to make this change when banks are consistently funding those causing the most damage.

This report reveals the trillions in harmful finance flowing to the Global South, fuelling the climate crisis and directly harming vulnerable communities. The report puts the destructive influence of industrial agriculture in the spotlight.

Above all, and crucially, it celebrates the climate heroines and heroes, the farmers and communities leading the way with agroecology and rooted resistance. These are the people finding solutions in the midst of despair, but they cannot hold back the tide on their own.

This report names the biggest offenders in the banking world and calls on them to see that they are destroying the planet, while harming the present and future for their children. It's time to hold financial institutions to account, and demand that they end their funding of destructive activity. The voices of the people and places most affected by the climate and environmental destruction must be heard.

Vanessa Nakate is a Ugandan climate justice activist, founder of Rise Up Movement, Youth for Future Africa and the Green Schools Project, and author of "A Bigger Picture: My fight to bring a new African Voice to the Climate Crisis." She has been recognised by numerous institutions including the UN, TIME, the BBC, Jeune Afrique, YouthLead and Okay Africa as a key influential voice for youth, Africa and climate justice.





The climate has a cash flow problem.

Far more of the world's money is flowing to the causes of the climate crisis than to the solutions.

As the climate crisis escalates, fossil fuels and industrial agriculture – the two industries that are the largest contributors to climate change – continue to expand and thrive. Meanwhile, the solutions needed to address the climate crisis remain woefully underfunded.

The climate impact of burning fossil fuels is well known, but the role of industrialised agriculture in the climate crisis is less widely publicised. Agriculture is the second-largest contributor to climate change, and industrialised approaches marketed and controlled by giant agribusiness corporations are responsible for the bulk of emissions in the sector.² These industrialised agriculture approaches drive deforestation, aggressively market agrochemicals that lead to large amounts of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and expand factory farming. They also undermine billions of smallholder farmers and their agroecological farming systems which could otherwise feed the world while cooling the planet. Industrial agriculture's reliance on fossil fuels to produce agrochemicals is just one way in which the two industries are deeply co-dependent.

Countries in the Global South, already disproportionately affected by the impacts of the climate crisis, are playing host to an increasing number of fossil fuel and industrial agriculture developments such as coal mines, gas wells, oil pipelines, coal-fired power plants and monoculture plantations blasted with agrochemicals such as fossil fertilisers and pesticides. These lead to conflicts over land and water, cause premature deaths, destroy ecosystems, poison rivers and lakes, and drive up the climate change impacts already devastating their communities.

Financing fossil fuels and industrial agriculture also risks locking Global South countries into building expensive and debt-dependent infrastructure that will quickly become outdated, rather than investing in sustainable opportunities for development like renewable energy and agroecology.

This report tracks financial flows from banks to fossil fuels and industrial agriculture in the 134 countries of the Global South.

Despite global banks' public declarations that they are addressing climate change, the scale of their continued fossil fuel and industrial agriculture financing is staggering.



New research by ActionAid shows that:

- Bank financing provided to the fossil fuel industry in the Global South reached an estimated US\$3.2 trillion in the seven years since the Paris Agreement on Climate Change was adopted.³
- Bank financing provided to the largest industrial agriculture companies operating in the Global South amounted to US\$370 billion over the same period.
- Banks have provided 20 times more financing to fossil fuels and agriculture activities in the Global South than Global North governments have provided as climate finance to countries on the front lines of the climate crisis.

This glut of unsustainable financing is being provided by many of the world's biggest banks. The largest European financiers of fossil fuels and agribusiness are HSBC, BNP Paribas, Société Générale, and Barclays. In the Americas, the three largest US banks – Citigroup, JPMorgan Chase and Bank of America – were the most enthusiastic funders of both industries. The largest Asian financiers of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture are the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, China CITIC Bank, Bank of China and Mitsubishi UFJ Financial.

The largest recipient of industrial agriculture financing in the Global South is Bayer, the German multinational which bought the controversial agrochemical and biotechnology company Monsanto in 2018. Bayer has received an estimated US\$20.6 billion in financing for its agribusiness operations in the Global South since 2016.

The other major industrial agriculture recipients of bank financing in the Global South include ChemChina (Syngenta), COFCO Group, Archer-Daniels-Midland (ADM) and Olam Group, which are all involved in either the sale of climate-warming agrochemicals or deforestation-driving animal feed and biofuels.

The largest recipients of fossil fuel financing in the Global South include the State Power Investment Corporation (US\$203.9 billion since 2016) and several other Chinese power companies and producers heavily invested in coal, the commodities trader Trafigura, and major oil and gas companies including Saudi Aramco, Petrobras, Eni, Exxon Mobil, BP and Shell.

The financing provided for fossil fuels and industrial agriculture in the Global South is likely to dwarf the financing provided by banks for renewable energy and agroecology over the same period. Recent research has shown that only seven percent of the financing provided by the major international banks featured in our report has gone to renewable energy in the seven years since the Paris Agreement.⁴ Although no equivalent dataset exists for agroecology financing, lending from 'traditional' banks accounts for only a small proportion of the financing in this sector.⁵

This report profiles nine of the major financiers of industrial agriculture and fossil fuel activities in the Global South. These profiles show that:

- Many of these banks have committed to reach 'net zero' emissions in their financing portfolio by 2050, but none have adequate policies in place to genuinely decarbonise their portfolio.⁶
- Several banks (including Barclays, BNP Paribas, HSBC and Citigroup) now have long-term targets to phase out coal lending, but continue to finance some of the largest coal power producers and mining companies in the interim.⁷
- Major banks are funding corporations responsible for controversial projects which are devastating local communities and ecosystems.
- None of the major banks has a policy to fully phase out oil and gas financing, even though this is required if their financing is to be consistent with a 1.5°C climate goal. Instead, the main recipients of bank financing are the largest oil and gas companies.⁸



- None of the banks surveyed by ActionAid have policies limiting the financing of industrial agriculture or favouring agroecology.
- Where agricultural commodity policies exist, these usually relate to specific sectors palm oil and soy in particular but are over-reliant on certification schemes that have proven ineffective.
- Policies addressing the role that beef producers play in driving deforestation (especially in the Amazon) are inadequate, or lacking altogether.
- The harms caused by the agrochemicals sector also go unaddressed by bank policies. No bank recognises or seeks to reduce the climate harm resulting from the production and application of fossil-fuel based nitrogen fertilisers by industrial agriculture corporations.



Public financing has the capacity to contribute greatly to solutions to the climate change crisis but remains a big part of the problem. Governments continue to channel public funds to fossil fuels and industrial agriculture through a web of public subsidies, state-owned enterprises, state-owned banks, national wealth and pension funds, and official development assistance (ODA).

Renewable energy has the potential to far exceed projected global energy demand by 2050, and renewables are already more affordable than fossil fuels in most cases.⁹ However, appropriate financing is still lacking, including scaled up climate finance to help reach the goal of achieving universal energy access. ActionAid promotes a model of energy democracy that requires improved energy governance and a diversified production model based on renewables.¹⁰

A transformation of food systems is needed to address the climate crisis and meet the world's food and livelihood needs, and agroecological farming is increasingly recognised as a viable alternative to industrialised agriculture.¹¹ But this transformation requires that governments and funders prioritise food sovereignty,



moving from an extractive focus on producing commodities for export, and the overuse of agrochemicals, to an approach that centres and builds upon the contributions of smallholder farmers, and particularly women smallholder farmers. Promoting agroecology requires scaled up financial and technical support, including gender-responsive training, support for accessing markets, subsidy shifts, and investment in infrastructure, production and processing facilities.

In this urgent era of climate change, public funds must be scaled up and channelled in the public interest, to bring about equitable transitions to renewable energy and agroecology.

And the madness of the world's banks and governments continuing to finance the destruction of the planet must come to an end.



RECOMMENDATIONS

Banks must:

- STOP FINANCING FOSSIL FUELS: Put an immediate stop to project and corporate financing of fossil fuel expansion and all coal activities, and develop rapid exit strategies from oil and gas;
- STOP FINANCING OF DEFORESTATION AND OTHER HARMFUL INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE ACTIVITIES: Stop project and corporate financing of deforestation and other harmful industrial agriculture activities, and develop robust red lines to guide exit strategies;
- **PROTECT RIGHTS OF COMMUNITIES:** Strengthen polices against human rights abuse and deforestation, and ensure Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC), robust safeguards and effective disclosure and redress mechanisms;
- WORK TO BRING EMISSIONS DOWN TO 'REAL ZERO': Set real and ambitious targets to bring financing portfolio emissions down to as close to zero as possible, without offsets, and covering the entirety of the emissions arising from their loans and underwriting, and the scope 1-3 emissions of their clients;
- STRENGTHEN TRANSPARENCY AND TOOLS FOR VERIFICATION: Enhance measures to ensure accountability of project and corporate financing, including through reporting made publicly-available on online databases on policies, practices and performance indicators in emissions targets, safeguards and human rights standards.

Governments must:

• EFFECTIVELY REGULATE THE BANKING, FINANCE, FOSSIL FUEL AND INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE SECTORS TO STOP FOSSIL FUEL EXPANSION, INCLUDING ENSURING MANDATORY DEVELOPMENT OF CLIMATE TRANSITION PLANS CONSISTENT WITH A 1.5°C CLIMATE GOAL;

• REDIRECT HARMFUL FOSSIL FUEL AND INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURAL SUBSIDIES;

- SCALE UP SUPPORT AND PLANNING FOR JUST TRANSITIONS TO REAL SOLUTIONS SUCH AS RENEWABLE ENERGY AND AGROECOLOGY
- FINANCE JUST TRANSITIONS THROUGH SCALED UP CLIMATE FINANCE, TAX JUSTICE AND DEBT RELIEF.

INTRODUCTION

This report looks at the role played by major international banks in financing fossil fuels and industrial agriculture in the Global South. It also examines the current role of public financing in supporting fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, and how public finance could instead support a transition towards a more sustainable future based on renewable energy and agroecology.

In Part 1, we set out the context of the climate crisis to explain why system change is needed. We examine the climate impacts of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, as well as their broader effects on the environment, gender equity and social justice.

Part 2 looks at financial flows to industrial agriculture and fossil fuels that are harming the planet, and evidence that finance flows for fossil fuels are still far greater than those for climate adaptation and mitigation. Private financial flows can take various forms – including bond and shareholdings by asset managers, pension funds and insurance companies. For the purposes of this report, however, we focus on bank financing, in the form of loans and underwriting. We find that bank financing for the fossil fuel industry in the 134 countries of the Global South reached an estimated US\$3.2 trillion dollars since 2016 when the Paris Agreement on Climate Change was adopted. Bank financing to the largest industrial agriculture companies operating in the Global South amounted to US\$370 billion over the same period.

Part 3 of the report examines how public finds are currently harming the public interest. We survey the financing offered to industrial agriculture and fossil fuels by state-owned banks and enterprises, development finance, public investment funds, and public subsidies.

Real and sustainable solutions to address global energy and food requirements already exist, which we examine in Part 4.

In the final section of this report, Part 5, we set out several recommendations on how banks and governments can support a just transition from funding the world's destruction, to financing its hope for survival.



PART 1. CLIMATE CRISIS AND THE NEED FOR SYSTEM CHANGE

CLIMATE CRISIS HITTING COMMUNITIES

Climate change is bringing hunger, poverty, terror and grief to millions of people. But the responsibility for climate change is not shared evenly. The responsibility lies mainly in the industrialised Global North countries, and corporations based in the Global North continue to play a disproportionate role in fossil fuel exploitation and expansion. This report focuses on one part of this picture: the role played by global banks in financing fossil fuels and industrial agriculture in the Global South.

Despite not being responsible for most of the pollution leading to climate change, vulnerable communities in the Global South are experiencing its most severe impacts.

Within the last year, climate disasters have taken on a new scale and fury. Europe and North America have experienced recent and shocking heatwaves, fires and floods, with hundreds of temperature records broken on land and in the oceans. Nonetheless, the impacts of climate change continue to be far more severe in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Malawi and Mozambique have faced the terrifying effects of Cyclone Freddy, the longest-lasting cyclone on record. Five seasons without rainfall have left severe drought and unprecedented hunger across Eastern Africa. Devastating floods in Pakistan put one third of the country underwater.

The increasing intensity and frequency of climate disasters provide a hint of the climate chaos that is to come as our planet continues to heat up, and disrupted weather patterns become more extreme.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has gathered overwhelming evidence of worsening climate change across the globe, with the worst impacts felt by communities in the Global South, including more frequent and extreme weather events such as heat waves and droughts, floods and tropical cyclones, as well as slow onset impacts like desertification, land degradation and the loss of coastal wetlands.¹² Previous research by ActionAid has found that even if current climate targets are met by the world's governments, by 2050 more than 60 million people in South Asia alone are likely to be displaced by the impacts of rising sea levels, water stress, crop yield reductions, ecosystem loss and drought.¹³



CREDIT: Nora Awolowo/ActionAic

As United Nations Secretary General António Guterres has stated, "half of humanity is now in the danger zone,"¹⁴ and "the era of global warming has ended; the era of global boiling has arrived."¹⁵

Food systems like farms and fisheries are highly sensitive to changing weather patterns and soaring temperatures. The worsening extremes of climate change undermine food sovereignty and water security, and have already damaged the health and livelihoods of many millions of people, with the most vulnerable people disproportionately affected.¹⁶ This has particularly adverse effects on gender and social equity.¹⁷ Women and people marginalised by their race, class, ethnicity, sexuality, Indigenous identity, age, disability, income, migrant status and geographical location are subjected to greater inequality as they are often excluded from social protections, and experience greater vulnerability to climate change impacts.¹⁸

As appalling as the situation currently is, these effects are likely to become far worse in the future. That is why we need urgent action, including policies to stop pollution and to stop financing polluters. As we set out later in this report, this must include policies and regulations to rapidly reduce bank financing for fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, as well as support for a feminist and just transition towards agroecology and renewable energy for all.

BOX 1:

THE DISPROPORTIONAL IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON WOMEN AND GIRLS

Across the Global South nearly half of the agricultural workforce are women, and in sub-Saharan Africa the proportion is far greater.¹⁹ This means women's livelihoods and food security are particularly vulnerable to the effects of climate change.

Women and children are 14 times more likely to die from climate disasters as men,²⁰ and the greater the gender and economic inequality, the greater the disparity between men and women's chances of survival.²¹ 80% of people displaced by climate disasters are women.²² When water sources dry up, women and girls must walk further to fetch water. When crop failure impacts on family income, women are more likely to skip meals than men. Girls are pulled out of schooling before their brothers either to save on school fees or so they can be sent to fetch water, setting them on an unequal path for life. They may be married off at an early age by parents who can no longer afford to feed them, depriving them of schooling and exposing them to gender based violence. When climate change leaves families hungry, women report higher incidences of domestic violence.²³

Many factors increase women's exposure to the effects of climate change. These include discriminatory patriarchal norms and gender-blind or gender-biased policies that place an unequal burden of care on women while reducing their access to land, markets, finance, public services, agricultural extension services and climate information.²⁴ Women farmers are therefore less able to invest in resilience, while earning less for their efforts than male farmers. Patriarchal norms in which men hold more power, privilege and property rights also often result in the exclusion of women and girls from participating in local decision-making processes and humanitarian responses. In 2018, only 54% of crisis contexts were found to have held at least one consultation with local women's organisations in the planning of their humanitarian response strategies.²⁵

Another factor making women more vulnerable is accelerating migration from rural to urban locations. It is common for men of working age, particularly young men, to migrate from rural areas in search of employment. This trend is leaving many communities across Africa, Asia and Latin America with few men, driving the feminisation of agriculture and further increasing the multiple burdens on women.²⁶ Women report increased exhaustion, poverty and hunger. In some communities, women report that the absence of their husbands means that that they are at greater risk of harassment and sexual and violent assault outside of their homes.²⁷ Hunger and poverty has forced some women into transactional sex work in order to feed their families, exposing them to violence and HIV.²⁸ Meanwhile, young women in South Asia who are also driven to migration are more likely to experience trafficking and exploitation.²⁹

STORY 1

CYCLONE FREDDY – ASIYA'S STORY

Cyclone Freddy, which hit Malawi, Mozambique, Zimbabwe and Madagascar in February and March 2023, was the longest-lasting cyclone ever recorded at 38 days. Cyclone Freddy was exceptionally intense and, unusually, crossed back-and-forth over the channel between Mozambique and Madagascar twice, rapidly intensifying several times. The cyclone brought catastrophic damage to the region. Malawi and Mozambique were hit particularly hard.

Mozambique experienced widespread flooding from a year's worth of rainfall over four weeks, and wind speeds of up to 215km per hour. 1.1 million people were affected by flooding, and 15,000 people became stranded when they moved to higher ground for protection. 391,000 hectares of cropland were damaged. After the storm passed, hunger, lack of access to fresh water, cholera



and loss of homes and livelihoods continued to cause hardship in a country that is still in recovery from the devastation of the twin Cyclones Idai and Kenneth in 2019. In April 2023, health authorities reported 28,958 cases of cholera in 10 provinces of the country, with 129 deaths.

Malawi, however, was the country hit hardest by Cyclone Freddy. Once reaching Malawi, the cyclone became near-stationary, bringing heavy and incessant rains over an extended period, which caused unprecedented flooding. According to reports from the ActionAid humanitarian team, based on official government and OCHA data, 2,267,458 people have been affected, of whom 659,278,000 have been displaced. The cyclone caused 279 deaths and 2,178 injuries, with 537 people still reported missing. The floods washed away homes, roads, infrastructure, crops and livestock, and inundated 320,000 hectares of land including 117,000 of cropland. Striking just before the harvest was due, Cyclone Freddy has devastated livelihoods and food security. ActionAid is in the region providing cash transfers, distributing food and sensitising communities on protection and prevention of gender-based violence.

ASIYA NGALANDE is a 28-year-old mother and farmer from Nkhulambe Village in Malawi.

"On that night, I woke up and checked outside. What I saw was a river flowing [where there was none before]. I started waking people up, telling them to evacuate their homes because it was not safe.

"I sent four of my children to my grandmother's house because her roof was covered with iron sheets, and mine was grass thatched. But her house collapsed on them. All four children that were in the house were washed away. As I speak, all the children are gone, they were swept away from that house. I was able to save two of my children, my mother and myself.

"We haven't been able to recover the bodies of the children. We have even gone as far as Mozambique to look for them, but we have not found them.

"Our clothes are gone, blankets, maize, rice, together with the children, are all gone.

"There is now a river outside of our house where there was none before. We are scared of the rains. We get scared every time it starts raining, and we wonder, is it not enough? Hasn't it taken enough lives already? Does it want to kill us all?"



HORN OF AFRICA DROUGHT - HALIMO'S STORY

In the Horn of Africa – which includes parts of Somalia, Ethiopia and Kenya – the rains have failed for five successive seasons in a row. The region is in the middle of its worst drought for at least 40 years, exacerbated by higher than usual temperatures. Rivers and water sources are dry. Croplands soils are parched. Grasslands for grazing pasture have turned to dust. Over 9 million livestock have died across the region.

More than 16.2 million people cannot access enough water for drinking, cooking and cleaning. More than one person in every nine is currently at risk of starvation. In Somalia, the situation is especially serious. More than 40% of the population of Somalia face acute food insecurity, and nearly 55% of Somali children are acutely malnourished.³⁰

A study by the World Weather Attribution Group has now confirmed that this drought is a consequence of climate change, and planetary warming due to rising greenhouse gas emissions.³¹

Halimo Ahmed Yusuf is from Ceel-Dheere, Somaliland. She is a pregnant 45-year-old mother of nine. A pastoralist whose livelihood comes from selling milk and meat, Halimo lost nearly all her livestock in the drought.

"Drought affected us on many sides – whether it is the livestock or the production of a business. I used to own 25 cows and now 20 of them are dead. We have no farms or other sources of income. We are pastoralists and drought took the lives of our livestock. We don't have any other production."

HALIMO is forced to spend her days searching far and wide for water for her family.

"We don't have access to water and water tanks are sometimes in far away locations. It can take me five hours to get water, and sometimes it happens that I don't get any. [The lack of water] affects [the children] and there is no food for them. Thirst is a problem too. Our babies cry because of it."

THINK YOU KNOW CLIMATE CHANGE?

THINK AGAIN

CLIMATE IMPACTS FROM FOSSIL FUELS AND INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE

The climate science clearly shows that our window of opportunity for keeping global warming under the key threshold of 1.5°C is closing fast. Global emissions need to reach zero by 2050 if we are to have even a 50% chance of keeping under 1.5°C. Meeting that goal requires rapid action now to ensure that emissions fall to almost half of their 2010 level by 2030.³² Current pledges made by the world's governments, however, add up to barely any reductions in annual global emissions, and we are far off track from the GHG cuts needed to keep under the 1.5°C warming threshold. As the UN Secretary General has stressed, this "spells catastrophe" and "will destroy any chance of keeping 1.5 alive."³³



2030 Emissions gaps

Fossil fuels are by far the largest contributor to climate change, accounting for over 75% of global greenhouse gas emissions.³⁵ The potential emissions from the coal, oil and gas fields already in production would push emissions way above 1.5°C.³⁶ Developing any new fossil fuel extraction projects, or building new fossil fuel infrastructure such as new pipelines, liquid natural gas (LNG) terminals, refineries or coal, gas or oil-fired power plants, is incompatible with the Paris Agreement and the 1.5°C climate goal.³⁷

"Fossil fuels are a dead end – for our planet, for humanity, and yes, for economies.... A prompt, well-managed transition to renewables is the only pathway to energy security, universal access and the green jobs our world needs."³⁸ António Guterres, UN Secretary General

Industrial agriculture, and the unsustainable food system that it supplies, is also a major source of greenhouse gas emissions. The IPCC reports that Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) sector accounts for 13-21% of greenhouse gas emissions globally.³⁹ There are four main emissions sources: carbon dioxide emissions from land use change, including deforestation to make way for agriculture; the production and application of synthetic nitrogen fertilisers ('fossil fertilisers') and agrochemicals; livestock emissions from enteric fermentation and manure; and methane emissions from rice paddies.⁴⁰

The factors identified by the IPCC as the main sources of increased agricultural emissions are characteristic of developments driven by industrialised agriculture. Industrialised agriculture is typified by large-scale plantations; widespread application of agrochemical fertilisers, pesticides and herbicides; hybrid or genetically

modified seeds sold by corporations which need to be purchased anew each year; mechanised farming; monocultures of single crop varieties covering hundreds of hectares; and commodity crops destined for export. Corporations known as 'agribusinesses' control and profit from almost every step of the process.

This model of agriculture is linked to aggressive historic and ongoing rates of deforestation and biodiversity destruction. For example, the main drivers of deforestation in the Amazon and Cerrado (a vast area of tropical savannah in Brazil) are the production of beef, and soy, which is primarily used as animal feed for factory farming.⁴¹

Synthetic nitrogen fertiliser production requires the burning and feedstock of massive amounts of fossil fuels, usually fossil gas.⁴² When applied to soils, these 'fossil fertilisers' can cause stable organic matter, including mycorrhizal fungi which provide plant nutrients and stabilise carbon, to decompose, generating emissions by turning stored soil carbon into atmospheric carbon dioxide.⁴³ The application of synthetic fertilisers onto soils is shown to lead to high emissions of nitrous oxide (N2O), a greenhouse gas that is so harmful to the climate that it causes 310 times the warming effect of carbon dioxide. According to the IPCC, global nitrogen fertiliser use increased by 41% between 1990 and 2019, corresponding with increased nitrous oxide emissions and climate impacts.⁴⁴

In contrast to industrialised agriculture, agroecological and organic farming approaches are typified by smallholdings, using local and natural materials to provide soil fertility and build up soil carbon and mycorrhizae, and diverse cropping systems which produce food largely destined to feed local communities and markets. These approaches use little to no fossil fertilisers.⁴⁵

The IPCC also notes that the growth in the global livestock population is driving up methane emissions.⁴⁶ Much of this has been through the expansion of 'factory farming' approaches where thousands of animals are kept in enclosed conditions, fed with imported soy and maize, and dosed with high levels of antibiotics. The methane emissions of the five largest meat corporations and ten of the largest dairy corporations account for just over 11% of the world's livestock-related methane.⁴⁷ This gives each of these companies a greenhouse gas emissions footprint equivalent to oil companies.

The impacts of industrial agriculture are not limited to the direct emissions from agriculture itself. Industrial agriculture is one end of a food chain that concentrates the production, distribution, processing, and sale of food in the hands of a few powerful corporations. Research on the broader climate impact of the global food system estimates that it contributes around 30 per cent of the world's greenhouse gas emissions, with the transport of ingredients and food products accounting for nearly one-fifth of this total.⁴⁸ Industrialised agriculture is at the heart of this problem, since it is a system built around long supply chains rather than sourcing sustainable food locally.

Industrialised agriculture is the cornerstone of a food system that is characterised by high levels of food waste, and consumption patterns that have increased demand for animal-sourced and processed food. Shifting to healthier diets and reducing food waste are critical objectives if we are to shift to a more sustainable food system.⁴⁹

It is also relevant to note that there is a growing co-dependency between industrial agriculture and fossil fuel corporations, which goes beyond the use of fossil fuels in synthetic nitrogen fertiliser production. As the world's energy and transport sectors are increasingly required to shift away from fossil fuel dependency, fossil fuel corporations are seeking to expand key markets such as agrochemical and plastic production, to absorb and justify their continued extraction and sales.^{50, 51} Furthermore, fossil industries are now promoting hydrogen as a clean-sounding energy alternative, using technologies already developed by the fertiliser industry to advance Carbon Capture and Storage.⁵² Producing hydrogen is highly energy intensive, however, and fossil fuel industry claims that they could produce it "cleanly" by capturing and storing carbon dioxide do not stack up. It has been shown that associated methane emissions resulting from this process are higher than the equivalent greenhouse gas emissions produced by some existing fossil fuel uses.⁵³



INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE – THE SECOND BIGGEST SOURCE BOX 2: OF GLOBAL GHGS

Agriculture-more specifically industrial agriculture-is the second largest source of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions globally.

The top five emitting sectors according to the IPCC are industry (34%); agriculture, forestry and other land use (AFOLU) (22%); buildings (16%); transport (15%); and energy supply (12%).⁵⁴

Carbon dioxide, methane (CH4), and nitrous oxide (N2O) make up the GHG emissions from the agriculture sector. Industrial agriculture contributes substantially to the total emissions from the sector, in particular through the use of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers, deforestation, and intensive livestock production. In addition, emissions from the production and transportation of fertilizers (accounted for by the IPCC in the 'industry' sector) must be added to AFOLU sector emissions to capture the entire scope of industrial agriculture-related emissions.

Taken together, the full supply chain emissions of synthetic nitrogen fertilizer; deforestation linked to industrial commodity production, including cattle; and intensive livestock production make up the majority of agriculture-related emissions and lead to the conclusion that industrial agriculture is the second largest source of GHG emissions.

SYNTHETIC NITROGEN FERTILIZER. The amount of GHG emissions from production of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers is significant. "The synthesis of ammonia, from which all synthetic fertilizers are produced, accounts alone for about 0.8% of the global GHG emissions and two percent of global energy."55 Total emissions across the N fertilizer supply chain from manufacturing to soil application was estimated at "1.13 Gt carbon dioxidee in 2018, representing 10.6% of agricultural emissions and 2.1% of global GHG emissions."56

DEFORESTATION. Gross emissions from deforestation have doubled in the last decade and continue to rise.⁵⁷ The most important driver of deforestation is global demand for agricultural commodities. Industrial commodity production is therefore the largest contributor to ag-related GHG emissions from deforestation. "[J]ust seven agricultural commodities-cattle, oil palm, soy, cocoa, rubber, coffee, and plantation wood fiber-accounted for 26% of global tree cover loss from 2001 to 2015," which was 57% of agriculture-related tree cover loss.⁵⁸ "In tropical America, much of the lands replacing forest are large-scale commodity agriculture operations, including rangelands for beef, and croplands for oilseeds and cereals."59

INTENSIVE LIVESTOCK PRODUCTION. Livestock are the main source of agricultural emissions, with cattle as the most GHG intensive of any livestock from manure and enteric fermentation. Intensive cattle production typified by factory farming contributes methane, nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide emissions. Livestock are responsible for 66% of agricultural methane emissions. Intensively managed pastureland, while only one quarter of global grazing lands, contributed 86% of the net global nitrous oxide emissions from grasslands.⁶⁰ Cattle farming remains a major driver of deforestation, a larger driver than any other commodity, with forests cut down both for pasturelands and for growing feed crops.⁶¹





CYCLONE FREDDY - LOVENESS' STORY

Loveness Chiwaya Chaponda is the director of Chigwiranzo Women Movement, a local partner organisation of ActionAid in Malawi.

"When Cyclone Freddy hit the first time, the second time, and the third time, we were inside our homes. The floods came at night whilst we were asleep. It sounded like a moving vehicle or a maize mill.

"At first it was just water flowing. This was followed by more water, but mixed with mud. This caused a lot of people in this area to be swept away by the floods. As I am speaking, this area you see is not what it used to be. It is an area that used to have houses. But due to the floods all the houses are gone. These floods brought this sand that you see, these rocks that you see, and the trees.

"This disaster has taken a lot of lives. And it has affected us because we have lost crops and housing. There were also business people here, who had small and medium size businesses, which used to create jobs. Those business people have lost their money and goods. There was also a hospital in this area. That hospital has also been swept away. As I speak, we do not have nurses and doctors.

"Right now we are very scared of diseases, especially cholera, because we are drinking untreated water. Cholera is a deadly disease. In the camps we are not eating clean food, we are just eating because we are hungry and food is scarce, so we are just eating anything. Even toilets are gone. When someone wants to ease themselves, there is no toilet. So everyone will just be easing themselves anywhere.

"We are scared of hunger. Everything is gone. People have nothing. No blankets, no food, no cooking utensils.

"It may be difficult to rebuild because the area is destroyed, even the soil. The way it is now it will be hard to produce food. This area had fertile land where we were able to harvest and feed our families. Now all the crops are gone, the ground is full of sand. Malnutrition will affect our kids."





FOSSIL FUELS: GENDERED, SOCIAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH IMPACTS

The extraction and use of oil, gas and coal has well-known impacts on health and the environment alongside the damage they cause to the climate. Coal mining removes huge amounts of top soil (and sometimes whole mountaintops) leading to erosion and loss of habitats, while mine wastes cause significant water pollution.⁶² The burning of coal emits toxic and carcinogenic substances further polluting our air, water and land.⁶³ The effects of air pollution from coal-fired power plants are estimated to kill up to 115,000 people annually in India, and over 360,000 annually in China.⁶⁴

Extracting oil and gas causes significant water, air and soil pollution, not least through the huge quantities of waste generated by their extraction and refinement.⁶⁵ The production and use of oil and gas also consumes large volumes of water – several billion cubic metres per year – which is then polluted with hydrocarbon residues, salts and heavy metals.⁶⁶

Air pollution from oil extraction, gas flaring, refineries and petrochemical plants has significant health impacts, including increased risk of asthma, cancer and birth defects.⁶⁷ From Cox's Bazar in Bangladesh to Cancer Alley in Louisiana, USA, poor and marginalised communities are most affected by these polluters, since extractive projects, petrochemicals and other heavy industries are disproportionately sited and developed where poor communities live.⁶⁸ In Ogoniland in southeast Nigeria, for example, oil pollution has accumulated for decades, with reports of severe contamination of land and underground water, including dangerous concentrations of benzene in community drinking water.⁶⁹

Fossil fuel extraction sites are also sites where gender-based violence and femicide is concentrated.⁷⁰ In particular, temporary settlements for fossil fuel workers, known as 'man camps', are associated with increases in sexual assaults.⁷¹ On her visit to South Africa, for example, the UN Special Rapporteur on violence against women found that women working in the mining industry are exposed to extremely high levels of sexual and physical violence.⁷² The Minerals Council of South Africa, the mining industry employers' organisation, has also acknowledged a "crisis of gender-based violence and harassment" in the sector.⁷³

The fossil fuel sector is also "riddled with economic gender inequality".⁷⁴ The sector has one of the lowest proportions of female employees of any economic sector, with very few women in managerial positions and wages for female employees almost 20% lower than their male counterparts on average.

Women experience disproportionate health impacts from the air, water and soil pollution caused by fossil fuels. For example, exposure to air pollutants released when fossil fuels are burnt have been linked to breast cancer and ovarian diseases.⁷⁵ Flaring at refineries and petrochemicals facilities has been linked with increased risk of preterm births, as well as cardiovascular and nervous system problems in surrounding communities.⁷⁶ Food production is at the core of the unpaid care and domestic work that disproportionately falls to women in rural areas, and the impacts of pollution on land, water and livestock are devastating, affecting them and their families' health and food security.⁷⁷

ActionAid South Africa's 2017 report *Living Next to the Mine* found that women living in mining-affected communities in South Africa are forced to cope with food insecurity, an increased burden of unpaid care and domestic work, chronic health problems and terminal illness from environmental pollution, and increased levels of HIV infections.⁷⁸

INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE: GENDERED, SOCIAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH IMPACTS

Despite its promises, the industrialised food system is still failing to feed the world properly. A shocking 2.4 billion people did not have access to sufficient, safe or nutritious food in 2022.⁷⁹ A full 11.7% of the global population faced severe insecurity that same year. The Covid-19 pandemic has increased global hunger by



as much as 150 million people. Even without the impact of the pandemic, however, the current global food system would still leave more than one in four people food insecure around the world. Many of the people who are going hungry under this system are themselves food producers, and women farmers are particularly at risk.⁸⁰ This exposes the faulty logic of the industrial agriculture system, based on the exploitation of nature and cheap labour, including women's unpaid work.

The costs of inputs associated with industrialised farming approaches – namely seeds, fossil fertilisers, herbicides and other pesticides – eat into farmers' take-home incomes, and many face shrinking returns and growing debt. National data from India found that over 17,000 farmers died by suicide between 2018 and 2020, in part due to the high price of agricultural inputs, the increasing costs of cultivation, and deepening debt.⁸¹

Rising global fuel prices since 2022 had an immediate effect on fertiliser prices.⁸² Agricultural policies in many countries have encouraged dependence on fertiliser use, making farming communities particularly vulnerable to these effects. In some developing countries, fertiliser subsidies make up a large proportion of the national agriculture budget. Zambia, for example, spent 26% of its agriculture budget on its Farm Input Subsidy Programme (FISP) in 2019 to subsidise chemical fertilisers, pesticides and seeds. Zambia spent 30% of its agriculture budget on subsidising industrial agriculture inputs, while Malawi spent over 75% of the Ministry of Agriculture's central budget on fertiliser purchases in its 2022/23 budget.⁸³ This puts huge burden on national budgets, meaning that funds are then no longer available for supporting sustainable or resilient agricultural and food systems.⁸⁴ Participatory research by ActionAid and allies has found that decisions made about the distribution of FISPs are not transparent and marginalise small-scale farmers, women and youth.⁸⁵

Under the dominant model of industrial agriculture, making a profit is only possible for many farmers if done on a large scale. For small and even medium-sized farms, the industrialised farming economy can be an extremely challenging place to survive. The logic that dominates industrial agriculture and policies is often 'get big or get out', rewarding farming approaches that harm the climate, undercut other farmers and erode communities.⁸⁶ Expansion of large-scale farming as a result of industrialised agriculture approaches means, inevitably, that smallholder farmers' lands are being swallowed up by growing plantations.

In the Global South, the concentration of land into fewer hands often takes place through land grabs,⁸⁷ enabled by insecure land tenure.⁸⁸ Often farming communities growing food on traditional territories find that their communal land tenure rights are swept away or deemed non-existent in the face of agribusiness developments.⁸⁹ Women farmers in particular can face legal, economic or cultural barriers to access and control over land. As a result, women own less than 20% of the world's land, even though they represent half of the farmers in Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa.⁹⁰ They are particularly vulnerable to the grabbing of the marginal lands on which they rely for agriculture and grazing.

Much of the expansion of soybean farming in Brazil, Argentina and Paraguay over the last decades has taken place through aggressive, sometimes deadly, land grabs.⁹¹ In these countries, hundreds of thousands of small-scale farmers have been forced off the land to make way for vast plantations of genetically modified soybeans, with chemicals and machinery replacing farmworkers.⁹²

When smallholder farmers are forced off their land, they all too often end up working as poorly paid labourers on the plantations that have taken over their former farms – reproducing some of the exploitation and unequal power dynamics that began with colonialism.⁹³ Worker exploitation and low wages are extremely prevalent across the agriculture industry, in all parts of the world.

The heavy use of agrochemicals such as pesticides and fertilisers can also present health threats to workers, particularly where oversight is minimal. About 385 million cases of pesticide poisoning occur worldwide every year, with people in the Global South working in rural areas particularly affected.⁹⁴ The same agrochemicals are also driving biodiversity loss, putting severe pressure on ecosystems, and driving land degradation.⁹⁵ 70% of the global pesticide market is controlled by just four agribusiness corporations, all from the Global North. Their business strategy is focused on expanding into Global South markets where pesticides are less strictly regulated.⁹⁶



DEFORESTATION AND DISPLACEMENT FOR BUNGE IN BRAZIL

Bunge is a global agribusiness headquartered in the USA, involved in trading grain, fertiliser, and soybeans. It is one of the major players exporting soy from Brazil to European markets. ActionAid's data analysis shows that Bunge has received an estimated US\$13.5 billion in loans and underwriting for its activities in the Global South since 2016. Its largest financiers are the Farm Credit Services Commercial Finance Group (US\$1.4 billion), SMBC Group (US\$1.4 billion), Citigroup (US\$860 million), ING Group (US\$770 million) and JPMorgan Chase (US\$730 million).

Bunge's responsibility for driving deforestation has been repeatedly highlighted. For example, a report by Chain Reaction Research found that in 2020 the corporation purchased soybeans from farms responsible for more than 100 square kilometres of deforestation – an area twice the size of Manhattan – in Brazil's Cerrado region.⁹⁷

The Cerrado is one of Brazil's largest and most precious ecosystems. It hosts the headwaters to much of Latin America's watersheds and is home to a huge diversity of animal and plant species. Its plants penetrate deep underground and act as a vast natural carbon sink, one that is crucial for the health of the whole planet.

The aggressive and often violent expansion of large-scale industrialised soybean farming in the Cerrado, for harvests destined for Bunge's shipments, are driving devastating deforestation, and displacing Indigenous, quilombo (Afro-Brazilian farmers) and smallholder communities from the land. A study in April 2022 by Rede Social and Friends of the Earth found that sophisticated methods of land grabbing are used by agribusiness plantations, from falsification of land titles combined with aggressive spreading of fires, threats of violence, to deforestation to drive farmers and Indigenous Peoples off their land parcels in the Matopiba region in the state of Piauí.⁹⁸ Vast and silent soybean monocultures stretching for thousands of kilometres now replace the once vibrant forest ecosystems.

Speaking anonymously for reasons of safety, a community member in Southern Piauí says "They burn [the forest] so that they can destroy the Cerrado vegetatation and replace it with soy. The fire destroys all the flora and the trees that provide food, and causes damage to our streams. Burning destroys the soil and everything dies."99

Another community member adds "They do ariel spraying on the soybeans. When the plane turns around, the poison falls on our production and burns our corns, beans, rice, broad beans. Pesticides dry everything, toast everything, and are very dangerous."¹⁰⁰

Almost all the soybeans grown in Southwestern Piauí are destined for Bunge silos.¹⁰¹ Bunge has previously claimed that they do not purchase from illegally deforested areas in the Cerrado, and that any deforestation for their soybeans has taken place legally. This may indeed be true, as under the previous government of Jair Bolsonaro, laws were passed that permitted deforestation in the Cerrado. But, legal or not, the impacts on communities and the climate are deeply destructive. Following international exposure, the corporation has now declared a target of a deforestation-free supply chain by 2025. This shows the value of scrutiny and campaigning on influencing corporations' policies. However, Bunge's own monitoring in 2022 found that it was still failing to track the sustainability of 36% of its soybean purchases in the Cerrado.¹⁰²







"THE OIL HAS DAMAGED EVERYTHING" - SHELL'S LEGACY IN THE NIGER DELTA

Shell is one of the world's largest privately owned oil companies, and its operations in the Global South have received an estimated US\$37.6 billion in financing since 2016. The major banks behind this financing are headed by BNP Paribas (US\$3.9 billion), Barclays (US\$3.8 billion), Morgan Stanley (US\$3.8 billion), JPMorgan Chase (US\$3.1 billion) and HSBC (US\$2.8 billion).

For decades, the oil extraction operations of Shell have been devastating communities in Nigeria's Niger Delta. Oil spills and gas flaring have decimated fish populations, resulting in the loss of countless fishing livelihoods and a sharp rise in hunger for local people.

MARTHA ONISURU is a fisherwoman in the area. Her anger is palpable.

"Before the arrival of Shell, when we cast our nets there was always a surplus of fish, and we would have problems taking all the fish home. Now that Shell has arrived, and they started burning their fire and spilling oil everywhere, since they came here, we cannot catch fish.

"We are dying of hunger.

"Even the water in our taps now has oil in it since Shell came. Water that is meant for consumption is now contaminated. Whenever we drink from the water, we always come down with stomach ache.

"The oil has damaged everything."





DEBUNKING THE DEVELOPMENT MYTHS OF FOSSIL FUELS AND INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE

One of the most common rationales used to justify the expansion of fossil fuels and industrialised agriculture in the Global South is that these sectors provide development benefits to lower income nations and are necessary for meeting the food, energy and livelihood needs of citizens. These assumptions do not bear close scrutiny.

Approximately half of Africa's population still lacks access to electricity, a fact that has been used as justification for new large-scale fossil fuel developments across the continent.¹⁰³ However, most of the coal, oil and gas that is currently targeted for expansion in Africa and many developing countries is either destined for export or intended for use by industrial sectors. These expansion projects rarely meet the immediate energy needs of citizens living in poverty and without access to electricity.¹⁰⁴

Much of the time, industrial agriculture and the fossil fuel industry do not, in fact, address domestic energy poverty or food insecurity, or even provide livelihoods or public revenue. They are not designed to do so – they are simply the options that are easiest to commodify and export. Rather than designing food and energy policies to meet people's real needs, many countries structure these sectors to prioritise exports.

Economies structured around exports of fossil fuel and industrial agriculture commodities are the legacy of colonialism. The traditional tools of colonialism have been swapped for national debt and neoliberal economic policies enforced by institutions such as the IMF and World Bank.

All too often, Global South countries are required to earn foreign currency to pay back external debts to the World Bank, the IMF and private banks. This creates pressure to increase exports in fossil fuel and industrialised agriculture cash crops, contributing to the deforestation and rising GHGs that cause the climate crisis.¹⁰⁵ It doesn't end there. Countries must often take on *additional* loans to cover the investment in new infrastructure, creating a vicious cycle of debt and demands. 60% of the most climate vulnerable countries are already spending so much on debt servicing that they are likely to cut spending on public services, making it impossible to make urgently-needed investments in climate action.¹⁰⁶ Meanwhile, available data indicates that 93% of the countries most vulnerable to the climate crisis are in debt distress, or at significant risk of debt distress.¹⁰⁷ In many cases, the original loan amount has already been paid back, but successive currency devaluations, rising interest rates, fluctuating commodity prices and the destructive impacts of climate change, have kept the debt repayment finish line perpetually out of reach. Debt cancellation could free many countries to decide on approaches that truly meet the food, energy, economic and climate needs of their people – and to move away from the focus on export commodities that harm local communities and exacerbate the climate crisis.

International corporations produce, control and profit from the lion's share of fossil fuel and agricultural cash crop commodities. Meanwhile, the expansion of new fossil fuel reserves is often accompanied by tax incentives, subsidies or tax holidays. Once this infrastructure is operational international fossil fuel companies often export a large share of the profits through transfer pricing to tax havens. In this way, there are many cases where national governments do not receive significant tax income from fossil fuel development, and little trickles back to the communities most in need of energy, food security and public funding.

These realities have ensured that dramatically more money flows from the Global South to the Global North in terms of profits, debt repayments, tax avoidance etc, than flows from North to South in the form of aid or direct investment, with the net flow South to North being at least US\$2 trillion per year.¹⁰⁸

Energy systems based on fossil fuels are heavily centralised, requiring massive investments in infrastructure for extraction, transport, conversion into power, and energy distribution. Fossil-fuelled energy systems have failed to provide electricity to many rural regions in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Nigeria, one of the



largest oil and gas producers in Africa, is failing to provide electricity to 43% of its population.¹⁰⁹ Many rural communities either lie too far from the literal and figurative centres of power to be provided with electricity, or they may see the pipelines and transmission cables passing through their regions without stopping to share the benefits. Either way, fossil fuel development is often done in the name of marginalised communities who were never intended to benefit.

The war in Ukraine is now leading to a new European rush for African gas.¹¹⁰ Even though the continent is being pressured to exploit its fossil fuel reserves for export to Europe, this is once again being camouflaged with a contradictory and false fig-leaf narrative of meeting Africa's energy needs.¹¹¹

Communities are often told that fossil fuels will bring jobs and economic opportunities. However fossil fuels are more likely to harm communities' economic prospects than to improve them. Jobs in fossil fuels are almost always far fewer than promised, and the majority of positions on offer to people with lower literacy levels are low-paid, dangerous and often temporary.¹¹² Meanwhile, the livelihoods, homes, health and ecosystems of local, Indigenous, farming and fishing communities are harmed by land grabs, pollution and competition for water. In contrast, every dollar invested in renewable energy has been found to create two to five times more jobs than fossil fuels.113

Short-sighted expansion of fossil fuels will lock countries in the Global South into this pathway for decades, however. Burning fossil fuels harms climate-vulnerable countries' own chances of survival in a warming world. And with future climate policies potentially leading to a phase-out or prohibition of future fossil extraction, developing countries will be left with hundreds of billions of dollars' worth of unusable 'stranded assets', while still obliged to pay back debt for many decades into the future for the building of now-irrelevant infrastructure.¹¹⁴ Over the next 20 years, the fossil fuel industry is likely to devalue by between US\$13 and US\$17 trillion, according to a recent study.¹¹⁵ There is even a risk that developing countries which have invested in these stranded assets will then hold back from demanding stronger climate action on fossil fuels from the rich countries most responsible for causing the climate crisis, thus further harming their own longterm interests.

Similarly, claims that industrial agriculture expansion will address countries' food insecurity gaps are clearly untrue when those products are destined for export. Much of the global agricultural commodity market is likely to end up as animal feed (soybeans, maize) or biofuels (soybeans, maize, sugar and palm oil) rather than to feed people. Meanwhile, millions of smallholder farmers, women in rural areas and Indigenous communities have been outcompeted or violently forced off their land by the aggressive expansion of largescale plantations.¹¹⁶

As laid out in more detail later in this report (see Solutions), renewable energy and agroecological farming approaches are the best ways to address the world's energy and food requirements in an era of climate change and biodiversity collapse. The world's financial systems must be restructured to support these urgently-needed approaches.

PART 2. THE MONEY FLOW: HOW FINANCIAL **FLOWS ARE HARMING** THE PLANET

THE BANKS THAT ARE FINANCING THE CLIMATE CRISIS

As the climate crisis continues to escalate, the global financial system continues to pump billions of dollars into fossil fuels and industrial agriculture - the two largest contributors to climate change. Financial flows take various forms, including investments in company bonds and shareholdings by pension funds, insurance companies, university endowments and asset managers. For the purposes of this report, however, we will focus on the banking sector.

58595

Banks are at the heart of financing fossil fuels and industrial agriculture. The global scale of fossil fuel financing has already been tracked by a coalition of civil society organisations that puts together the annual Banking on Climate Chaos report,¹¹⁷ while other research has sought to track investments in bonds and shareholdings, or the role of the private equity sector, as well as the role of banks in financing deforestation.¹⁷⁸

ActionAid's new findings analyse the extent of bank lending and underwriting to fossil fuels and industrial agriculture, with a specific focus on the Global South.¹ Wherever this financing takes place, it is driving climate change. In this report, we analyse financial flows from the banking sector to the 134 countries of the Global South, shedding light on how they are harming frontline communities and pushing the planet to the brink.

i. The focus here is loans and underwriting (or share and bond issuances), but these are not the only forms of financing that banks undertake. Many of the major banks also offer asset management services (ownership of bonds and shares), which fall outside of the scope of this report.



BANK

BANQUE

BANCO

INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE

ActionAid's analysis of banking activities reveals that in the seven years since the Paris Agreement, **the world's leading financial institutions have provided US\$369.2 billion in bank financing (loans and underwriting) to big industrial agribusiness corporations operating in the Global South.** This averages out at about US\$53 billion per year, although the annual figures fluctuate.

In comparison, the real value of financial supportⁱⁱ for all climate action provided from countries in the Global North to the Global South has been estimated to be around US\$21 to US\$24.5 billion in 2020.¹¹⁹ This means that **since the Paris Agreement was signed, banks have provided twice as much financing to industrial agriculture corporations operating in the Global South, than Global North governments have provide as climate finance to countries on the front lines of the climate crisis.**



The major banks financing agribusiness in the Global South are headquartered in the United States, Europe, China and Japan. HSBC is the largest agribusiness bank, providing US\$17.2 billion in financing between 2016 and 2022. It is followed in the rankings by JPMorgan Chase (US\$14.2 billion), Bank of America (US\$14 billion), Citigroup (US\$13.9 billion) and Mitsubishi UFJ (US\$13.2 billion).

Table 1: Agribusiness clients in the Global South

Bank	Top 5 Clients	Billions USD 2016-2022 to the top 5 clients
HSBC	Bayer, Cargill, ChemChina, Olam Group, WH Group	12.7
Bank of America	ADM, Bayer, Cargill, ChemChina, WH Group	11.4
JPMorgan Chase	ADM, Bayer, Bunge, Cargill, Olam Group	11.1
Citigroup	ADM, Bayer, Bunge, Cargill, Olam Group	10.3
China Merchants Bank	ChemChina, COFCO Group, Muyan Foodstuff, New Hope Group, Wilmar International	10
СІТІС	ChemChina, COFCO Group, Muyan Foodstuff, New Hope Group, SinoChem International	10
MUFG	ADM, Bayer, ChemChina, Olam, UPL – United Phosphorous	9.7
Barclays	ADM, Bayer, Cargill, JBS, WH Group	9.2
BNP Paribas	ADM, Bayer, Cargill, ChemChina, Olam Group	8.4
Credit Suisse	ADM, Bayer, ChemChina, Olam Group, UPL - United Phosphorous	7.5
Bank of China	ChemChina, COFCO, New Hope Group, WH Group, Bolloré	7.4
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (ICBC)	ChemChina, COFCO, New Hope Group, Olam, WH Group	7.3

ii. These figures are based on Oxfam's 2023 Shadow Climate Finance report. Its methodology defines the 'real value' of climate finance by calculating specific Climate Specific Net Assistance (CSNA). This is determined by a) ensuring that financing reported as only of 'significant' (rather than 'principal') climate relevance under the Rio Markers is calculated at an appropriate level (30 to 50% of project volume) so that the mitigation or adaptation value of such activities is not overstated; and b) valuing grant-based climate finance at 100%, and concessional loans at a relevant grant-equivalent percentage of the amount provided. In this methodology, non-concessional loans are not counted as climate finance. For more information, please see Annex 2 of Oxfam's 2023 report: https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/climate-finance-shadow-report-2023-621500



Our data analysis shows that in the Global South, the largest recipients of agribusiness financing from these banks are Bayer (US\$20.6 billion), ChemChina (US\$18.8 billion), followed by COFCO Group, Cargill and ADM, all of which are involved in the sale of agrochemicals, animal feed, biofuels or commodities.

FOSSIL FUELS

Since the Paris Agreement there has been a staggering \$3.23 trillion dollars in bank financing to fossil fuel operations in the Global South. This includes close to US\$870 billion in loans and US\$2.4 billion in underwriting.

To give a sense of scale, this averages out at around US\$460 billion annually. This means that **banks have provided 18 times more financing to fossil fuel activities in the Global South, than Global North governments have provided as climate finance** to countries on the front lines of the climate crisis.ⁱⁱⁱ



The top banks funding fossil fuels in the Global South are Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (US\$146 billion since 2016), China CITIC Bank (\$124 billion), Bank of China (US\$116 billion), Citigroup (US\$90.6 billion) and China Construction Bank (US\$87 billion). JPMorgan Chase (US\$61.2 billion) and Bank of America (US\$54.2 billion) follow Citi as the largest banks from the Americas financing fossil fuels in the Global South. HSBC (US\$63.6 billion), BNP Paribas (US\$36.5 billion) and Société Générale (US\$36.3 billion) head the list of European financiers of fossil fuels in the Global South.

iii. As above, the climate finance figures are based on Oxfam's 2023 Shadow Climate Finance report.

Table 2: Fossil fuel clients in the Global South

Bank	Top 5 Clients	Billions USD 2016-2022 to the top 5 clients
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (ICBC)	State Grid Corporation of China, State Power Investment Corp Ltd, China Southern Power Grid Co Ltd, China Huadian Corporation Ltd, China Huaneng Group Co Ltd	77
Bank of China	China Huaneng Group Co Ltd, State Power Investment Corp Ltd, State Grid Corporation of China, China Southern Power Grid Co, China Huadian Corporation Ltd	38.5
CITIC (China)	Jinneng Group Co Ltd, State Power Investment Corp Ltd, CITIC Ltd, China Southern Power Grid Co Ltd, China Huaneng Group Co Ltd	34.8
Citigroup	Saudi Aramco, Petrobras, Exxon Mobil, Sumimoto Corporation, QatarEnergy	32
Bank of America	Exxon Mobil Corporation, Petrobras, BP plc, Occidental Petroleum Corporation, Sasol Ltd	24
JP Morgan Chase	Exxon Mobil Corporation, Saudi Aramco, Petrobras, Qatar Energy, Shell plc	24
HSBC	Saudi Aramco, Petrobras, Exxon Mobil Corporation, State Grid Corporation of China, QatarEnergy	21.2
Société Générale	Trafigura Group Pte Ltd, Saudi Aramco, Exxon Mobil Corporation, Mamoura Diversified Global Holding, TotalEnergies SE	20
BNP Paribas	Saudi Aramco, Shell plc, ENI SpA, Petrobras, BP plc	18
Crédit Agricole	Petrobras, Saudi Aramco, Eni SpA, Trafigura Groupe Pte Ltd, BP plc	17.3
Barclays	Exxon Mobil Corporation, Shell plc, BP plc, Power Finance Corporation Ltd, TotalEnergies SE	15.6
Morgan Stanley	Shell plc, Petrobras, Saudi Aramco, Exxon Mobil Corporation, BP plc	15

The largest recipients of fossil fuel financing from these banks are State Power Investment Corp (China) (US\$204 billion), State Grid Corporation of China (US\$167 billion), China Huaneng Group (US\$111 billion), Trafigura Group (US\$103 billion) and Saudi Aramco (US\$91 billion).

Six of the largest recipients of fossil fuel financing in the Global South are Chinese power companies, which have a high proportion of coal-fired power station in their energy mix; three are oil and gas majors (Saudi Aramco, Petrobras and Sinopec); and Trafigura is one of the largest oil and gas traders globally.

Overall, when these figures are combined, ActionAid's research finds that since the Paris Agreement, banks have provided 20 times more financing to fossil fuels and industrial agriculture activities in the Global South than Global North governments have provided as climate finance to countries on the front lines of the climate crisis.



CHINA

The largest share of financing is provided by Chinese banks and goes to Chinese companies because China has the biggest economy of those surveyed, and by a considerable margin. China's nominal GDP (US\$19.37 trillion), a figure that calculates the market value of all goods and services from a country each year, is over five times higher than that of India, the next largest global south country in nominal GDP terms, and over seven times higher than the nominal GDP of the whole of Africa.

The vast majority of China's financing is likely used domestically. Out of US\$1.79 trillion in fossil fuel financing originating in China since 2016, an estimated US\$1.72 trillion went to companies that are headquartered within China. Most of this financing is likely used domestically, although there is no data on the extent to which these corporations are funding activities in other parts of the Global South. In our industrial agriculture dataset, Chinese banks provided US\$75 billion in total financing, of which US\$64 billion went to clients headquartered in China.

The share of overall financing is also, in part, a product of what is counted. Chinese banks dominate the list of fossil fuel and agribusiness financiers in the Global South when both loans and underwriting are taken into account, but fall behind some of the major Japanese, US and European banks when only loan financing is considered.

Another reason that Chinese banks dominate the list of fossil fuel financing in the Global South is their support for electricity generation companies, many of whom deal in coal-fired power generation. China is by far the largest builder of new coal-fired power plants, with the generating capacity of plants under construction now six times higher than that of newly constructed coal plants in the rest of the world combined.¹²⁰ This rate of construction risks contributing greatly to the world overshooting its 1.5°C carbon budget, unless China



rapidly reconsiders its approach, extending President Xi Jinping's 2021 pledge at the UN General Assembly to "not build new coal-fired power plants abroad" to cover its own domestic market, which would have to be accompanied by accelerated investment in renewable energy and efficiency measures.¹²¹

However, it should also be noted that the manufacturing of export products is a major demand on China's energy use, and that customers in Global North countries are in fact the ultimate consumers of much of the energy embodied in these manufactured goods produced using fossil fuel energy.¹²²

China already leads the world in many of the areas that contribute to an energy transition – including the largest volume of installed wind and solar power, the largest investments in energy storage batteries, and investments in efficient transmission lines and energy storage batteries.¹²³ China achieving a domestic shift should be part of a global effort, recognising different countries' historic responsibility for climate change and their respective capabilities to contribute to climate action. We should be wary of efforts to divert blame onto China for a climate crisis that has been greatly accelerated by fossil fuel exploitation and agribusiness in industrialised countries in the Global North, and by these countries' extractive and exploitative relationships with the Global South.

INTERNATIONAL AND NATIONAL BANKS

Chinese companies mostly rely on Chinese financing, and the same is largely true of Japanese banks and companies. However, the major multinational fossil fuel and agribusiness companies – which are most of the lead operators in the Global South outside of China – often source financing from banks headquartered in the US and Europe. These institutions are bankrolling some of the most destructive fossil fuel and agribusiness projects in the world. Domestic and international pressure from citizens' organisations and activists is needed to push them away from these activities, or to make governments and international institutions pass regulations that rule out these activities.

In this report, we profile nine major international banks financing fossil fuels and agribusiness: Barclays, BNP Paribas and HSBC (headquartered in Europe), Bank of America, Citi and JPMorgan Chase (headquartered in USA, and the largest in the Americas), and ICBC, Mitsubishi and China CITIC Bank (headquartered in Asia). We focus on these banks to examine a cross-section of the policies that already exist, and are lacking, in relation to fossil fuel and agribusiness investments. These profiles also show how decisions endorsed in board rooms in London and New York have severe consequences for the lives and livelihoods of people in fields, forests and cities from Brazil to Indonesia and Mozambique.

Most of the banks we profile were chosen because they are the largest financiers of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture in the Global South (as shown in Table 1) in their regions. Barclays (the fourth largest European financier of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture combined in the Global South is featured because it is a major financier of industrial agriculture, as well as some of the companies most aggressively expanding fossil fuels. Mitsubishi UFJ (MUFG) is also one of the Asian banks profiled here, despite not being in the top three by financing size. MUFG is a key private financier of controversial activities that are subject to local and international campaigns and resistance, including the Cirebon 2 coal-fired power plant project in Indonesia. MUFG is also the world's largest provider of loan financing to the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors.

Although this report focuses mostly on the largest banks and financial flows, we are conscious that this does not tell the full story. The Dutch banking sector, while not the world's largest, nevertheless plays a disproportionate role in financing agribusiness in the Global South – with Rabobank providing US\$10 billion in financing for the largest agribusiness companies in the Global South since 2016, and ING Group a further US\$7.8 billion.

Table 3: Largest bank financiers per region of industrial agriculture and fossil fuels in the Global South 2016-2022

BANK	TOTAL (US\$bn)	INDUSTRIAL AGRICULTURE (US\$bn)	FOSSIL FUEL (US\$bn)	
EUROPE				
HSBC	80.8	17.2 Largest European financier of fossil fuels in the Global South	63.6 Largest European financier of industrial agriculture in the Global South	
BNP Paribas	49.5	13.0	36.5	
Société Générale	41.7	5.4	36.3	
Barclays	41.1	11.5	29.6	
AMERICAS				
Citigroup	104.5	13.9 Largest financier in the Americas of fossil fuels in the Global South	90.6	
JPMorgan Chase	75.4	14.2	61.2 Largest financier in the Americas of industrial agriculture in the Global South	
Bank of America	68.2	14	54.2	
ASIA				
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China	154.3	8.1	146.2 Largest Asian financier of fossil fuels in the Global South	
China CITIC Bank	134.7	10.2	124.5	
Bank of China	125.9	9.0	116.9	
[]				
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial	66	13.2 Largest Asian financier of industrial agriculture in the Global South	79.3	

NET ZERO IS NOT ZERO

In recent years, many governments and non-state actors have championed 'Net Zero' targets as a signal of commitment to climate action. Many banks covered in this report have joined the Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ) and/or the Net Zero Banking Alliance (NZBA), and several have declared targets of net zero emissions by 2050.

However even though it may sound similar, the phrase 'net zero emissions' does not mean 'zero emissions'. There are growing concerns that the term is being used to provide a veneer of climate credibility to business-as-usual pollution.¹²⁴

Most net zero targets involve vague plans with long timelines that allow emissions to continue rising, often for decades.¹²⁵ Many rely on the false assumption that their emissions can be neutralised by carbon offsets (usually tree plantations that are likely to drive harmful land grabs in the Global South),¹²⁶ or that new



technologies – which are unproven at scale, and which may also themselves cause harm - will be able to remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere in the future.¹²⁷

In response to growing concerns about the integrity of net zero pledges, UN Secretary General António Guterres set up the UN High Level Expert Group (HLEG) on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities. In its investigations, the HLEG noted that net zero pledges are indeed being used for greenwashing, and that dishonest accounting is being used to circumvent deep decarbonisation. In its recommendations published in 2022, the HLEG found that non-state actors cannot claim to be net zero while continuing to build or invest in new fossil fuel supplies, or buy cheap carbon offset credits as an alternative to cutting their own emissions across their value chain.¹²⁸

Recent research by Reclaim Finance, however, finds that 56 of the biggest banks in NZBA have nonetheless continued to provide hundreds of billions of dollars to the world's major fossil fuel expanders in the form of loans and underwriting, and that only a handful of GFANZ members have adopted policies that meaningfully restrict finance to new fossil fuel projects and companies developing new fossil supply projects.¹²⁹

Indeed, as our profiles of the largest financers or fossil fuels and industrial agriculture highlight, numerous banks have joined GFANZ or NZBA, or declared net zero by 2050 targets while continuing to fund the fossil fuel expansion that is incompatible with a climate-safe world.

BANK PROFILES

EUROPE



BARCLAYS

Barclays is the fifth largest bank in Europe but is Europe's leading financier of fossil fuels globally.^{iv, 130} Barclays is headquartered in the UK and operates in over 40 countries. Barclays claims that it will become a 'net zero bank' by 2050 but its plans allow it to continue with significant fossil fuel financing, as well as providing funds to some of the "biggest and baddest meat companies in the world".¹³¹



Agribusiness financing

Our new analysis of the data shows that Barclays provided US\$11.5 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the third largest European financier and the seventh largest overall. Its top agribusiness clients are Archer-Daniels-Midland (ADM, US\$4.2 billion), Bayer (incorporating Monsanto), Cargill, WH Group and JBS.



Fossil fuel financing

Barclays provided US\$29.6 billion in fossil fuel financing to the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the sixth largest European financier and the 30th largest overall.

In global terms, Barclays is the largest European fossil fuel financier and the seventh largest overall, providing US\$190.6 billion in financing to fossil fuel companies between 2016 and 2022.¹³² Barclays is also the largest European (and fifth largest global) financier of fossil fuel expansion in Africa.¹³³

Barclays' top fossil fuel clients in the Global South are ExxonMobil (US\$4.2 billion), Shell, BP, Power Finance Corporation and TotalEnergies.

iv. When we describe the relative size of banks this measurement is according to their total assets. See SP Global (2023) "The world's 100 largest banks, 2023", S&P Global Market Intelligence, 26 April, https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/research/the-world-s-100-largest-banks-2023; Rainforest Action Network et al. (2023), pp.10-11.





Policies

Barclays' coal policy states that it will phase out financing to all clients engaged in thermal coal mining by 2035, but at present it continues to finance coal expansion.¹³⁴ The bank's oil and gas policy excludes financing for companies that are mainly involved in oil sands extraction but makes no binding commitments on when Barclays will reduce or stop financing oil and gas expansion.¹³⁵

Barclays has an agricultural commodities and forestry policy that requires palm oil and soy producers to undertake a process of "enhanced due diligence", including obtaining the Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) of Indigenous Peoples, and obtaining certification (Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO), Roundtable on Sustainable Soy (RTSS) or equivalent).¹³⁶ However, there is considerable evidence that these schemes have not adequately protected the rights of communities and have legitimised habitat degradation and the use of recently deforested land, enabling "destructive businesses to continue operating as usual".¹³⁷ Barclays' new deforestation policy says that it will not finance producers who process beef from areas of the Amazon cleared or converted since 2008, but the bank will rely on self-reporting to judge these claims, and it remains unclear to what extent it will be mandatory for clients to monitor deforestation risks.¹³⁸ In this sector, as our data confirms, Barclays is a major funder of companies implicated in deforestation and human rights abuses such as ADM, Cargill and JBS.

Controversies

Barclays is the largest funder of TotalEnergies in the Global South, providing US\$2.1 billion since 2016. The French oil and gas giant is behind several controversial projects, including the East Africa Crude Oil Pipeline (EACOP).¹³⁹ It is also leading development of Mozambique LNG, which has displaced hundreds of families without adequate compensation.¹⁴⁰

On the agribusiness side, our data also reveals that Barclays is the largest international financier (US\$900 million since 2016) of JBS, a Brazilian company that is world's biggest meatpacking company, and a key supplier to fast-food companies such as McDonald's and Burger King, as well as retail giants such as Carrefour, Asda and Walmart. JBS is a huge emitter of greenhouse gas emissions, and multiple investigations have documented the company's links to illegal deforestation, land grabbing, slave labour and money laundering in Brazil.¹⁴¹

Barclays is also the second largest financier of ADM (US\$4.2 billion), which has been accused of fuelling land conflicts in Brazil and Indonesia (see *Bank of America Controversies* below).¹⁴²

BNP PARIBAS

BNP Paribas is Europe's second largest bank and the ninth largest globally.¹⁴³ It is headquartered in France and operates in 65 countries. BNP Paribas is a founder member of the Net Zero Banking Alliance and has pledged to achieve "carbon neutrality" by 2050.¹⁴⁴ However, its emissions reduction targets do not stop the bank from directly and indirectly supporting fossil fuel expansion, or financing agribusiness companies linked to deforestation.¹⁴⁵ BNP Paribas is currently facing a lawsuit in France for its continued role in bankrolling climate chaos.¹⁴⁶



Agribusiness financing

ActionAid's new data reveals that BNP Paribas provided US\$13 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the second largest European financier and the sixth largest overall. Its top agribusiness clients are Cargill (US\$3 billion), Bayer, Olam Group, ChemChina, and ADM.



Fossil fuel financing

BNP Paribas provided US\$36.5 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the second largest European financier and the 24th largest globally. With BNP Paribas's investments in fossil fuels in the Global North included, it is the seventh largest fossil fuel financier globally.¹⁴⁷ BNP Paribas' top clients expanding fossil fuels in the Global South are Saudi Aramco (US\$5.2 billion), Shell, Eni, Petrobras and BP.



Policies

BNP Paribas has excluded direct financing for all new coal projects and has set targets of exiting the coal sector by 2030 (EU/OECD) and 2040 (rest of the world), although its exclusions are not yet applicable at group-level, meaning that it may continue financing of coal by some large conglomerates.¹⁴⁸ BNP Paribas has also announced a policy of reducing outstanding oil extraction and production financing by 80% and gas financing by 30% by 2030, as well as stating that it will not fund fossil fuel expansion at "new oil and gas fields."¹⁴⁹ However, this commitment applies to specific projects only, whereas most of BNP Paribas's oil and gas financing is provided to companies as a whole. The bank will also no longer underwrite bond deals if the proceeds are intended to be used for fossil-fuel expansion.¹⁵⁰ However, BNP Paribas still has no overall plan to phase out oil and gas financing.

BNP has relatively extensive policies on agriculture, which include labour and human rights clauses, and requirements that clients obtain the Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) of Indigenous Peoples and local communities, do not engage in land grabbing practices, and offer a grievance mechanism where local communities' concerns can be raised.¹⁵¹ However, BNP Paribas's financing of major agribusiness companies accused of deforestation and human rights abuses suggests that these policies are falling short of their stated objectives.



Controversies

BNP Paribas is the largest financier (US\$3.9 billion) of Shell's oil and gas extraction in the Global South, including the company's activities in the Niger Delta, where Shell has been found responsible for decades of pollution and human rights abuses.¹⁵² Shell is the major international partner in the Bonny Island LNG Terminal, Nigeria, which is currently being expanded. The LNG Terminal has displaced Indigenous communities without adequate compensation and negatively impacted their livelihoods, while its expansion means that additional land will be cleared.¹⁵³ The expansion will cause deforestation and could cause further air and water pollution in an area that is already one of the most polluted in the world because of the oil industry's activities.¹⁵⁴

BNP Paribas is the largest financier (US\$3 billion) of Cargill's activities in the Global South. Cargill is Brazil's second largest soy exporter and has been repeatedly linked with deforestation in the Amazon and Cerrado in Brazil, and has been accused of trading soy produced on conflicted territories.¹⁵⁵

BNP Paribas is also facing a legal challenge for its provision of financial services to Marfrig, a major Brazilian meat producer. The bank underwrites several bonds issued by Marfrig, which has been implicated in illegal deforestation, Indigenous land rights violations, and slave labour.¹⁵⁶

🔟 НЅВС

HSBC is Europe's largest bank and the eighth largest globally.¹⁵⁷ It is headquartered in the UK and has offices in 62 countries and territories. The bank derives most of its profits from Asia, and its current strategy is based on increasing investment in China, South-East Asia and India.¹⁵⁸ HSBC has stated that it will achieve "net zero" emissions in its financing portfolio by 2050. However, this goal is undermined by its lack of any policy commitments to end fossil fuel financing and the extent of its support for unsustainable agribusiness practices.


Agribusiness financing

HSBC provided US\$17.2 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the largest overall financier of these activities. Its top agribusiness clients are Olam Group (US\$4.4 billion), ChemChina, Bayer, Cargill and WH Group.

Fossil fuel financing

HSBC provided US\$63.5 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the largest European financier and the 17th largest overall. Its top clients are Saudi Aramco (US\$6.3 billion), Petrobras (Brazil), Exxon Mobil, the State Grid Corporation of China, and QatarEnergy.



Policies

According to HSBC's Energy Policy, the bank will no longer finance projects to develop new oil and gas fields. However, this commitment does not extend to corporate financing – i.e., the corporation's general activities. Continued corporate financing means that HSBC can still effectively finance much of the activity including salaries, contractors, equipment, etc involved in the development of new oil and gas fields. HSBC also requires fossil fuel clients to develop transition plans, although no deadline is attached to this.¹⁵⁹ The bank's Thermal Coal Phase Out policy excludes financing new coal mines and coal power plants (except with Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS)), although various loopholes that allow continued general corporate financing to fossil fuel corporations mean that this does not yet apply to all coal developers.¹⁶⁰ In addition, HSBC has not yet set out a strategy for the overall phase-out of fossil fuel financing.

HSBC has an agricultural commodities policy that states it will only finance palm oil producers that obtain certification (Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil or equivalent), and which also sets out certification and due diligence requirements for the financing of soy, cattle ranching and rubberwood (HSBC 2017). Although this is one of the most extensive policy frameworks amongst major banks, HSBC's continued extensive financing of beef sourced from the Amazon and Cerrado in Brazil raises concerns about whether its policies to avoid deforestation are being effectively implemented.¹⁶¹

HSBC's human rights policy framework does not require that its clients follow the principles of Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC).¹⁶² In addition, analysis by BankTrack found that implementation of its human rights policy falls short of what is set out on paper, with considerable room for improvement on due diligence, reporting, remedy and response tracking.¹⁶³

Controversies

HSBC is the largest financier of Olam Group, providing US\$4.4 billion in corporate loans and underwriting to the company between 2016 and 2022. There are particular concerns regarding the company's industrial oil palm developments in Gabon, which will involve clear-felling of secondary forest and could have significant impacts on local livelihoods.¹⁶⁴

HSBC also provides significant financing to Marfrig (US\$861 million) and Minerva foods (US\$581 million), two of the largest beef processing companies operating in Brazil, whose supply chains are strongly linked to deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon and the Cerrado biome.¹⁶⁵

On the fossil fuels side, HSBC has provided US\$135 million in debt financing to the Offshore Cape Three Points project in Ghana, which has already displaced Indigenous communities, decreased food and livelihood resources for local fisherpeople, and resulted in air pollution and seawater degradation.¹⁶⁶ The project is run by Eni (which has the majority stake), Vitol, and the Ghana National Petroleum Corporation. Local communities have also reported that the project has led to "an increase in teenage pregnancies, sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), sex work and sexual abuse", while local women report being excluded from consultation processes.¹⁶⁷

HSBC is also the second largest financier of Saudi Aramco, the world's largest corporate carbon dioxide emitter (see *Citi Controversies* below).

AMERICAS



BANK OF AMERICA

Bank of America is the second largest bank in the Americas and the sixth largest globally.¹⁶⁸ It is headquartered in the USA and has a presence in over 35 countries. In 2021, Bank of America announced "a commitment to achieve net zero emissions across our financing activities, operations and supply chain before 2050".¹⁶⁹ However, Bank of America continues to offer billions in financing to fossil fuel and agribusiness companies, and lacks effective policy goals that would lead it to exit this financing.



Agribusiness financing

Bank of America provided US\$14 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the second largest US financier and the third biggest globally. Its top agribusiness clients operating in the Global South are ADM (US\$4.2 billion), Cargill, Bayer, WH Group and ChemChina.



Fossil fuel financing

Bank of America provided US\$54 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the third largest US financier and the 20th largest overall.

Bank of America is also the fourth largest fossil fuel financier globally, including support for companies in the Global North, providing fossil fuel companies with US\$281.2 billion in financing between 2016 and 2022.¹⁷⁰ Bank of America's top clients expanding fossil fuels in the Global South are Exxon Mobil (US\$6.8 billion), Petrobras, BP, Occidental Petroleum and Sasol.

Policies

Bank of America's oil and gas policy only limits financial support for projects in the Arctic. It sets no limits on financing the sector and no targets on when it would phase out oil and gas financing altogether.¹⁷¹ Its coal sector policy only sets a target for phasing out financing to some thermal coal mining companies, but the threshold for inclusion in this policy (25% of company revenue) means many of the largest mining companies would be exempt. Bank of America doesn't exclude or plan to phase-out financing to any coal power companies.¹⁷²

Bank of America sets Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) certification as a minimum requirement for clients in this sector but sets no other restrictions in relation to agricultural commodities.¹⁷³ The bank has an enhanced due diligence process for transactions that may raise human rights concerns, and requires the Free, Prior and Informed Consent of Indigenous Peoples for transactions where the majority use of proceeds could negatively impact their territories.¹⁷⁴ However, Bank of America performs poorly in terms of reporting and responding when human rights complaints are raised.¹⁷⁵



Controversies

Bank of America is the largest financier of BP's activities in the Global South, with loans and underwriting worth US\$4.3 billion since 2016. BP is currently developing the Greater Tortue Ahmeyum Project, Africa's deepest offshore oil extraction scheme, off the coast of Mauritania and Senegal. If fully exploited, these reserves would release around 2.2 billion tons of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere, blowing a large hole in our remaining carbon budget to limit global warming to a vital 1.5°C. The project could do significant harm to water birds and the marine ecosystem, including damage to the world's largest cold-water reef, with scientists warning of a "potential ecological disaster".¹⁷⁶ The creation of an exclusion zone around the project has prevented fisherpeople from working in the area, depriving them of their livelihoods, and local people are "being driven to desperation".¹⁷⁷

Bank of America is the leading financier of Sasol, an energy and chemicals company based in South Africa. Sasol's Secunda coal liquefaction plant is the world's largest single source of carbon dioxide emissions, exceeding the individual totals of more than 100 countries.¹⁷⁸ Secunda's toxic air pollution has negatively impacted local communities for decades, with experts estimating that it has contributed to hundreds of premature deaths.¹⁷⁹ An ongoing legal case based sparked by whistleblower evidence accuses Sasol unlawfully dumping hazardous chemicals from the Secunda plant into the Vaal River.¹⁸⁰

Bank of America is also the joint largest financier (with Citi) of Exxon Mobil's activities in the Global South, providing it with US\$6.8 billion in loans and bond underwriting since 2016 (see *Citi Controversies* below).

Bank of America is the largest financier of Bayer's activities in the Global South, providing an estimated US\$2.6 billion in loans and underwriting to the company's agribusiness activities since 2016. Bayer is the world's largest seed company, controlling close to a quarter (23%) of the global market.¹⁸¹ Many of its products are genetically modified or bioengineered, with Bayer demanding that buyers sign agreements prohibiting them from saving seeds to exchange or resow in following years, threatening food sovereignty the world over.¹⁸²

Bayer is also the world's second largest producer of agrochemicals, having bought controversial agrochemical and biotechnology company Monsanto in 2018. Bayer has drawn protests in Argentina and Brazil for continuing to sell pesticides that are already banned in the European Union.¹⁸³ Some of these pesticides contain active ingredients that have been proven to cause cancer, among other severe health risks.¹⁸⁴ They also have the potential to cause widespread destruction of natural ecosystems, including killing bees, fish and other wildlife.¹⁸⁵ It has been confirmed that Bayer sells products with ingredients banned in the EU in Brazil, India, Mexico and South Africa.¹⁸⁶

Bank of America is also the top financier of Archer-Daniels-Midland's (ADM)'s activities in the Global South, providing US\$4.2 billion in loans and underwriting since 2016. ADM, which is the world's largest grain trader, has been accused of fuelling land conflicts in Brazil's Cerrado by trading with producers allegedly involved in land conflicts.¹⁸⁷ ADM also failed to ensure that hundreds of Indonesian palm oil mills that it sources palm oil from in Indonesia are free from abuse against land and environmental defenders.¹⁸⁸

Citigroup is the third largest bank in the Americas and the eleventh biggest globally.¹⁸⁹ It is headquartered in the USA and claims to do business in over 160 countries. Citigroup CEO Jane Fraser has stated that the bank is "developing our path to net zero emissions by 2050… building on our sustainability track record of more than two decades." Since this track record includes being the second largest global financier of fossil fuels, and Citigroup lacks adequate policies to phase out harmful agribusiness and fossil fuel financing, there is reason to doubt whether Citigroup will achieve its climate goal.



Agribusiness financing

Citigroup provided US\$13.9 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the third largest US financier and the fourth largest globally. Its top agribusiness clients for activities in the Global South are ADM (US\$4 billion), Bayer, Cargill, Olam Group and Bunge.



Fossil fuel financing

Citigroup provided US\$90.6 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the largest US financier and the fourth largest overall. It is also the second largest fossil fuel financier globally, providing fossil fuel companies with US\$332.9 billion in financing between 2016 and 2022.¹⁹⁰ Citigroup's top clients expanding fossil fuels in the Global South are Saudi Aramco (US\$8.7 billion), Petrobras, Exxon Mobil, Sumitomo Corporation and QatarEnergy.





Policies

Citigroup's policy on oil and gas excludes only project-related financing for exploration in the Arctic, but makes no explicit commitment to stop financing other oil and gas production.¹⁹¹ Citigroup will phase out financing for coal power generation by 2040 (or 2030 in OECD countries), and no longer provides project financing for new coal mines.¹⁹² However, these policies contain loopholes, with eligibility rules meaning that Citigroup continues to fund some of the largest coal mining conglomerates.¹⁹³

Citigroup claims to review agribusiness clients for "supply chain deforestation risks and commitments to strong environmental and social policies, sustainability certifications and/or supply chain traceability programs".¹⁹⁴ Citigroup's policy states that it applies enhanced due diligence measures to clients engaged in the beef industry and soy production in Brazil and other biodiverse ecoregions of South America, and it requires clients engaged in palm oil production to be members of the RSPO.¹⁹⁵ Citigroup also claims that it will apply enhanced due diligence when transactions potentially impact on Indigenous areas, although concerns about the bank's lending to oil companies operating in the Amazon have led local farmers, environmental and human rights groups to question how this is implemented.¹⁹⁶ Citigroup expects project sponsors to have sought the Free Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) when Indigenous Peoples may be "significantly" affected, but this appears not to apply to all bank transactions (project-specific financing represents around five percent of overall bank transactions).¹⁹⁷

Citigroup has an extensive range of human rights policies (from due diligence to reporting, remedy and response tracking) but its continued financing of fossil fuel and agribusiness firms implicated in human rights abuses and land conflicts suggests there remains considerable room for improvement.¹⁹⁸

Controversies

Citigroup is the largest international financier of Saudi Aramco, the world's biggest oil company, which is the world's largest corporate carbon dioxide emitter and is estimated to be responsible for over four percent of the world's greenhouse gas emissions since 1995.¹⁹⁹ Aramco operates over 100 oil and gas fields but continues to explore for new sites and plans on opening new production sites. Saudi Aramco is the company with the most aggressive oil and gas expansion plans globally, and has no long-term emission reduction plans or roadmap.²⁰⁰ Exploiting all of Aramco's reserves would burn through nearly a third of the world's 1.5°C carbon budget.²⁰¹ Saudi Aramco is 98% owned by the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, which scores 8/100 on Global Freedom Status.²⁰² Violations of human rights in the country include arbitrary detention, imprisonment and executions of human rights and women's rights activists, journalists and critics.²⁰³

Citigroup is the joint largest financier (with Bank of America) of Exxon Mobil's activities in the Global South, providing US\$6.8 billion in financing since 2016. Exxon is the world's largest non-state-owned oil and gas company. It has a long history of funding climate denial and seeking to weaken and delay climate policy, and continues to lag behind other oil majors in refusing to set out meaningful climate plans.²⁰⁴ Exxon continues to significantly expand its oil and gas production capacity.²⁰⁵

Exxon (alongside Eni) is leading the development of Romuva LNG in Mozambique, which has reportedly displaced hundreds of families without adequate compensation.²⁰⁶ A US\$19 billion Exxon-led LNG project in Papua New Guinea is also reported to have displaced local communities without adequate compensation.²⁰⁷

Citigroup is also the joint largest international financier of QatarEnergy (see *JPMorgan Chase Controversies* below).

JPMORGAN CHASE

JPMorgan Chase is the largest bank in the Americas and the fifth largest globally.²⁰⁸ It is headquartered in the USA and operates in over 60 countries. JPMorgan Chase is a member of the Net Zero banking Alliance, meaning it pledges to align its lending and investment portfolios with net-zero emissions by 2050, as well

as the Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ). However, the bank threatened to leave GFANZ if it recommended targets for phasing out coal, oil and gas financing.²⁰⁹ JPMorgan Chase is consistently the largest global financier of fossil fuels.²¹⁰



Agribusiness financing

JPMorgan Chase provided US\$14.2 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the largest US financier and the second biggest globally. Its top agribusiness clients are ADM (US\$2.8 billion), Cargill, Bayer, Olam Group and Bunge.



Fossil fuel financing

JPMorgan Chase provided US\$61.2 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the second largest US financier and the eighteenth largest overall. JPMorgan Chase is the largest fossil fuel financier globally, providing fossil fuel companies with US\$433.2 billion in financing between 2016 and 2022.²¹¹ It is also the second largest provider of fossil fuel finance in Africa.²¹² JPMorgan Chase's top clients expanding fossil fuels in the global south are Exxon Mobil (US\$6.2 billion), Saudi Aramco, Petrobras, QatarEnergy and Shell.



Policies

JPMorgan Chase's environmental and social policy excludes project financing of oil and gas exploration in the Arctic, but has no policy to phase out financing for oil and gas more generally.²¹³ JPMorgan Chase has pledged to phase out financing for coal mining by 2024, but this commitment only applies to companies generating over half of their revenues from coal mining, exempting many of the largest actors.²¹⁴ No policies are in place to phase out financing of coal power generation.

JPMorgan Chase requires clients who grow, process or trade soy (produced outside of the US) and palm oil to have RTRS and RSPO certification respectively, but the bank sets no further policy requirements relating to agribusiness.²¹⁵ JPMorgan Chase requires Free, Prior and Informed Consent where the proceeds of transactions have the potential to impact Indigenous Peoples.²¹⁶ However, the bank has a poor track record for reporting human rights violations and is rated a "laggard" in this area by Banktrack.²¹⁷



Controversies

JPMorgan Chase is the joint leading financier (with Citi) of QatarEnergy, providing it with US\$4.4 billion in loans and underwriting since 2016. QatarEnergy is currently developing the world's largest LNG project, a huge "carbon bomb" that would lead to substantial increased greenhouse gas emissions and air pollution.²¹⁸

JPMorgan Chase is also a major funder of Saudi Aramco (US\$5.1 billion since 2016) and played a leading role in the company's first stock market listing, which raised over US\$29 billion and valued Aramco at close to US\$1.9 trillion.²¹⁹ (see *Citi Controversies* above).

On the agribusiness side, JPMorgan Chase is the second largest financier (US\$2.8 billion since 2016) of Cargill, which has been linked with deforestation in the Amazon and Cerrado in Brazil.²²⁰ (see *BNP Paribas Controversies* above).

ASIA

俞

INDUSTRIAL & COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA (ICBC)

The Industrial & Commercial Bank of China (ICBC) is the world's largest bank.²²¹ It is headquartered in China and operates in 47 countries and regions. ICBC also owns a 20% stake in South Africa's Standard Bank



(Africa's largest bank by assets). ICBC is majority owned (67%) by the Chinese government.²²² In this regard, it should be working to achieve China's stated goal of net-zero emission by 2060, yet it has no meaningful policies or targets in place to achieve this goal.²²³



Agribusiness financing

ICBC provided US\$8 billion in agribusiness financing in the global south between 2016 and 2022, making it the sixth largest Asian financier and the fourteenth largest globally. Its top agribusiness clients are COFCO Group (US\$5.2 billion), ChemChina, New Hope Group, WH Group and Olam Group.



Fossil fuel financing

ICBC provided US\$146.2 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the largest financier overall. ICBC's top clients expanding fossil fuels in the Global South are the State Grid Corporation of China (US\$32.8 billion), State Power Investment Corp., China Southern Power Grid, China Huadian Corporation and China Huaneng Group.



Policies

ICBC has adopted no policies or targets aimed at reducing financing for coal mining, coal-fired power generation, or the oil and gas sectors.²²⁴

ICBC has no specific policy relating to clients who trade agricultural commodities, and a 2021 investigation into the agribusiness portfolios of ICBC and other major Chinese banks found that they "have done little or no due diligence to ensure their money is not fuelling environmental and social damage".²²⁵

ICBC does not have "any policy or statement addressing human rights", and does not require clients to ensure the Free, Prior and Informed Consent of Indigenous Peoples.²²⁶ Along with other major Chinese banks, ICBC has a "dismal" rate of responding to allegations of human rights abuses tied to its financing.²²⁷

However, ICBC is required by the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission (CBIRC) to follow Green Finance Guidelines for the Banking and Insurance Industry, revised in 2022.²²⁸ These require that Chinese banks "ultimately achieve carbon neutrality in their portfolio", promote "green finance", and "formulate environmental, social and governance risk assessment standards for clients" (although they do not have to make these public).

CBIRC also states that banks' overseas financing as part of the Belt and Road initiative should be aligned with China's 2022 "Guidelines for Ecological Environmental Protection of Foreign Investment Cooperation and Construction Projects."²²⁹ These include recommendations that financiers develop an exclusion list of ineligible projects, require clients to use an Environmental and Social Management System, and provide accessible grievance redress mechanisms to allow people and NGOs to report environmental and social issues in project development.

\wedge

Controversies

ICBC is one of five Chinese banks lending US\$2 billion for the construction of the 1980 MW Vietnam Vinh Tan 3 Coal Power Project, which would emit over 11 million tonnes of carbon dioxide every year. Local communities already report that toxic ash and other air pollutants have caused chronic illness, and the discharge of cooling water threatens the marine ecosystem and the livelihoods of families dependent on fishing.²³⁰

ICBC is also a lead financier of coal power stations that are being contested by local communities in Indonesia, Turkey and Pakistan, despite a 2021 pledge by President Xi Jinping that China would stop funding coal plants abroad.²³¹

ICBC is the largest financier of Sinopec (US\$5.2 billion since 2016) and PetroChina (US\$3.5 billion since 2016), as well as the second largest financier of China National Petroleum Corporation (CNPC, the parent



company of PetroChina; US\$4.5billion since 2016). Sinopec and PetroChina/CNPC are the second and third largest oil and gas companies in the world by revenue.²³² These companies are the leading players developing production in Xinjiang province, where China's largest oilfield is based. The Chinese government operates internment camps detaining thousands of Uyghur people close to the oil companies' production sites, and has been accused of crimes against humanity against this population.²³³ This raises fears that forced labour is being used in the oil and gas sector, although the Chinese government prevents independent research to verify this.²³⁴

ICBC is also one of three key financial advisors for the controversial East Africa Crude Oil Pipeline (another is Standard Bank, which ICBC also partly owns).²³⁵

On the agriculture side, ICBC is the largest financier of COFCO Group, providing US\$5.2 billion in financing since 2016 to China's largest agricultural processing and trading company. COFCO has been found to use palm oil suppliers that have been suspended by Unilever (another major supplier) for non-compliance with its sourcing policy, indicating that it uses palm oil that contributes to deforestation.²³⁶ COFCO has also been accused of sourcing soy from suppliers contributing to deforestation in Brazil.²³⁷



CHINA CITIC BANK

China CITIC Bank is China's seventh biggest bank and the 29th largest globally.²³⁸ It is a division of CITIC Group Corporation, China's biggest state-run conglomerate, and is majority-owned by the Chinese government. As a state-owned enterprise, China CITIC Bank should be working to achieve the Chinese government's goal of net-zero emissions by 2060, but it has not announced policies or targets to meet this goal.



Agribusiness financing

China CITIC Bank provided US\$10.2 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the third largest Asian financier and the ninth largest globally. Its top agribusiness clients are ChemChina (US\$5.6 billion), COFCO Group, Muyuan Foodstuff, New Hope Group and Sinochem International.



Fossil fuel financing

China CITIC Bank provided US\$124.5 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the second Asian financier and the second largest overall.

China CITIC Bank's top clients expanding fossil fuels in the Global South are Jinneng Group (US\$8 billion), State Power Investment Corp, CITIC Ltd, China Southern Power Grid Co and China Huaneng Group. Jinneng Group is a coal mining, trading and coal power generation company, while the others are all electricity generation and distribution companies with a significant share of coal in their energy mix.



Policies

China CITIC Bank has no formal policies or targets to reduce or phase out its financing for coal mining, coal-fired power generation, or the oil and gas sectors.²³⁹

The bank also has no specific policy relating to agricultural commodities and received a 0 (out of 10) rating in a Forest & Finance coalition assessment of policies related to forest-risk sectors (beef, soy, palm oil, pulp and paper, rubber and timber).²⁴⁰

In addition, China CITIC Bank has no public human rights policy or statements, and does not require clients to ensure the Free, Prior and Informed Consent of Indigenous Peoples and local communities.²⁴¹

However, China CITIC Bank is required to follow banking regulations of green finance and foreign investment (see *ICBC policies* above), which include developing Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) risk assessment standards for clients, and additional ESG standards and exclusions for international projects.²⁴²





Controversies

China CITIC Bank is the largest financier of ChemChina's agribusiness activities in the Global South, providing them with an estimated US\$5.6 billion in loans and underwriting since 2016. ChemChina is the world's largest agrochemical company, having bought Syngenta in 2018 and merged with SinoChem in 2021. It is also the third largest seller of seeds.²⁴³

ChemChina accounts for a quarter of the global pesticide market, mostly via Syngenta, which now incorporates the agrochemical divisions of SinoChem and Adama (another producer recently purchased by ChemChina).²⁴⁴ Close to 40% of Syngenta's total pesticide turnover is estimated to comprise of "highly hazardous pesticides."²⁴⁵

These hazardous pesticides include Gramoxone, whose active ingredient paraquat has been dubbed "the world's deadliest weedkiller".²⁴⁶ As little as a tablespoonful of Gramoxone can be fatal.²⁴⁷ Gramoxone is banned in China, Switzerland (where Syngenta is headquartered), the UK (where it is produced) and the whole of the EU, but the company continues to export it for use across the Global South. Syngenta continues to sell the product in deadly concentrations despite being aware of the risks for decades, including a link between long-term exposure and Parkinson's disease.²⁴⁸ A 2016 investigation, for example, found Gramoxone being used on plantations in Indonesia and the Philippines with almost no protective measures, endangering the lives of workers, and similar concerns have been registered regarding the product's use in Punjab, India.²⁴⁹

Syngenta's highly hazardous chemicals sales also include neonicotinoids, which were permanently banned from outdoor use in the European Union in 2018. Brazil is the main market for these chemicals, which a study by the FAO and WHO found to be causing "large-scale adverse effects on bees and other beneficial insects."²⁵⁰ Brazil is also the key export market for Profenofos, another Syngenta insecticide that is banned in Switzerland. Syngenta's product has been found to have polluted water drunk by millions of people in Brazil, endangering their health and the environment.²⁵¹

China CITIC Bank's largest fossil fuel client is Jinneng Group (US\$8 billion in underwriting since 2016). Jinneng Group is China's second largest coal producer, as well as having interests in coal trading, coal power generation, transmission, and distribution. Despite China's stated climate goals, Jinneng Group plans to increase coal production and has plans to build five new coal plants with a total 10 GW capacity during the current 2021-2025 Five-Year Plan.²⁵² In 2021, the company also broke coal production limits, digging up 400% more coal in one mine than permitted.²⁵³

俞

MITSUBISHI UFJ

Mitsubishi UFJ Group (MUFG) is Asia's fifth largest bank and the seventh largest globally.²⁵⁴ It is headquartered in Japan and has operations in more than 50 countries. MUFG "aims to achieve net zero greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions across its finance portfolio by 2050."²⁵⁵ However, MUFG remains one of the world's largest fossil fuel financiers (US\$219.6 billion globally since 2016) and lacks robust policies to reduce its significant support for the oil, gas and palm oil sectors.



Agribusiness financing

MUFG provided US\$13.2 billion in agribusiness financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the largest Asian financier and the fifth largest globally. Its top industrial agriculture clients are ChemChina (US\$3.4 billion), Olam Group, Bayer, ADM and UPL.



Fossil fuel financing

MUFG provided US\$66 billion in fossil fuel financing in the Global South between 2016 and 2022, making it the 14th largest Asian financier and the 15th largest overall.

MUFG's top clients expanding fossil fuels in the Global South are Vitol Holding II (US\$5.4 billion), Sumitomo Corporation, Trafigura Group, Saudi Aramco, and JX Nippon Oil & Gas Exploration Corporation.



Policies

MUFG has stated that it will no longer finance new thermal coal mines and new coal power plants, and that it will phase out coal power project financing by 2040.²⁵⁶ However, this policy has many exceptions and leaves the bank free to continue providing corporate financing to coal developers. MUFG has not provided any commitments to stop financing oil and gas expansion and has not set a timeline for phasing out financing to oil and gas companies.

MUFG's only explicit agricultural commodities policy relates to the palm oil sector, where it "encourages" (but does not require) clients to be members of the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO). MUFG also has a forestry policy stating that clients seeking "financing for large-scale industrial farm development" (10,000 ha or more) are "urged" (but not required) to respect the Free, Prior, and Informed Consent (FPIC) of Indigenous Peoples and to formulate sustainable environmental and human rights policies, such as No Deforestation, No Peat, and No Exploitation (NDPE).²⁵⁷ However, MUFG excludes its Indonesian subsidiary Bank Danamon from these policies, despite it being an important source of palm oil financing.²⁵⁸

MUFG has no overall FPIC requirement for its clients, and its human rights framework is restricted to a statement of "respect" for international standards such as the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.²⁵⁹



Controversies

MUFG is one of the main financiers of the Cirebon 2 coal-fired power plant project in Indonesia. The Cirebon 2 project would emit around 2.3 million tonnes of carbon dioxide per year, cause countless premature deaths from air pollution, and pollute water in a region that already experiences increased droughts due to climate change.²⁶⁰ The project threatens to further damage coastal livelihoods already impacted by Cirebon 1, a coal-fired power plant on an adjacent site which began operation in 2012.²⁶¹

MUFG is a major source of financing for the palm oil sector in Southeast Asia, both directly and through its subsidiary Bank Danamon, which is Indonesia's sixth largest bank.

MUFG is the largest financier of Sinar Mas (US\$665 million since 2016), a palm oil producer that has been implicated in deforestation in Indonesia and Liberia through its Asian Pulp & Paper and Golden Agri-Resources subsidiaries.²⁶² The company's operations include "a litany of land rights, labor rights violations and the criminalization of local dissenting communities", according to the Rainforest Action Network and Indonesian environmental groups.²⁶³

MUFG is also a major financier of Salim Group's palm oil operations (US\$ 307 million loans since 2016), including its Indofood subsidiary.²⁶⁴ Indofood's palm oil plantations had their RSPO certification removed over labour rights violations, but MUFG continues to fund the company even as other international banks have ended their financial relationship with it.

MUFG is also the second largest financier of the agribusiness interests of ChemChina (see *China CITIC Bank Controversies* above).



PART 3. HOW PUBLIC FUNDS ARE HARMING PUBLIC INTEREST

As we have seen in the section above, the world's largest banks are some of the leading financiers of the fossil fuel industry and big industrial agribusiness that are driving climate change, and they continue to profit from pollution.

The public sector could and should be different. In principle, public finance should serve the public good, which includes protecting the environment, developing a strong social safety net and respecting human rights. In practice, however, the picture is often very different. Public finance can end up servicing the interests of elites, and the injection of fossil fuel wealth into state treasuries tends to exacerbate inequality, increase corruption and damage efforts to develop a healthy and diverse economy.

In this section, we look at the main forms of public financing that promote agribusiness and fossil fuel financing. In the subsequent sections on solutions and recommendations we canvass a series of alternatives and measures that could contribute to a feminist just transition towards sustainable renewable energy and agroecology.

STATE SUBSIDIES AND DIRECT BUDGET SUPPORT

Public sector budgets provide core support for agriculture and fossil fuels in many countries, including input subsidies for fertilisers, and consumer and producer subsidies for fossil fuels. It is widely acknowledged



that these subsidies are inefficient and harm the environment, so should be redirected in the public good. Yet this requires careful planning and a participatory approach involving farmers and communities (in the case of agriculture) and all citizens (for fossil fuel consumer subsidies). As noted in the *Conclusions and recommendations* section below, subsidy reform requires specific measures to mitigate short-term impacts for vulnerable groups including smallholder farmers, many of whom are women, as well as Indigenous peoples and local communities.²⁶⁵

Agricultural subsidies

Agriculture budgets are often dominated by subsidy systems that encourage more industrial agriculture. Globally, agricultural producer subsidies amount to almost US\$540 billion a year. Many of these subsidies are tied to the production of specific commodities, often leading to the overuse of agrochemicals and the promotion of monocultures, while agroecology is generally overlooked.²⁶⁶

In Zimbabwe, for example, while the government's National Agriculture Policy Framework offers explicit support for agroecology at policy level, its budget allocations do not yet reflect this. Only 1.27% of the 2021 budget allocated to the Ministry of Lands, Water and Rural Settlement could be considered as supportive of agroecology.²⁶⁷

In Malawi, most of the agriculture budget is allocated to conventional agriculture, with subsidies accounting for most of this. In the 2022/23 budget, fertiliser purchases accounted for over 75% of the Malawian Ministry of Agriculture's central budget (97.5 billion MK, US\$94 million).²⁶⁸ However, the continued depreciation of the Malawian Kwacha against the US dollar, coupled with high global fertiliser prices, means that the government cannot deliver to the planned number of farmers at the planned price.²⁶⁹ The continued dependency on fertiliser subsidies contradicts Malawi's long-term goals.²⁷⁰

By contrast, Malawi's resilient livelihoods and agricultural systems program, under which agroecology approaches are supported, accounts for just one percent of the central agriculture budget (1.4 billion AK, US\$1.3 million).²⁷¹ Agroecology fares slightly better at the level of specific projects, however, with 17% of projects (49 billion MK, US\$47 million) incorporating some agroecological components.²⁷²

A similar story can be told across sub-Saharan Africa, where input subsidies represent, on average, the largest share of public budgets allocated to agriculture.²⁷³ Yet the effectiveness of input subsidies, particularly to fossil fertilisers, has been widely questioned. These are often poorly targeted, inefficiently distributed, distort market prices by suppliers artificially inflating prices, and damage the environment and human health.²⁷⁴ Moreover, an over-emphasis on input subsidies comes at the expense of investments in irrigation, environmental preservation and social safety net programmes. This remains an issue in Malawi too, despite reforms to the country's Farm Input Subsidy Programme since 2015/2016.²⁷⁵

Fossil fuel subsidies

Global fossil fuel subsidies reached US\$7 trillion in 2022, according to the latest estimates by the IMF.²⁷⁶ High energy prices driving them to record levels despite global commitments such as the Glasgow Climate Pact promising to phase out "inefficient fossil fuel subsidies."²⁷⁷

The need to reform fossil fuel subsidies is clear: the world needs to quickly move away from fossil fuels to have any chance of avoiding catastrophic climate change. Subsidising fossil fuels is also economically inefficient and puts a massive fiscal burden on government budgets, and worsens inequality, air pollution and climate change. Yet numerous types of fossil fuel subsidy persist, including: favourable trade tariffs; price controls (and regulations allowing fossil fuels to be sold below market prices); tax breaks for consumers or producers; payments made directly to fossil fuel producers; payments made to end users; risk transfer instruments



such as loan guarantees; and energy-related services provided by governments.²⁷⁸ Consumption fossil fuel subsidies account for 86% of the total.²⁷⁹

Cutting consumer subsidies, such as price limits that keep diesel or gasoline affordable, is essential but needs to be handled with care. People with low incomes spend a larger share of their income on energy than the rich, so changes that disproportionately affect poor communities must be avoided. When Ecuador's government tried to remove diesel and gasoline subsidies in late 2019, the result was a political insurgency that swept the country. Similar attempts to remove subsidies in India, Indonesia, Egypt and Jordan over the past 15 years have also been faced with mass protests and riots.²⁸⁰

This is not an argument against cutting fossil fuel subsidies, but it does make abundantly clear that such a policy requires a framework that shields and compensates low- and middle-income households from adverse effects, as well as communicating the benefits clearly.²⁸¹ Such measures are likely to include redirecting a proportion of the subsidies into cash transfer payments for lower income households or, as happened in Ghana and Indonesia, redirecting some of the subsidies towards an increase in spending on education, as well as health care and other forms of social protection.²⁸²

Consumer subsidy shifts should be embedded in a wider process of reforming tariffs to reduce energy costs for the lowest income households, boosting investment in renewable energy and encouraging energy access. For example, in India a proportion of consumption subsidies have been redirected into providing support for clean cooking subsidies aimed at women living below the poverty line.²⁸³ On aggregate, public finance in India has also shifted from support for petroleum products to subsidising renewable energy and electricity transmission and distribution, although the implementation leaves room for improvement.²⁸⁴ Even redirecting a relatively small share of the huge subsidies for fossil fuels to renewable energy, with the rest distributed for social welfare to help people with low incomes, could help pay for a "clean energy revolution."²⁸⁵

STATE-OWNED ENTERPRISES

Many of the world's largest fossil fuel companies are state-owned, including several profiled in the *Controversies* sections above: Saudi Aramco, QatarEnergy, Sinopec and CNPC/PetroChina. These companies tend to generate funds for state budgets (or Sovereign Wealth Funds) rather than receiving financial support, although they are backed by explicit and implicit forms of state assistance, including "price support, preferential financing rates and low return expectations, implicit or explicit state guarantees, grants, in-kind subsidies, privileged access to information, regulator exemptions, preferential treatment of public procurement, commercial diplomacy support and other forms of support".²⁸⁶

National oil and gas companies' investment in expanded production risks pumping up to US\$400 billion into projects that will of necessity become worthless ('stranded assets') if the world is to keep to a carbon budget that is less than 2°C carbon budget (this figure would be billions higher to meet a target of 1.5°C).²⁸⁷ This scenario is already starting to play out in the coal sector, where companies that had previously been significant contributors to central and state government revenues now require state bailouts, and public support for coal has extended the life of a number of economically unviable assets.²⁸⁸

PUBLIC INVESTMENT: SOVEREIGN WEALTH FUNDS, PUBLIC PENSION AND INSURANCE FUNDS

In several countries, a proportion of the revenues from oil and gas exploitation are paid into a Sovereign Wealth Fund (SWF), a state-owned entity intended to invest foreign currency reserves on a commercial

basis. SWFs, which manage over US\$11 trillion in assets worldwide, could be a powerful force supporting a climate transition, since they have the potential to invest in long- term measures that their more commercial counterparts find unattractive. In practice, however, SWFs tend to be managed according to the same market norms that were devised by short-term, for-profit investors.

SWFs are major investors in agribusiness and fossil fuel companies. Norway's Pension Fund Global (US\$1.4 trillion in assets under management) is the world's largest. In 2015, the Norwegian Parliament made the unanimous decision to ban the Pension Fund Global from investing in coal. However, it continues to have more than US\$9 billion (89,1 billion NOK) invested in the industry.²⁸⁹ This includes investments in companies with close links to the controversial Vũng Áng 2 and Cirebon 2 coal-fired power plants (see *Development finance and development assistance* below).

The Pension Fund Global also has a system of conduct-based exclusions that have seen the exclusion of some agribusiness companies, such as Marfrig, for causing "severe environmental damage".²⁹⁰ However, it continues to hold significant stakes in leading agribusinesses including Merck (US\$2.7 billion) and Bayer (US\$1.4 billion) (see *Bank of America Controversies* above), as well as several major oil and gas companies – including Shell (US\$6.1 billion), Exxon Mobil (US\$5.1 billion) and TotalEnergies (US\$4.5 billion).²⁹¹

Temasek, a US\$500 billion fund that is one of two SWFs in Singapore, has environmental and social guidelines that are considerably weaker than those of the Pension Fund Global. It is the majority shareholder in Olam Group, holding a 51% stake in the company that is worth an estimated US\$2.6 billion.²⁹² Olam Group has been accused of deforestation in the development of its palm oil plantations in Gabon (see *HSBC Controversies* above).

Although one of the stated aims of many SWFs is the diversification of the economy, this is far from guaranteed. Notably, Saudi Arabia's US\$620 billion Public Investment Fund (PIF) retains major investments in Saudi Aramco, the state-owned oil company, holding US\$90 billion in shares (around 4% of Aramco) via a subsidiary, in addition to the 90% of the company that is in public hands.²⁹³

Publicly-owned pension and insurance funds are also amongst the major investors in fossil fuels and agribusiness, including those based in the Global South.

These examples show that, while public investment has the capacity to act in the public good, it does not generally do so.

STATE-OWNED BANKS

State-owned banks are a further significant source of public investment. In several cases, these banks were established to advance development goals set by governments, and continue to have a public purpose mandate. Such institutions should be well placed to respond to the climate crisis, and to do so while upholding high social and environmental standards. In practice, however, they are failing people and the planet in many of the same ways as private banks.

State-owned banks can take various forms, including national development banks and green investment banks, which fall outside the scope of this study. They can also operate as commercial banks, as is the case for the two Chinese banks featured in the profiles section of this report (ICBC, China CITIC Bank). In the case of ICBC, the Chinese government owns a majority stake (67%), while China CITIC Bank is a sub-division of CITIC Group corporation, a state-run conglomerate that is also majority-owned by the Chinese government.

The Bank for Investment and Development of Vietnam (BIDV) is a public bank in Vietnam (81% state ownership) and is the country's largest bank by assets.²⁹⁴ The bank has identified "green banking" as a priority, but has not set any targets for exiting fossil fuel or agribusiness investments, and has no specific human rights policy or measures for sensitive agribusiness sectors.

BIDV is the largest financier (US\$433 million since 2016) of Hoang Anh Gia Lai (HAGL), an agribusiness company with "a disastrous record of land grabbing and deforestation."²⁹⁵ HAGL stands accused of illegally clearing land in Ratanakiri, Cambodia that was earmarked for local Indigenous communities.²⁹⁶

DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AND OFFICIAL DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE

International public financing can take the form of official development assistance (ODA), which is typically through grants, and development finance, which provides loans or other financial instruments, often with the aim of facilitating private sector investment. This financing can be channelled through multilateral institutions like the World Bank or the Green Climate Fund, which fall outside of the scope of this report, or bilateral institutions established by developed countries, such as the US Development Finance Corporation or Agence Française de Développement (AFD).

ODA and development finance are generally framed as assistance provided by richer countries in the Global North to their less well-off counterparts in the Global South, but other motives are also at play. Development finance often benefits multinational corporations based in the Global North, and bilateral financing is sometimes explicitly tied to the trade objectives of Northern countries seeking to export technologies, equipment and services. Even when this link is less explicit, development finance tends to support a development model that undermines climate solutions in Southern countries.

This is most notably the case in the field of agriculture, where international financing has prioritised support for industrial agriculture and marginalised agroecological approaches.²⁹⁷

An analysis of Dutch ODA, for example, found that its rationale of "aid for trade" hindered agroecology and resulted in objectives centred on market access and productivity – objectives that often went together with "monocultural cash crops and mechanization".²⁹⁸ By contrast, only 4% of projects promoted "agroecosystem transformations, such as recycling, resilience, synergies, and biodiversity."²⁹⁹ A study of UK ODA between 2010 and 2018 found that agroecological projects accounted for less than 5% of agricultural aid, and less than 0.5% of the overall aid budget.³⁰⁰ Danish ODA shows a similar pattern, with only 1.4% of the bilateral finance allocated for agriculture by Danida promoting agroecological transformational change, compared to 55% of its funding directed towards business-as-usual industrial agriculture.³⁰¹

Analysis shows that even after countries party to the UN adopted the Paris Agreement in 2015, their aid money could still be going to support fossil fuels. In Australia for example, 19% of ODA in 2020 went to multilateral development banks (MDBs) such as the World Bank, Asian Development Bank (ADB), and the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB).³⁰² Australia is the fifth largest shareholder in the ADB, the sixth largest for the AIIB, and holds up to 2% of total shareholdings in the World Bank.³⁰³ After the Paris Agreement, between 2016 and 2021, the World Bank, ADB, and AIIB provided over US \$23.84 billion to fossil fuel development projects, with gas development projects representing more than 60% of investments from each MDB.³⁰⁴ Based on its shareholding, Australia's 'share' of this fossil fuel financing is US \$601 million over the same period.³⁰⁵ General contributions to the MDBs go to core funding, so each donor's responsibility for fossil fuel investment should be based on their share of the MDB.



The overall balance of ODA and development finance for energy-related projects is changing, with 39 countries now committed to ending "new direct public support for the international unabated fossil fuel energy sector."^{v, 306} However billions in ODA and development finance are still being directed towards fossil fuels, with Japan and South Korea amongst the major financiers.

Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC) is a development finance institution with a mandate to promote economic cooperation between Japan and other countries, including through export credit loans that support the finance of Japanese equipment and technology. JBIC is one of the main financier backers of the Vũng Áng 2 coal-fired power station in Vietnam, approving a loan of US\$636 million for the project.³⁰⁷ The Vũng Áng project is highly controversial. Local communities have protested Vũng Áng 1, the already-completed first phase of the coal power complex, due to air pollution from coal trucks, as well as concerns that air pollution could cause cancer and other respiratory diseases. Researchers estimate that "the cumulative impacts of the Vũng Áng 2 plant during its planned operational life could lead to more than 1800 deaths."³⁰⁸ Vũng Áng 2 would be a massive 'carbon bomb' too, with annual carbon dioxide emissions of 2.85 million tonnes per year.

JBIC provided a US\$2.1 billion loan for the building of the 2000 MW Central Java Power Project in Indonesia, as well as political risk guarantees covering an overall US\$3.4 billion package of lending involving a number of Japanese and Singaporean banks.³⁰⁹ The Batang coal-fired power station was completed in 2022 against a backdrop of considerable environmental and human rights concerns, including the intimidation of local residents to force their displacement.³¹⁰ The plant will emit an estimated 10.8 million tonnes of carbon dioxide per year, with air pollution from the plant estimated to cause up to 30,000 premature deaths over the course of its operation, as well as destroying fertile agricultural land and polluting local coastal areas that provide the livelihoods for over 10,000 fisherpeople.³¹¹

JBIC is also providing US\$731 million in project finance for the expansion of the Cirebon Coal-fired Power Plant in Indonesia (see *Mitsubishi UFJ Controversies* above).³¹²

Although JBIC has now stated that it will fund no more coal projects, it has taken no steps to withdraw from those that it is currently financing, and it has not set a target for withdrawal from coal and gas.



v. However, the applicability only to end finance to "unabated" fossil fuel energy represents a loophole, given the frequent use of this term to cover for continued fossil fuel investment, with emissions "abated" for example through the use of still-unproven carbon capture and storage technologies. The pledge also has a mixed record to date, see Oil Change International (2023b) Promise Breakers: Assessing the impact of compliance with the Glasgow statement commitment to end international public finance for fossil fuels, https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2023/03/PROMISE-BREAKERS.pdf



BANGLADESH – MATARBARI COAL POWERED PLANTS

Matarbari is a small offshore island in the Southeastern Bangladesh. It is densely populated, with 100,000 people living on 27km2 (6,670 acres) of land. Identified by government as an area to be targeted for economic development, the Coal Power Generation Company Bangladesh Ltd forcibly acquired 1,608 acres of land in 2014, and subsequently acquired a further 1,212 acres to build a new coal-fired power plant under 'Phase 1'. Plans for a 'Phase 2' were later announced, including an additional three coal fired power plans. The forced large-scale land acquisition - equivalent to more than 40% of the island's area - has directly or indirectly affected the thousands of people living there.

The corporation's main financer, Japanese aid agency JICA, has been closely involved in the planning from the start, having conducted an Environmental Impact Assessment, and a project feasibility study. JICA has already provided a US\$2.8 billion in loans towards the construction of the Matarbari Power Plant.³¹³ The plant's electricity cost will be excessively high, far exceeding the cost of renewable energy alternatives, and could saddle Bangladesh with significant public debt.³¹⁴

The 2,820 hectares of land acquired for the coal power plant is used by the communities for their livelihood and food security, especially for salt production and fish and shrimp farming. 20,000 landowners, salt, shrimp and crab farmers, traders and labourers have lost their incomes as a result of losing the land on which they earned their livings, and 45 families were evicted from their homes. The development has affected housing, access to clean water, health facilities, education and food for people on the island.³¹⁵

The area is already highly vulnerable to flooding, and the new coal power plant developments have exacerbated the situation by dislodging sediment, silting up the Kohelia river and clogging up drainage canals. As a result, flooding events have increased. A severe flooding event in 2018 inundated 22 out of 31 villages on the island, affecting more than 10,000 people. At least two children drowned during the flooding, and two infants died in childbirth as their mothers could not access medical facilities. At least 300 families were displaced, and there has been an overall increase in poverty as a result, with roads, schools and clinics closed, and compromised latrine facilities causing health issues.

Since 2017, in alliance with Japanese and Bangladeshi NGOs including ActionAid, the community has been organising to demand compensation for their lost land, and to oppose new developments, particularly the power plants under the Phase 2 plans. Organising themselves into community groups, activities have included human chains, roadblocks, courtyard meetings memorandums to the water development board, a seminar with government and non-government actors, and press conferences. Evidence has been gathered and presented to JICA and the Japanese government, and spotlighted in

Japanese media. After years of civil society advocacy, JICA and the Coal Power Generation Company held a series of meetings with the community, promising compensation and change. This compensation was slow to arrive.

Finally in 2022, in a major win for the community, and thanks to public pressure and a shift in Japanese national policy, JICA cancelled its investment in Matarbari Phase 2. SMBC, a major Japanese commercial bank, also distanced itself from the project to avoid further reputational damage, and other private banks have avoided it for the same reason. As a result, Phase 2 of the proposed coal project was cancelled.³¹⁶ This achievement is an inspiring example of what organising and solidarity can achieve. However, the Matarbari Phase 1 coal power plants are now almost complete, and are scheduled to be in commission by the end of 2023 or early 2024. The community faces a polluted future and escalating climate impacts.





We are often told that fossil fuels and industrial agriculture are necessary to address food insecurity and energy poverty in the Global South. But these claims do not stand up to scrutiny.

Fossil fuels and industrial agriculture are not, in fact, designed to meet the food, energy, livelihood and development needs of Global South communities. They are simply the most commodifiable and exportable options. By their nature they enrich corporations and elites, and their export is designed to prioritise earning dollars for the repayment of external debt – at the cost of the wellbeing of communities, ecosystems and the climate. Even if we were not facing a global climate crisis, it would still be in the Global South's best interests to move away from economies based on extractive export-oriented commodities of fossil fuels and industrial agriculture. The need to avert the climate crisis simply brings this agenda into sharper and more immediate focus.

The challenge that we face is to meet the world's food, energy and development needs while also addressing the climate crisis.

Real solutions are needed. These solutions must address food, energy and livelihood priorities, and they must be equitable, and work for the climate, nature and people – particularly women and marginalised communities. These approaches must be designed so that communities and countries in the Global South can retain sovereignty over their own food and energy resources.

The good news is that these solutions already exist.



CREDIT: Mahelder Haileselassie/ActionAid

RENEWABLE ENERGY

Renewable energy – particularly solar, wind and micro-hydro – can and must be scaled up to replace fossil fuels and address energy poverty, while avoiding the climate-devastating emissions associated with fossil fuels.

Ensuring access to energy is crucial to breaking out of poverty. Reliable access to energy can open up livelihood opportunities, including by saving time that would otherwise be spent sourcing fuel. Access to energy increases opportunities for education and studying. With access to energy, women and farming communities have more opportunities for processing and value addition of their produce, meaning that they can earn more income. Access to energy can also help to cut down on food loss and waste, which in turn improve food security and reduce emissions.³¹⁷

Energy access can even support climate resilience, for example by saving trees that are crucial for ecosystems and livelihoods from being cut down and burnt into charcoal for cooking.

Renewable energy technologies available today are already sufficient to achieve 100% renewable energy.³¹⁸ Renewable energy also has the potential to far exceed projected global energy demand by 2050, helping to keep global warming below 1.5°C.³¹⁹ [see *graphic*] Meanwhile, the Southern hemisphere is particularly well-placed to harness renewable energy, as abundant sunshine means that relatively little land is required for solar power to meet energy needs.³²⁰





The IPCC sixth Assessment Report makes clear that shifting away from fossil fuels and scaling up renewable energy must be at the very heart of our planetary strategy to avoid climate breakdown.³²¹

Fortunately, renewable energy by its very nature lends itself to a democratic approach that meets communities' needs. Unlike the highly centralised and necessarily large-scale infrastructure associated with fossil fuels, energy from the sun, wind and water can instead be harnessed virtually everywhere – there is no need for it to be centralised or large-scale. Rooftop solar panels, small-scale wind farms and micro-hydro generators mean that energy can be generated, controlled, used and potentially sold by communities, cooperatives – even individual households. Public buildings such as schools, hospitals and universities can also become producers of energy.

Control and ownership over electricity in the hands of households, small and medium-size enterprises, communities and public institutions, in a mosaic of connected or island mini-grids, has profound and exciting implications. When energy is used close to where it is generated, the significant energy loss associated with transmitting electricity over long distances is dramatically reduced. Even more importantly, however, diversified production means that energy can be delivered as a common good, in contrast to the profit priorities of fossil fuel corporations. This "energy democracy" revolution is a step that can and must take place alongside the renewable energy revolution.³²²

Before roll-out of these technologies, we need social programmes to ensure the inclusive participation, education, training and empowerment of communities. Communities must be able to effectively participate in, shape, control and sustain this energy revolution.

By reducing over-consumption elsewhere, improving energy efficiency, and scaling up recycling and efficiency use of the materials needed for renewables³²³ it is not only feasible, but necessary to reach the goal of universal energy access with renewable energy, while simultaneously addressing the global climate crisis. Furthermore, to be able to assert control over their own renewable energy resources, Global South countries can and must centre the manufacturing of renewable energy technologies in their own industrial and regional policies, to end dependencies on manufactured imports from the Global North, and shift away from being treated as the global economy's source of cheap raw materials.³²⁴

In most cases, renewables are already more affordable than fossil fuels. Of the world's renewable energy that recently went online, 62% cost less than the cheapest fossil fuel option.³²⁵ And the cost of renewable energy will continue to fall, rendering fossil fuels obsolete.

Not only is the renewable energy revolution possible, it is already happening. In 2021, over 80% of Kenya's electricity production came from renewables, and the country has committed to achieving 100% renewable energy by 2030.326 Rolling out renewable energy has enabled Kenya to dramatically increase energy access provision, from 28% to 71% of its population, in the years between 2013 and 2020.327 In the meantime, Costa Rica is already producing 98% of its electricity using renewable energy sources, and has done for several years.328

Scaled up climate finance from wealthy countries, combined with redeployed domestic revenues, will be key to the Global South leapfrogging the era of dirty fossil fuels, and leading the world in the roll-out of the energy systems of the future.

As demand for renewable energy grows, principles and governance systems are also needed to keep developments aligned with human rights and climate goals. These principles should exclude approaches that are likely to cause harm to people, climate and ecosystems such as large-scale bioenergy, liquid biofuels, nuclear power, large-scale hydropower, or the siting of wind and solar energy in areas that conflict with local communities' rights.

AGROECOLOGY

A transformation of agriculture and food systems is also needed to address the climate crisis and meet the world's food and livelihood needs. As with the energy transition, new technical approaches must go hand-inhand with a shift away from prioritising the use of land for export commodities such as animal feed, biofuels or sugar, and towards food sovereignty.

Agroecological farming approaches are increasingly recognised as key technical interventions that are needed to feed the world in an era of climate change, and which also bring multiple social and ecological benefits. Institutions and reports including the IPCC's sixth Assessment Report,³²⁹ the IPCC Special Report on Climate Change and Land,³³⁰ and the UN Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) Committee on World Food Security (CFS)³³¹ see agroecology as a necessary step in preventing the climate crisis.

In contrast to industrialised agriculture in which expensive agrochemicals and seeds sold by agribusiness corporations cause harm to soils, biodiversity and the climate, agroecological farming approaches work with nature instead of against it. Relying on knowledge instead of purchased inputs, farmers can use the nutrients in natural local materials, the natural behaviour of plants, birds and insects, the biological functions of beneficial microbes, and a huge diversity of crops, seed varieties and livestock breeds that have been bred and adapted to many different purposes.



Agroecological techniques swap fossil-fuel dependent nitrogen fertilisers for nutrient-rich compost and manure, or planting leguminous crops such as beans and clover to naturally return nitrates to the soil. Covering soils with mulches such as straw or cut grass helps to supress weeds, reduce water evaporation from soils and ultimately improve soil structure. These approaches also encourage networks of beneficial mycorrhizae fungi to spread throughout the soil, converting organic material into nutrients and transporting these nutrients to crop roots in powerful symbiosis.

In place of chemical pesticide use, pests can be minimised by intercropping different types of crops, herbs and aromatic flowers, applying botanical mixtures derived from plants such as neem or pyrethrum, and by creating healthy ecosystems so that predator insects and birds can thrive and feed on pests.³³²

Agroecological approaches can be applied to food systems anywhere in the world.^{vi} They can produce impressive results for farmers, and these are particularly noticeable when climate impacts strike. Millions of farmers are now finding that their soils' improved water-carrying capacity and fertility confer vital resilience to the escalating effects of climate change, without compromising yields.³³³ Agroecological approaches mean that farmers are more likely to gain a harvest in spite of erratic and changing weather patterns such as failed rains, flooding, and pest attacks.³³⁴

Meanwhile, by avoiding the need to burn fossil fuels to produce synthetic nitrogen fertilisers, and the emissions and soil loss when fertilisers are applied, agroecological approaches are an important mitigation strategy for the food sector.³³⁵

A common assumption made by advocates of industrial agriculture is that chemical, mechanised and largescale approaches in which a single crop variety is grown over many – perhaps even hundreds or thousands – of hectares is more "efficient" and therefore more effective for addressing food security. This is untrue. Rich, naturally healthy soils can lead to abundant yields. Meanwhile, different crops grown side-by-side can provide each other with nutrient and pest management benefits, and can be harvested steadily over the course of the year instead of all at once, thus reducing food loss and waste and improving income stability.

In fact, several studies have shown that 70% of the world's population is fed by food grown on small farms, largely using agroecological approaches and diversified cropping systems, even though these farms only use about a quarter of the world's agricultural land.³³⁶ In recent years, this number has been subject to debate, with new studies claiming that smallholder farmers produce 30-35% of the world's food.³³⁷ Even this number demonstrates the efficiency of smallholder farming, given that smallholders only use 25% of the world's agricultural land. A closer look, however, shows that these newer studies employ different questions, methodologies and assumptions about what counts as food. The earlier studies, especially those undertaken, checked and confirmed by ETC Group in subsequent editions, focus on who is being fed by the crops produced, and demonstrate that 70% of the world's people rely on the peasant food web rather than a long industrial food chain. Meanwhile, one of the latter studies simply calculated calories produced by farms smaller than 2 hectares, not taking account of waste, which can be significant in industrialised food systems with long food chains, and different levels of consumption. Another controversial study looked only at land use as a proxy for food production, even including non-food crop production such as animal feed and biofuels in their calculations.³³⁸ Even though the latter studies aimed to disprove the importance of smallholder farming in feeding the world, in fact their methodological choices ended up confirming the point.

A common question is whether agroecology can also deliver food security for growing urban populations. The short answer is yes, particularly if policies provide greater support to food distribution streams, territorial markets and cooperatives to enable farmers to connect with urban consumers in their regions. Urban

vi. To guide the transition to sustainable food systems, and to deliver the full range of ecological, socioeconomic and climate benefits, the UN's FAO have developed a useful framework called 'The 10 Elements of Agroecology'. These are: Diversity; Co-creating and sharing of knowledge; Synergies; Efficiency; Recycling; Resilience; Human and social values; Culture and food traditions; Responsible governance; and Circular and solidarity economy.



agriculture is already estimated to provide 15-20% of global food, and has historically scaled up in times of crisis such as war, blockades or trade embargoes.³³⁹ Research suggests that the productivity of existing urban agriculture systems can be greatly improved by the application of agroecological principles which encourage synergies, efficiency, optimisation and recycling of scarce resources (including land) to great effect.³⁴⁰

Not only is agriculture the basis of our planet's food security, agriculture is also the world's largest employer. 2.5 billon people draw their livelihoods mostly from agriculture – more than one person in every four on planet Earth.³⁴¹ Nearly half of the world's people live in households dependent on agricultural and food systems.³⁴²

Agriculture's role in protecting and prioritising livelihoods is therefore almost as important as its role in delivering food and nutrition. Agroecological farming systems are suited to the needs of smallholder farmers who do not usually have the deep pockets or access to finance to invest in expensive agribusiness inputs. This is especially true for women farmers, who account for nearly half of the farming population in Eastern and Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa.³⁴³

Agroecological and smallholder farming systems mean that 100 hectares may host farms and provide incomes for 20, even 50 families. This contrasts sharply with large-scale industrial agriculture plantations which use chemicals and machinery – and increasingly, digitalisation – to replace human knowledge, skills and employment, which contribute to rural-urban migration and joblessness. A large-scale plantation on 100, or even 1,000 hectares of land will likely provide income to only one family, and a handful of poorly-paid labourers. By scaling up support, investment and protection for resilient agroecological and smallholder farming, governments can offer employment and livelihood opportunities for today's young people as well as future generations. Considering that agriculture currently employs a quarter of the world's population, this is vital to slow rural-urban migration and prevent a future jobs crisis for young people.

As José Graziano da Silva, former Director-General of the FAO (2012-2019) said, agroecology seeks to "redefine food systems as cultural systems, with people at the centre of the system, in contrast to the current industrial model with its focus on yield maximation at all costs[...]It is now possible to say that we have a viable alternative pathway for agricultural development."³⁴⁴

A number of national and sub-national governments are already convinced that their future depends on shifting to agroecological farming practices. The small Indian state of Sikkim went 100% organic in 2016, substituting chemical fertilisers and pesticides for agroecological alternatives. The state claims that these policies have already benefited 66,000 farmers, and its proven success won the state the FAO's Future Policy Award gold prize in 2018.³⁴⁵ While the government of Bhutan did not meet its ambitious goal of becoming 100% organic by 2020, more than 80% of Bhutanese farms are using organic or agroecological practices and avoiding the use of synthetic agrochemicals.³⁴⁶

The recent example of Sri Lanka, however, is a clear illustration of the dangers of making ambitious declarations and strict policies without first putting in place the means to achieve these goals. In 2021 the government declared a sudden ban on agrochemicals without any support or provision of training on agroecological techniques, or a transition period to build up natural soil fertility. This shocked the nation and led to significant yield losses at a time when the country was already struggling with the Covid-19 pandemic and other economic challenges. The rationale for Sri Lanka's overnight policy was later suspected to be the country's national debt burden and struggle to pay for imported chemical fertilisers.³⁴⁷

Amidst the current crisis in rising fuel and fertiliser prices as a result of the war in Ukraine, many governments are struggling to sustain subsidies for synthetic nitrogen fertilisers. Scaling up training and support for agroecology can save millions of dollars, while helping to secure farmers' livelihoods, food security and resilience.



In order to bring about a much-needed shift to agroecology and food sovereignty, Global South governments must scale up gender-responsive extension services to provide training and capacity building in agroecology, making sure women smallholder farmers are not left out. This is a vital first step to ensure that farmers – particularly women farmers – have the necessary skills, resources, soil fertility and access to seed diversity to make the shift. It is important that farmers are not simply ordered to convert to agroecology, or their access to fertilisers withdrawn, without first ensuring that they have everything necessary to make agroecology a success. There is an urgent need to rebuild and scale up the public financing of such agricultural extension services, recognising this as a public service.

Training and investment in local processing and value addition, for example, can contribute to reducing food loss and waste, and help farmers retain a greater share of their own income. Further investment and support to help farmers develop and identify new routes to markets for their produce is also needed so that food production can successfully and easily connect with consumers, and livelihoods are secured.

The shift to agroecology and food sovereignty must be accompanied by a policy reprioritisation away from export commodity crops which generate little economic and food security for Global South communities. They must shift towards diversified cropping systems that better meet food security needs, reduce deforestation pressure, and support the livelihoods and economies of Global South communities.

FEMINIST JUST TRANSITIONS

Transitions to scale up climate solutions can be complex, affecting a diverse range of stakeholders. Major efforts are therefore needed to avoid unintended harm, to protect the rights of people at risk from losing out from these transitions in energy and food systems, and to ensure that these changes are made with **Feminist Just Transition** principles in mind.

The term 'Just Transition' does not only describe what the new food and energy systems will look like, but also how the transition should be carried out. Remembering the challenges and opportunities faced and brought by women, feminist just transitions must follow the following four principles of just transition, defined by ActionAid as:³⁴⁸

- Addressing and not exacerbating inequalities
- Transforming systems to work for people, nature and the climate
- Ensuring inclusiveness and participation
- Developing comprehensive plans and policy frameworks.

Deep inequality already exists across the world's food, energy and economic systems. Women experience higher rates of exploitation, risky working conditions and low incomes. Policy makers systematically ignore marginalised women's perspectives. Corporations own a disproportionate amount of land and wealth, causing rising hunger and vulnerability across the food, agriculture, energy and extractive sectors. Economies fail to value unpaid care work – the caring, cooking, growing food and fetching water – that is almost always carried out by women. Cultural expectations that women will do unpaid care work often holds them back from earning more income, and often leaves them exhausted and with no time for leisure.

Workers, women and communities must be given opportunities for a better future. However, communities living a precarious existence may not have the necessary skills or resources to take advantage of the opportunities that a shift can bring, and may find themselves in an even worse situation than before.³⁴⁹

Shifting to farming systems that are better for the climate and work with nature must also avoid creating new risks for workers and farmers. The use of labour to replace agrochemicals could enhance employment



opportunities, but could also increase the intensity of labour and physical demands of work. Transitions in agriculture must therefore take account of the risk to workers and ensure farm owners' and plantation owners' ability to pay fair wages and ensure decent working conditions.

Shifts to renewable energy and agroecological approaches must avoid clumsy and harmful top-down policy impositions that place unfair and disproportionate burdens on the people who are least able to bear them. Lessons must be learned, for example, from the Gilets Jaunes (Yellow Vest) protests against regressive carbon taxes in France in 2018, which disproportionally affected low-paid workers' ability to travel to work, and provoked massive protests across the country. Similarly, as mentioned above, Sri Lanka's overnight ban on synthetic fertilisers in 2021 predictably yielded crop failure.

These lessons show that to successfully bring about feminist just transitions, communities must be provided with opportunities to participate in decision-making, spaces to organise, positive livelihood alternatives and meaningful support, social protection and training.

Successful climate transitions must also address power inequalities in food and energy systems. They must give marginalised communities – particularly women – a seat at the table, and value every type of work. Different stakeholders have different skillsets, ways of communicating their lives, levels of literacy, and access to decision makers. Not everyone will be ready with a PowerPoint presentation and lobby document! Women and marginalised community members will often face cultural barriers to speaking up, even though they have very specific and valuable insights into the realities they face around climate change, agriculture, mining, community dynamics and care responsibilities. Inclusive planning processes, centred on women's empowerment, knowledge, participation and leadership, are essential. These inclusive processes must give rise to comprehensive plans and policy frameworks which provide the necessary training, support, and policies to ensure that everyone can participate fully in the transition, and not be left behind.

FINANCING THE TRANSITION

Strategies to scale up agroecology and renewable energy rely on a major **scaling up and redirecting of finance**, particularly public finance. National and international finance policies, and the international community all have a key role to deliver on these urgent transitions.

As a first low-hanging fruit, Global North countries and Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs) must finally agree to unconditional debt cancellation so that Global South governments can be freed from the burdens of debt repayment that bind them to economies based on extractive commodity exports to repay unjust external debt.³⁵⁰ Once debt-free, Global South governments can finance their own climate transitions and make rational decisions in their citizens' interests, for example by scaling up agroecology and renewable energy.³⁵¹

In addition, wealthy governments in the Global North who have done the most to cause the climate crisis, must rapidly increase their climate finance grants. They must first deliver on the overdue UN climate finance target of US \$100billion per year by 2020, in the form of grants. Under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) rich countries must also agree to and deliver on a New Collective Quantified Goal (NCQG) on finance in proportion to the scale of need. This is likely to be several trillion dollars a year. Climate finance provided under the NCQG must also be in the form of grants, not loans.

Tax justice policies in the Global South and North also have potential to raise significant amounts of finance through policies that address tax avoidance, ensure progressive taxation, and put fair tax obligations on wealthy tax corporations and individuals. Recent research by ActionAid and Oxfam has found that a tax of 50-90% on the 2021-22 windfall profits of 722 mega-corporations could generate US\$1 trillion, which could be used to tackle poverty and climate change.³⁵² Of these, 45 energy corporations made on average US\$237 billion a year in windfall profits in 2021 and 2022. The largest fossil fuel and industrial agriculture



companies avoid paying taxes in the Global South, depriving governments of urgently needed revenue for public services and for responding to the climate crisis.

Global tax reforms could be transformative, and momentum behind these is growing. Research by Oxfam has also found that US\$1.7 trillion a year could be raised through wealth taxes of just 5% on the world's multi-millionaires and billionaires.³⁵³ Meanwhile, the US Congressional Budget Office has estimated that a Financial Transactions Tax fixed at 0.1% could raise US\$777 billion in revenue over 10 years.³⁵⁴ In November 2022 the UN General Assembly agreed to setup a new UN Tax Body to replace the OECD's 60 year role in setting global tax rules. This new UN body must have a clear mandate to develop new global tax rules that are informed by and seek to positively act on the climate crisis. Rather than just taxing to reduce emissions, tax rules should be designed to redistribute resources to those countries that are least responsible for, but most affected by, the climate crisis.

BOX 3:

AGROECOLOGY PROVIDES MULTIPLE BENEFITS TO AGRICULTURE AND FARMERS IN THE FACE OF CLIMATE CHANGE, INCLUDING:

Adaptation

- Soils packed with organic matter are spongy, retain water, and slow to dry out. In times of reduced rainfall and higher temperatures, water is available to crops for longer, extending growing times and increasing yield.
- Improving soils and adding trees significantly reduce the risk and impact of flooding in times of heavy rainfall.
- Increased crop and seed diversity spreads risk, reducing chances of total crop failure following drought, flood, pests or disease.

Mitigation:

- Significantly reduces fossil fuel carbon dioxide by avoiding production of synthetic nitrogen fertilisers.
- Avoids degrading soil carbon to atmospheric carbon dioxide through the application of synthetic nitrogen fertilisers.
- Soils act as carbon sinks.
- Trees and multiple crop layers in agroforestry act as additional carbon sinks.
- Avoids biodiversity loss, including deforestation pressure caused by aggressive expansion of plantations incentivised by industrial and mechanised agriculture e.g., soya in Latin America and palm oil in South East Asia.

Economic benefits:

- Farmers can retain more of their income when not purchasing agribusiness inputs, and are less squeezed by the corporate sector.
- Benefits smallholders, especially smallholder women farmers who may not have large incomes or access to finance.
- Provides a counter to the concentration of land and wealth facilitated by corporate agribusiness, in which millions of smallholder farmers are forced out of farming by tight margins or aggressive land expansions.
- More smallholder farmers are retained around a community, which strengthens local economies and services.
- Re-allocating government budgets currently spent on subsidising synthetic fertilisers can free up millions of dollars to provide support for adaptation, training, extension services based on agroecological approaches.
- Improved local water, biodiversity and environment, including from reduced fertiliser runoff.
- Health benefits for farmers, local communities and consumers through avoidance of pesticides and fertilisers, and more nutritious food.



AGROECOLOGY IN MUKOTO, ZIMBABWE

Farmers in Zimbabwe have noticed with concern how their climate has changed over the last years. Rains are erratic. Drought has become common. And conventional farming is increasingly unreliable in the face of unpredictable weather patterns.

12 years ago, Mrs Katsande and her husband began to use agroecological techniques on their plot of land in Mukoto, Mashonaland East. They grow finger millet, peanuts, beans and maize.

"We have been practicing agroecology techniques such as mulching, which conserves moisture in the soil for longer periods," she says.

As a result, her land is resilient to climate change, and her crops are thriving. Even though the region has faced droughts, her harvests have not failed, and she has never faced hunger.

"We have a small piece of land, but we still manage to make a livelihood."





AGROECOLOGY IN NEPAL

Sabitri Gurung (52) lives in Shankharapur Municipality 2, Kathmandu, Nepal. Sabitri and her family grow a diverse range of crops including rice, maize, millet and vegetables using agroecological practices such as applying cattle manure, urine and plant mulch to the soil. As a result, Sabitri and her family have not been affected by rising fertiliser and food prices caused by the war in Ukraine.

"We can make good money from this approach. Not only does agroecological farming have health benefits, but it is also environmentally friendly and can resist drought better in comparison to pesticide-based farming. Since it requires no use of chemical pesticides or fertilisers, we need less investment and less labour."







The world's biggest banks are providing trillions of dollars in financing to fossil fuel and industrial agriculture corporations – the main contributors to climate change – while governments use public funds to support their expansion.

This report shows that much of this financing is being channelled by international banks to fund fossil fuel and industrial agriculture activities in the Global South, the same regions that are experiencing the most severe impacts of the climate crisis.

The emissions unleashed by these activities are heating up the planet and causing the floods, droughts, cyclones and rising sea levels that are pushing marginalised communities into deepening poverty, hunger and danger.

These same fossil fuel and industrial agriculture activities are driving land grabs that marginalise women, Indigenous peoples and rural communities, causing deforestation, harming biodiversity and marine ecosystems, and polluting water, air and soils.

The continued investment and expansion of these activities at current rates is set to steer the world past the Paris Agreement's threshold goal of limiting average global warming to 1.5°C, and trigger escalating climate breakdown.

Fossil fuel and industrial agribusiness expansion are often justified under the banner of 'development'. But the reality is that they are harming communities more than benefiting them. Renewable energy and agroecological farming practices are far better positioned to address energy, food security, livelihood and development needs in the face of the climate crisis, and can help to meet the Paris Agreement's 1.5°C target instead of blasting through it.

They say that money makes the world go round. But with the climate crisis reversing progress in addressing poverty, hunger and human rights abuses, far too much money is making the world go backwards.

This money is our money. Banks use the money in our accounts as the reserves from which they provide loans to fossil fuel and agribusiness corporations. Meanwhile, our governments are using our taxes to directly support and subsidise the same actors.

It is time to reroute the money flow. Banks and governments need to stop financing the destruction of the planet.



KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

Banks:

STOP FINANCING FOSSIL FUELS: Banks must immediately end lending and underwriting for corporations involved in fossil fuel expansion. This must include project financing and general corporate financing, and be broadly applicable across whole corporate groups.³⁵⁵ Banks should also develop plans to fully phase out all fossil fuel financing, since it is incompatible with a 1.5°C climate goal. This should include an immediate end to coal financing, and oil and gas expansion, alongside a rapid exit strategy from all oil and gas.

STOP FINANCING DEFORESTATION AND OTHER HARMFUL AGRIBUSINESS ACTIVITIES:

Banks must end lending and underwriting to industrial agribusiness corporations proven to be driving deforestation and land grabs. This must include general corporate financing and project financing, and be applied to the whole corporate group. They must also improve their standards for agricultural commodities such as palm oil and soy, through enhanced due diligence and supply chain checks, and alignment with the EU's deforestation-free value chain legislation. Red lines on industrial agribusiness financing must be developed, taking into account climate impacts, risks of deforestation, chemical and health impacts, human rights and labour abuses, biodiversity erosion, and corporate concentration.

PROTECT RIGHTS OF COMMUNITIES: Banks must take responsibility for preventing harm against indigenous peoples, local communities, human rights defenders, women and LGBTQIA+ people, and frontline communities. They must require bank personnel, business partners and their bank's clients and investees to implement robust policies and measures to protect against human rights abuses and land grabs. Banks must also ensure that the Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) of Indigenous peoples and local communities applies to all relevant transactions (not just project financing); secure the participation of local communities including women in planning processes; routinely conduct gender assessments as part of financing decisions; apply robust environmental and social safeguards; apply enhanced due diligence procedures for protect against human rights abuses; adopt zero-tolerance policies on sexual and gender-based violence; and implement adequate disclosure and redress mechanisms.

WORK TO BRING EMISSIONS DOWN TO REAL ZERO: Banks and their clients, as well as banking alliances such as the Glasgow Alliance for Net Zero and the Net Zero Banking Alliance must conform with real and ambitious commitments to bring about a just transition, to bring down emissions to as close to zero as possible. Climate targets must: set out concrete pathways to reduce emissions in line with 1.5°C with no overshoot; fully cover scopes 1,2 and 3 emissions arising from a bank's loans and underwriting, as well as the scope 1-3 emissions of their clients; have ambitious interim targets every five years; and exclude the use of carbon offset credits, tree plantations and speculative and unproven carbon removal technologies such as Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS), Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage (BECCS), and Direct Air Capture (DAC) from carbon accounting towards climate targets.

STRENGTHEN TRANSPARENCY AND TOOLS FOR VERIFICATION: Banks must adopt enhanced transparency and accountability measures for existing and proposed project and corporate public financing. They should provide improved public reporting on policies, practices and performance indicators in emissions targets and financed emissions by sector, including Agriculture, Forestry and Land Use (AFOLU), gender-responsive safeguards, and internationally-recognised human rights standards for Indigenous Peoples' rights. Databases must be publicly available and online, and participatory councils for verification to enable civil society monitoring should be set up.

Governments:

EFFECTIVELY REGULATE THE BANKING, FINANCE, FOSSIL FUEL AND INDUSTRIAL

AGRICULTURE SECTORS: National and regional governments must regulate the banking and finance sectors to stop the financing of fossil fuel expansion. Climate transition plans consistent with a 1.5°C climate goal should be mandatory for banks. These should exclude unproven carbon removals technologies, tree plantations, and carbon offsets; cover scope 1, 2 and 3 of the banks and their clients' emissions; and set five year targets, including sector-specific and time-bound measures for the phase out of financing for harmful industrial agriculture and fossil fuels. Regulation should set minimum standards for human rights, social and environmental frameworks, including enhanced due diligence procedures in sensitive sectors; meaningful gender-inclusive stakeholder processes; an FPIC requirement to ensure that Indigenous peoples and local communities are adequately consulted; and complaint procedures that include formal grievance mechanisms. National policies must regulate and equitably phase out the fossil fuel and industrial agriculture sectors to ensure alignment with a 1.5°C goal.

STOP SUPPORTING AND SUSBSIDISING HARMFUL FOSSIL FUEL AND INDUSTRIAL

AGRICULTURE ACTIVITIES: Governments must halt fossil fuel expansion and deforestation, and strengthen regulation of harmful industrial agriculture activities. Public financing and investment – whether provided through subsidies, ODA, development finance, state-owned banks or public investment funds such as pension, insurance or Sovereign Wealth Funds – must exclude fossil fuel expansion and activities that result in deforestation, and be subject to high environmental and social standards. Phasing out of financing and subsidies for fossil fuels, fossil fertilisers and harmful industrialised agriculture activities must be undertaken through progressive and carefully sequenced processes that avoid harming lower and middle-income households, and which ensure access to better alternatives.

SCALE UP SUPPORT AND PLANNING FOR JUST TRANSITIONS TO REAL SOLUTIONS:

Governments must develop ambitious climate transition plans consistent with the 1.5°C climate goal, based on just transitions that address inequality and include workers, communities and women in planning, while providing them with the necessary support to enable change. State-owned enterprises should develop transition plans to move away from fossil fuels and harmful industrial agriculture, with five-year interim targets. Public finance must be deployed in a progressive manner to accelerate this shift, by shifting subsidies away from fossil fuels and fossil fertilisers, and redeploying resources to scale up renewable energy access, agroecology, gender-responsive agricultural extension services, adaptation, food sovereignty, health, education, public transport and social protection.

FINANCE THE TRANSITION: National tax policies and regulations, and international bodies including a new UN Tax Body, can mobilise significant resources to finance climate action through tax justice policies that address tax avoidance and illicit financial flows, ensure ambitious and progressive tax reforms, and put fair tax obligations on wealthy corporations and individuals. Governments in the Global North must significantly scale up climate finance contribution in the form of grants to Global South countries, to finance adaptation and mitigation, and address loss and damage. In addition, Northern governments and international financial institutions must cancel the external debts of climate-vulnerable Global South governments who are being pushed to scale up industrial agribusiness and fossil fuel exports, in order to earn foreign currency to repay the debt.

ANNEX: SUMMARY OF METHODOLOGY

ActionAid's new analysis, seen for the first time in this report, uses the following methodology:

Sector and company selection

In order to focus on the agricultural sectors and value chains that have the greatest social and environmental impacts in the Global South, ten market segments were chosen: agrochemicals, seeds, animal feed & nutrition, animal pharma, meat production, palm oil, rubber, soybeans, sugar cane and commodity traders. The 45 top companies active in these markets were identified.

The selection of fossil fuel companies, and the underlying data, draws on the recent *Throwing Fuel on the Fire* report, produced by Reclaim Finance.³⁵⁶ This includes 368 coal companies, 91 upstream oil and gas companies, and 77 midstream companies (e.g. developing oil and gas pipelines and LNG terminals). This resulted in 493 fossil fuel companies (at group level) to be examined, of which 354 received financing that falls within the geographical scope and time period of our research.

Types of finance

Financial institutions can invest in companies in a number of ways. In this report, we have focused on the core banking activities of providing credit to companies through providing loans, and underwriting share and bond issuances. The scope of this research for credit activities was from January 2016 to September 2022.

Loan financing takes various forms, the simplest of which is borrowing money from commercial banks. The loans counted in this report include short-term lending (mostly for working capital, financing the day-today operations of companies) and longer-term corporate loans, which are often linked to expansion plans. Project finance, which is lending earmarked for a specific project, is also included in this report. It should be noted that project finance only accounts for a small percentage of total financing. *Banking on Climate Chaos,* which uses a global dataset that overlaps with the one used here, found that project-specific financing accounts for on average only about 4% of total finance annually.³⁵⁷

The second type of bank financing included in this report is share and bond underwriting. Shares give investors a stake in the ownership of a company. Bonds, like loans, are a form of debt, but instead of borrowing from a bank the company issues the debt directly – a bit like an IOU, with the company promising to pay back the face value and periodic interest payments over an agreed period of time. When new bonds or shares are issued, investment banks play a key role in setting the price and assume (for a fee) the risk of bringing these products to market. This process is called "underwriting" and involves the banks initially buying up the newly issued shares and bonds and then selling them on to investors.

Investment banks arrange the sale of shares, which give investors a stake in the ownership of a company. The bank's role is temporary – once it has sold all of the shares that it has underwritten, these are no longer included on its balance sheet. However, the assistance provided by banks (or other financial institutions) in issuing shares and bonds is crucial, providing market access without which the sale of new shares or bonds could not happen.

Geographical scope

This report tracks financing for fossil fuels and industrial agriculture in the "Global South", which we have defined as comprising the 134 countries that make up the Group of 77 and China coalition at the United Nations.³⁵⁸

As many of the companies tracked in this report operate globally, geographic adjusters were applied to estimate the percentage of a company's operations in the Global South. In the case of oil and gas companies, these were calculated using data on reserves. In the case of industrial agriculture, no geographic



adjusters were calculated for the companies engaged primarily in the upstream production of agricultural products (meat production, palm oil, rubber, soybeans, sugar cane) since the company selections included mostly companies based in the Global South. However, geographic adjusters were calculated for companies engaged in the following sectors:

- Agrochemicals
- Animal pharma
- Seeds
- Commodity traders

As these companies are all engaged in agriculture production inputs or trade, the estimated geographic adjuster was based on the proportion of the global value of agricultural production in 2021 generated by the Global South based on FAOStat data. This was estimated to be 71%.

Sectors

A number of industrial agriculture companies are active in multiple sectors. To control for this, "segment adjusters" were calculated by Profundo so that the estimated financial flows to these companies only apply to the industrial agriculture share of their business.

In the case of industrial agriculture, segment adjusters were calculated for companies engaged in the following sectors:

- Animal pharma
- Agrochemicals
- Rubber
- Seeds

To the fullest extent possible, these segment adjusters use the segment reporting in annual reports, complemented by further information from company publications and websites and estimations where necessary.

No segment adjusters were applied to companies engaged primarily in the upstream production of agricultural products (meat production, palm oil, soybeans, sugar cane) or to agricultural commodity traders.

No segment adjusters were applied to the fossil fuel companies as these are primarily engaged in the fossil fuels.

Data sources, estimates and analysis

The underlying data on which this report is based was received from financial databases Bloomberg, Refinitiv, IJGlobal and TradeFinanceAnalytics. It was then analysed by ActionAid and Profundo. Where several banks jointly issue credit (syndicated loans) or act together to provide underwriting services, estimates have been made regarding each individual bank's commitments.

Financial institutions were given the opportunity to review data relevant to them.

It should be noted that the loans and underwriting reported in this report constitute financial flows to/ in support of the selected companies. Banks themselves report on the value of loans outstanding. This figure is lower than than the actual value of the original loan provided to the company. Underwriting services do not appear on the balance sheet of financial institutions, only on the income statement, as they receive fees from the services. Actual investment values (equity and corporate bonds) may have changed as a result of changes in the positions and/or price fluctuations.

Further methodology details can be found online at: https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/methodology-how-finance-flows



- 1. FAO (2018) The 10 Elements of Agroecology https://www.fao.org/agroecology/overview/overview10elements/en/
- IPCC (2022c) Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Working Group III contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_FullReport.pdf, p.750.
- 3. The sources and methodology behind these figures are explained in Annex I to the full report, which can be found at https://actionaid.org/ publications/2023/methodology-how-finance-flows
- 4. Sierra Club (2023) "Just 7% of global banks' energy financing goes to renewables, new data shows", https://www.sierraclub.org/pressreleases/2023/02/just-7-global-banks-energy-financing-goes-renewables-new-data-shows
- 5. See Milieudefensie (2021) "Guideline Note: Alternative Financing for Agroecology and Community-based Forest Management", https:// en.milieudefensie.nl/news/alternative-financing_guideline-note.pdf
- As with most "net zero" targets, the major banks' targets involve several loopholes. See ActionAid et al (2020) Not Zero https://actionaid.org/ publications/2020/not-zero-how-net-zero-targets-disguise-climate-inaction, Share Action (2022) In Debt to the Planet https://shareaction.org/ reports/in-debt-to-the-planet
- 7. Reclaim Finance et al. (2023a) "Coal Policy Tool", https://coalpolicytool.org/
- 8. Reclaim Finance et al. (2023b) "Oil and Gas Policy Tracker", https://oilgaspolicytracker.org/
- 9. Teske, S. et al. (ed) (2019) Achieving the Paris Climate Agreement Goals: Global and regional 100% renewable energy scenarios with non-energy GHG pathways for +1.5°C and +2°C, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-030-05843-2
- 10. ActionAid USA (2016) Power for the People https://www.actionaidusa.org/publications/power-people-delivering-promise-decentralizedcommunity-controlled-renewable-energy-access/
- Committee on World Food Security (2020) "CFS policy recommendations on agroecological and other innovative approaches for sustainable agriculture and food systems that enhance food security and nutrition", https://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs1920/Agroecology_an_ other_innovative/23_July_2020/1CFS_Agroecological_innovative_approaches.pdf
- 12. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report: Synthesis Report, https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6syr/pdf/IPCC_AR6_SYR_LongerReport.pdf pp. 12, 15
- 13. https://actionaid.org/news/2020/climate-migration-south-asia-set-treble-2050-due-political-inaction-global-warming
- 14. United Nations (2022) "Secretary-General's video message to the Petersberg Dialogue", 18 July, https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/ statement/2022-07-18/secretary-generals-video-message-the-petersberg-dialogue
- 15. United Nations (2022) Press Conference by Secretary-General António Guterres at United Nations Headquarters 27 July https://press.un.org/ en/2023/sgsm21893.doc.htm
- 16. IPCC (2023) p. 17
- 17. IPCC (2022a) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Working Group II Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change https://report.ipcc.ch/ar6/wg2/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FullReport.pdf p.11
- 18. IPCC (2022a), p. 53.
- 19. FAO (2012) Smallholders and Family Farmers: Factsheet, http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/nr/sustainability_pathways/docs/Factsheet_ SMALLHOLDERS.pdf
- UN Women (2018) Turning Promises into Action: Gender Equality in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, https://www.unwomen.org/ en/digital-library/publications/2018/2/gender-equality-in-the-2030-agenda-for-sustainable-development-2018
- 21. Neumayer, E. (2007) The gendered nature of natural disasters https://www.researchgate.net/publication/30523075_The_Gendered_Nature_of_ Natural_Disasters_The_Impact_of_Catastrophic_Events_on_the_Gender_Gap_in_Life_Expectancy_1981-2002
- 22. UNDP (2016) Overview of linkages between gender and climate change, https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/africa/ Policy-Brief-Overview-of-linkages-between-gender-and-climate-change.pdf
- 23. ActionAid (2016a) Hotter Planet, Humanitarian Crisis, https://actionaid.org/publications/2016/hotter-planet-humanitarian-crisis
- 24. ActionAid (2019a) Principles for a Just Transition in Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2019/principles-just-transition-agriculture
- 25. IASC (2020) Interim Guidance: Gender alert for Covid-19 outbreak, https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/inter-agency-standing-committee/ interim-guidance-gender-alert-covid-19-outbreak
- 26. World Bank (2016) Feminisation of Agriculture in the Context of Rural Transformations: What is the Evidence?, http://documents1.worldbank.org/ curated/en/790991487093210959/pdf/ACS20815-WP-PUBLIC-Feminization-of-AgricultureWorld-BankFAO-FINAL.pdf
- 27. ActionAid (2016b)
- 28. ActionAid (2016a)
- 29. ActionAid (2016b) Climate change knows no borders, https://actionaid.org/publications/2016/climate-change-knows-no-borders

FUND OUR FUTURE

- 30. ActionAid (2022) The Long Shadow of the Climate Crisis, https://actionaid.org/publications/2022/long-shadow-climate-crisis
- World Weather Attribution Group (2023) Human-induced climate change increased drought severity in Horn of Africa https://www. 31 worldweatherattribution.org/human-induced-climate-change-increased-drought-severity-in-southern-horn-of-africa/
- 32. IPCC (2023) p. 33: IPCC (2022b) Special Report, Global Warming of 1.5°C; Summary for Policymakers, https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/ p. 12
- 33. Guterres, A. (2023) "Secretary-General's video message to the Press Conference Launch of IPCC Report", 28 February, https://www.un.org/sg/en/ content/sg/statement/2022-02-28/secretary-generals-video-message-the-press-conference-launch-of-ipcc-report-scroll-down-for-languages
- Climate Action Tracker (2022) 2030 Emissions Gap: CAT projections and resulting emission gap in meeting the 1.5°C Paris Agreement goal 34. https://climateactiontracker.org/global/cat-emissions-gaps/
- SEI, IISD, ODI, Climate Analytics, CICERO, and UNEP (2019) The Production Gap: The discrepancy between countries' planned fossil fuel 35. production and global production levels consistent with limiting warming to 1.5°C or 2°C, https://productiongap.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/ Production-Gap-Report-2019.pdf p. 8
- Muttitt, G., H. Mckinnon, L. Stockman, S. Kretzmann, A. Scott and D. Turnbull (2016) The Sky's Limit: Why the Paris climate goals require a 36. managed decline of fossil fuel production. Oil Change International. https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2016/09/OCI the skys limit 2016 FINAL 2.pdf
- 37. IISD (2022) Navigating Energy Transitions: Mapping the road to 1.5°C, https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2022-10/navigating-energy-transitionsmapping-road-to-1.5.pdf
- Guterres (2023) 38
- IPCC (2022c) Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Working Group III contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the 39. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_FullReport.pdf , p.750. Terrestrial ecosystems (including agricultural land) absorb carbon, so the "net" total emissions from AFOLU is lower than the headline 13-21% figure, although precisely how much lower is difficult to calculate.
- 40. IPCC (2022c) pp. 750, 768, 771.
- World Animal Protection (2020) Big meat. Big bucks. Bigger harm. Animal welfare and European financial links with deforestation in the 41. Amazon and Cerrado, World Animal Animal Protection, https://www.worldanimalprotection.org/news/big-banks-funding-animal-cruelty-anddeforestation?hub=2184 p. 4
- CIEL (2022) Fossils, Fertilizers, and False Solutions: How Laundering Fossil Fuels in Agrochemicals Puts the Climate and the Planet at Risk, https:// 42. www.ciel.ora/reports/fossil-fertilizers/
- Getman-Pickering, Z., G. Stack and J. Thaler (2021) "Fertilizer quantity and type alter mycorrhizae-conferred growth and resistance to herbivores" 43. Journal of Applied Ecology Vol. 58.5, https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13833; Hannula, S. And E. Morriën (2022) "Will fungi solve the carbon dilemma?", Geoderma, Vol. 413, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2022.115767
- IPCC (2022c), p. 771 44.
- IPCC (2022c), p.797 45.
- 46. IPCC (2022c), p. 771
- Changing Markets Foundation and Institute for Agricultural and Trade Policy (2022) Emissions Impossible: How emissions from big meat and 47. dairy are heating up the planet, https://changingmarkets.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Emissions-Impossible-_Methane-Edition_FINALcompressed.pdf . p.5
- Kreier, F. (2022) "Transporting food generates whopping amounts of carbon dioxide", Nature July, https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-022-01766-48. 0; Li, M., Jia, N., Lenzen, M. et al. (2022) "Global food-miles account for nearly 20% of total food-systems emissions" Nature Food 3, 445–453, https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-022-00531-w
- IPCC (2022c) p. 750; Friends of the Earth Europe (2023) Banking on Destruction. The Human and Environmental Costs of Europe Financing 49. Industrial Animal Farming, https://friendsoftheearth.eu/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Banking-on-destruction.pdf, p.6
- CIEL (2022) 50.
- Gayle, D. (2022) "Carbon capture is not a solution to net zero emissions plans, report says", The Guardian 1 September, https://www.theguardian. 51. com/environment/2022/sep/01/carbon-capture-is-not-a-solution-to-net-zero-emissions-plans-report-says
- CIEL (2022) 52.
- Lakhani, N. (2023) "Is hydrogen really a clean enough fuel to tackle the climate crisis?" The Guardian 7 March, https://www.theguardian.com/ 53. environment/2023/mar/07/hydrogen-clean-fuel-climate-crisis-explained
- 54. IPCC (2022c)
- Gao, Y., Cabrera Serrenho, A. (2023) Greenhouse gas emissions from nitrogen fertilizers could be reduced by up to one-fifth of current levels by 55. 2050 with combined interventions. Nat Food 4, 170-178 https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-023-00698-w
- Menegat, S., Ledo, A. & Tirado, R. (2022) Greenhouse gas emissions from global production and use of nitrogen synthetic fertilisers in agriculture. 56. Sci Rep 12, 14490 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-18773-w
- 57 Greenfield, P. (2022) Deforestation emissions far higher than previously thought, study findss. The Guardian, 28th February. https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2022/feb/28/deforestation-emissions-far-higher-than-previously-thought-study-finds-aoe



- 58. Weisse, M. And Goldman, E. (2021) Just 7 commodities replaced an area of forest twice the size of Germany between 2001 and 2015, World Resources Institute, 11 February. https://www.wri.org/insights/just-7-commodities-replaced-area-forest-twice-size-germany-between-2001-and-2015#:~:text=Soy%20and%20Oil%20Palm%20Replaced%20Less%20Forests%20in%20Recent%20Years&text=In%20recent%20years%2C%20 soy%20and,forests%20than%20they%20have%20historically.
- Feng, Y., Zeng, Z., Searchinger, T.D. et al. (2022) Doubling of annual forest carbon loss over the tropics during the early twenty-first century. Nat 59. Sustain 5, 444-451. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-022-00854-3
- 60. Dangal, S.R.S. et al. (2019): Global nitrous oxide emissions from pasturelands and rangelands: Magnitude, spatiotemporal patterns, and attribution. Global Biogeochem. Cycles, 33, 200-222, doi:10.1029/2018GB006091.
- 61. Weisse, M. And Goldman, E. (2021) Just 7 commodities replaced an area of forest twice the size of Germany between 2001 and 2015, World Resources Institute, 11 February. https://www.wri.org/insights/just-7-commodities-replaced-area-forest-twice-size-germany-between-2001-and-2015#:~:text=Soy%20and%20Oil%20Palm%20Replaced%20Less%20Forests%20in%20Recent%20Years&text=In%20recent%20years%2C%20 soy%20and,forests%20than%20they%20have%20historically.
- 62. Epstein, P. et al. (2011) "Full cost accounting for the life cycle of coal", Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011 Feb 1219:73-98, https://DOI:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05890.x; Keating, M. (2001) Cradle to Grave: The Environmental Impacts from Coal, Clean Air Task Force, https://www.catf.us/wpcontent/uploads/2019/10/Cradle to Grave-300.pdf
- 63 Steffen W et al. (2017) Bisky Business: Health, Climate and Economic Bisks of the Carmichael Coalmine, Climate Council of Australia, https:// www.climatecouncil.org.au/uploads/5cb72fc98342cfc149832293a8901466.pdf, p.9
- 64. Meth, O. (2022) "Big oil is driving gender-based violence and femicide", Greenpeace, https://www.greenpeace.org/international/story/56944/bigoil-gender-violence-femicide-16-days-activism-south-africa/
- Earthworks (2006) "Oil and Gas Pollution", https://earthworks.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Oilandgaspollution.pdf 65
- Scott, A. and S. Pickard (2020) "FAQ 3: oil and gas, poverty, the environment and human rights", ODI, https://odi.org/en/about/our-work/climate-66. and-sustainability/faq-3-oil-and-gas-poverty-the-environment-and-human-rights/
- Saviotti-Orozco, D. (2021) Refinery Pollutants and their Effect on Public Health, https://pha.berkeley.edu/2021/04/11/refinery-pollutants-67. and-their-effect-on-public-health/; Epstein, P. and Selber, J. (2002) "Oil: A life cycle analysis of its health and environmental impacts", http:// oneplanetfellows.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/11680650/Oil_Impacts_full%20report.pdf
- 68. Mohai, P., D. Pellow, and J. Timmons Roberts (2009a) "Environmental Justice." Annual Review of Environment and Resources 34: 405–430, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-082508-094348 ; Achiume, E. Tendayi (2022) Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance: Ecological crisis, climate justice and racial justice, https://www.ohchr.org/en/ documents/thematic-reports/a77549-report-special-rapporteur-contemporary-forms-racial
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2011) Environmental Assessment of Ogoniland, https://www.unep.org/resources/report/ 69. environmental-assessment-ogoniland; Amnesty International et al. (2020) No Clean-Up, No Justice: An evaluation of the implementation of UNEP's environmental assessment of Ogoniland, nine years on, https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/afr44/2514/2020/en/
- 70. Meth (2022)
- Stern, J. (2021) "Pipeline of Violence: The Oil Industry and Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women", 28 May, https://lawblogs.uc.edu/ 71. ihrlr/2021/05/28/pipeline-of-violence-the-oil-industry-and-missing-and-murdered-indigenous-women/; Patil, L., S. Charles and O. Orielle Lake, (2021) The Gendered and Racial Impacts of the Fossil Fuel Industry in North America and Complicit Financial Institutions, WECAN, https://www. wecaninternational.org/divestment-report
- 72. UN Human Rights Council (2016), "Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, on her mission to South Africa in December 2015".
- Minerals Council of South Africa (2022) "Stop Abuse of Women", https://www.mineralscouncil.org.za/industry-news/publications/fact-sheets/ 73. send/3-fact-sheets/900-stop-abuse-of-women&usg=AOvVaw2RCFI9GHgho31_OhmYi0iw
- 74. Göldner, L. (2023) "The fossil fuel industry is inherently patriarchal and criminal", Greenpeace, 8 March, https://www.greenpeace.org/international/ story/58515/fossil-fuel-industry-inherently-patriarchal-criminal/; Johnstone, N. and M. Silva (2020) "Gender diversity in energy: what we know and what we don't know" IEA, 6 March, https://www.iea.org/commentaries/gender-diversity-in-energy-what-we-know-and-what-we-dont-know
- 75. Patil, Charles and Orielle Lake (2021) p.41
- 76. Patil, Charles and Orielle Lake (2021) p.39
- 77. ActionAid Australia (2018) Fuelling injustice: Women's rights and Australian coal mining in Africa, http://actionaid.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2018/08/Fuelling-inustice-Womens-rights-and-Australian-coal-mining-in-Africa.pdf
- ActionAid South Africa (2017), "Living Next Door to the Mine: Women's Struggles in Mining Affected Communities," http://www.actionaid.org/sites/ 78. files/actionaid/living_next_to_the_mine_womens_struggles.pdf
- UN FAO (2023) The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2023 https://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/cc3017en 79.
- Botreau, H. and M. Cohen (2019) "Gender Inequalities and Food Insecurity" Oxfam International, July, https://reliefweb.int/report/world/gender-80. inequalities-and-food-insecurity-ten-years-after-food-price-crisis-why-are-women
- Yadav, P. (2022) "66 Farmers have died by suicide this year so far, why doesn't it stop?" India Times, 26th August https://www.indiatimes.com/ 81. explainers/news/600-farmers-have-died-by-suicide-this-year-so-far-why-it-doesnt-stop-578047.html
- 82 ActionAid (2022) Doubly Devastating https://actionaid.org/publications/2022/doubly-devastating-local-communities-disproportionately-affectedfood-fuel-and



- 83. Wijeratna, A. (2019) PSA Policy Brief on Social Accountability of FISPS in Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania and Zambia https://copsam.com/wpcontent/uploads/2017/02/SAfAIDS_PSA_PolicyBrief_FISPs_FINAL.pdf ; ActionAid Malawi (2022) "Analysis of the 2022/23 draft National budget focusing on Agriculture"
- 84. Alex Wijeratna, A. (2019) "PSA Policy Brief on Social Accountability of FISPs in Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania and Zambia", https://copsam.com/ wp-content/uploads/2017/02/SAfAIDS_PSA_PolicyBrief_FISPs_FINAL.pdf
- Wijeratna, A. (2019) PSA Policy Brief on Social Accountability of FISPS in Malawi, Mozambique, Tanzania and Zambia https://copsam.com/wp-85. content/uploads/2017/02/SAfAIDS_PSA_PolicyBrief_FISPs_FINAL.pdf
- 86. ActionAid USA (2017) Get Big or Get Out https://www.actionaidusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Get-Big-or-Get-Out.pdf
- 87. Neudert, R. and Voget-Kleischin, L, MISERIOR (2021) What are the effects of large-scale land acquisitions in Africa on selected economic and social indicators?
- Sunderlin, W. and Holland, B. (2022) A historical perspective on land tenure security https://link.springer.com/ 88 chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-81881-4_2 : Land Matrix (public database on land deals) https://landmatrix.org/
- Neudert, R. and Voget-Kleischin, L, MISERIOR (2021) What are the effects of large-scale land acquisitions in Africa on selected economic and 89. social indicators? https://www.misereor.org/fileadmin/user_upload_misereororg/publication/en/foodsecurity/study-LSLA.pdf
- OECD (2019) Social Institutions and Gender Index, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/development/sigi-2019-global-report bc56d212-en?itemId=/ 90. content/component/6498ea10-en&_csp_=1f09e233a266df297e63e467be381349&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=chapter
- 91. Gaelano, L. (2012) Paraguay and the expansion of Brazilian and Argentinian agribusiness frontiers https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/271667754_Paraguay_and_the_expansion_of_Brazilian_and_Argentinian_agribusiness_frontiers ; Client Earth (2023) Agricultural giant Cargill faces legal complaint over deforestation and human rights failings in Brazil https://www.clientearth.org/latest/press-office/press/agriculturalgiant-cargill-faces-legal-complaint-over-deforestation-and-human-rights-failings-in-brazil/
- 92 Roy, I., Greenpeace Unearthed (2020) https://unearthed.greenpeace.org/2020/09/17/deforestation-covid-coronavirus-amazon-gran-chaco-indigenous/
- ActionAid (2013) From Marginalisation to Empowerment, https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/from_marginalisation_to_empowerment_final_ 93. research_report.pdf
- 94. Heinrich Böll Foundation et al (2022) Pesticide Atlas https://eu.boell.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/pesticideatlas2022_ii_web_20230331.pdf
- 95. IPBES (2019) Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystems Services https://www.ipbes.net/sites/default/files/inline/files/ipbes_ global assessment report summary for policymakers.pdf
- Heinrich Böll Foundation et al (2022) Pesticide Atlas, https://eu.boell.org/sites/default/files/2023-04/pesticideatlas2022_ii_web_20230331.pdf 96.
- 97. Spring, J. (2021) "Bunge bought soy from biggest destroyers of Brazillian savannah in 2020" Reuters, 30th March https://www.reuters.com/article/ us-brazil-environment-agriculture-idUSKBN2BM203
- 98. Friends of the Earth US & Rede Social (2022) Industrial Soy Expansion in Brazil https://foe.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/ IndustrialSoyExpansion.Brazil.FoE-final.pdf
- Original interviews in Portuguese were recorded for the podcast series produced by Rede Social de Justiça e Direitos Humanos and Comissão 99 Pastoral da Terra, Aqui é o Meu Lugar: https://www.social.org.br/livros-2/37-podcasts/246-podcast-aqui-e-o-meu-lugar-resistencia-dascomunidades-rurais-aos-impactos-do-agronegocio
- 100. Ibid.
- 101. Friends of the Earth and Rede Social (2022) Industrial Soy Expansion in Brazil: Financialisation, deforestation and dispossession in the birthplace of waters https://foe.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/IndustrialSoyExpansion.Brazil.FoE-final.pdf
- 102. Bunge (2022) "Bunge Surpasses Non-Deforestation and Sustainability Targets in Indirect Supply Chains in South America" 24th May https:// investors.bunge.com/investors/news-and-events/press-releases/year/2022/05-24-2022
- 103. Friends of the Earth International (2021) A Just Recovery Renewable Energy Plan for Africa https://www.foei.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/ Friends-of-the-Earth-Just-Recovery-Renewable-Energy-Plan-for-Africa-2021.pdf
- 104. Reclaim Finance (2022) Who is financing fossil fuel expansion in Africa? https://reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/2022.11.15_ Urgewald_Who-is-Financing-Fossil-Fuels-in-Africa.pdf
- 105. ActionAid (2023) The Vicious Cycle: connections between the debt crisis and the climate crisis https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/viciouscycle; IPES-Food (2023) Breaking the cycle of unsustainable food systems, hunger and debt http://www.ipes-food.org/pages/debtfoodcrisis
- 106. ActionAid (2023) The Vicious Cycle: connections between the debt crisis and the climate crisis https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/vicious-cycle
- 107. ActionAid (2023) The Vicious Cycle: connections between the debt crisis and the climate crisis https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/vicious-cycle
- 108. Sokona, Y. et al (2023) Just Transition: A climate, energy and development vision for Africa https://www.powershiftafrica.org/storage/publications/ Just-Transition-Africa-report-ENG_single-pages_1685021139.pdf
- 109. Don't Gas Africa and the Fossil Fuel Non Proliferation Treaty (2022a) The Fossil Fuelled Fallacy: How the Dash for Gas in Africa will fail to deliver development https://static1.squarespace.com/static/62e211040c9b6758fb1d3467/t/636f503f9b084867049ec7eb/1668239696064/ Fossil+Fuelled+Fallacv+Report
- 110. Don't Gas Africa et al (2022b) An open letter to all African Heads of State and Ministers https://dont-gas-africa.org/open-letter


- 111. Don't Gas Africa (2022a)
- 112. Oil Change International (2021) The Sky's Limit Africa: The Case for a just energy transition from fossil fuel production in Africa http://priceofoil.org/content/
- 113. uploads/2021/10/Skys-Limit-Africa-Report-2021.pdf
- 114. Oil Change International (2021)
- 115. Don't Gas Africa et al (2022a)
- 116. Hansen, T. A. (2022). Stranded assets and reduced profits: Analyzing the economic underpinnings of the fossil fuel industry's resistance to climate stabilization. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 158, 112144.
- 117. Ran et al (2023) Banking on Climate Chaos: Fossil fuel finance report 2023 https://www.bankingonclimatechaos.org/
- 118. MISERIOR (2021) What are the effects of large-scale land acquisitions in Africa on selected economic and social indicators? https://www. misereor.org/fileadmin/user_upload_misereororg/publication/en/foodsecurity/study-LSLA.pdf Rainforest Action Network, Banktrack, Indigenous Environment Network, Oilchange International, Reclaim Finance, Sierra Club and Urgewald (2023), Banking on Climate Chaos: Fossil Fuel Finance report 2023, https://www.bankingonclimatechaos.org/ . See Global Witness (2021) Deforestation dividends: How global banks profit from rainforest destruction and human rights abuses, https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/forests/deforestation-dividends/; Reclaim Finance et al. (2022) The Asset Managers Fueling Climate Chaos, https://reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Asset_Manager_Climate_ Scorecard_2022.pdf ; Private Equity Stakeholder Project and Americans for Financial Reform Education Fund (2022) Private Equity Climate Risks 2022: Scorecard and Report, https://www.peclimaterisks.org/1039-2/
- 119. Oxfam (2023) Climate Finance Shadow Report 2023, https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/climate-finance-shadow-report-2023-621500/, p.3
- 120. Centre for Research on Energy and Clean Air (2023) China permits two new coal power plants per week in 2022, https://energyandcleanair.org/ publication/china-permits-two-new-coal-power-plants-per-week-in-2022/
- 121. Yi, S. (2021) "China to stop building new coal power projects overseas" China Dialogue 21 September, https://chinadialogue.net/en/energy/chinato-stop-building-new-coal-power-projects-overseas/
- 122. Zhang, B., S. Bai and N. Yadong (2021) "Embodied Energy in Export Flows Along Global Value Chain: A Case Study of China's Export Trade" Frontiers in Energy Research Vol. 9, https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2021.649163
- 123. Centre for Research on Energy and Clean Air (2022) China's Climate Transition: Outlook 2022, https://energyandcleanair.org/publication/chinasclimate-transition-outlook-2022/
- 124. United Nations' High Level Expert Group (HLEG) on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities (2022) Integrity Matters: Net Zero Commitments by Businesses, Financial Institutions, Cities and Regions https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/high-level_expert_group_n7b.pdf
- 125. ActionAid et al (2020) Net Zero is Not Zero https://actionaid.org/publications/2020/not-zero-how-net-zero-targets-disguise-climate-inaction
- 126. ActionAid (2021) Not-their-lands: The land impact of Royal Dutch Shell's net zero climate target https://actionaid.org/publications/2021/not-theirlands-land-impact-royal-dutch-shells-net-zero-climate-target
- 127. ActionAid USA (2019) BECCS: A dangerous distraction https://www.actionaidusa.org/publications/beccs-a-dangerous-distraction/
- 128. United Nations' High Level Expert Group (HLEG) on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities (2022) Integrity Matters: Net Zero Commitments by Businesses, Financial Institutions, Cities and Regions https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/high-level_expert_group_n7b.pdf
- 129. Reclaim Finance (2023) Throwing Fuel on the Fire: GFANZ members provide billions in finance for fossil fuel expansion https://reclaimfinance.org/ site/en/2023/01/17/throwing-fuel-on-the-fire-gfanz-members-provide-billions-in-finance-for-fossil-fuel-expansion/
- 130. When we describe the relative size of banks this measurement is according to their total assets. See SP Global (2023) "The world's 100 largest banks, 2023", S&P Global Market Intelligence, 26 April, https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/research/the-world-s-100largest-banks-2023 ; Rainforest Action Network et al. (2023), pp.10-11.
- 131. Barclays (2022) "Barclays' Climate Strategy, Targets and Progress 2022", https://home.barclays/content/dam/home-barclays/documents/ citizenship/Sustainability/Barclays-Climate-Strategy-Targets-and-Progress-2022-Final.pdf; Banktrack (2022a) "Barclays is big on beef and burning" https://www.banktrack.org/blog/barclays_is_big_on_beef_and_burning
- 132. Rainforest Action Network et al. (2023), pp. 10-11
- 133. Banktrack (2022b) Locked out of a Just Transition: Fossil Fuel Financing in Africa, https://www.banktrack.org/download/locked out of a just transition_fossil_fuel_financing_in_africa/07_md_banktrack_fossil_fuels_africa_rpt_hr_1.pdf , p. 5
- 134. Barclays (2023) "Climate Change Statement", https://home.barclays/content/dam/home-barclays/documents/citizenship/ESG/2022/Barclays-Climate-Change-Statement-2023.pdf
- 135. Barclays (2023); Reclaim Finance (2023) "Barclays' new oil and gas policy not fit for purpose", https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2023/02/15/ barclays-new-oil-and-gas-policy-not-fit-for-purpose/
- 136. Barclays (2020) "Barclays Forestry and Agricultural Commodities Statement", https://home.barclays/content/dam/home-barclays/documents/ citizenship/our-reporting-and-policy-positions/Forestry-and-Agricultural-Commodities-Statement.pdf
- 137. Gatti, R. And A. Velichevskaya (2020) "Certified "sustainable" palm oil took the place of endangered Bornean and Sumatran large mammals habitat and tropical forests in the last 30 years" Science of the Total Environment vol. 742 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140712; Schilling-Vacaflor, A., A. Lenschow, E. Challies, B. Cotta and J. Newig (2021) "Contextualizing certification and auditing: Soy certification and access of local communities to land and water in Brazil", World Development 140, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105281 ; Morgans et al. 2018; Greenpeace (2021) Destruction: Certified, https://www.greenpeace.org/static/planet4-international-stateless/2021/04/b1e486be-greenpeaceinternational-report-destruction-certified_finaloptimised.pdf, p.12

- 138. Jessop, S. and T. Wilkes (2023) "Barclays toughens deforestation rules for beef sector clients" Reuters 3 May, https://www.reuters.com/business/ sustainable-business/barclays-toughens-deforestation-rules-beef-sector-clients-2023-05-03/
- 139. Banktrack, AFIEGO, Inclusive Development International (2022) "TotalEnergies East African pipeline breaches international environmental and human rights standards" https://www.banktrack.org/article/totalenergies_east_african_pipeline_breaches_international_environmental_and_ human_rights_standards
- 140. Banktrack (2022b), p.55
- 141. Elwin P. and A. Foulger A. (2023) Hot Money: 40 financial institutions are funding a climate-changing agri-methane footprint, Planet Tracker, https:// planet-tracker.org/report/hot-money/, p. 14; Wasley, A., A. Heal, A. Campos, P. Locatelli and D. Phillips (2020) "Brazilian meat giant trucked cattle from deforested Amazon ranch", The Bureau of Investigative Journalism 27 July, https://www.thebureauinvestigates.com/stories/2020-07-27/ brazilian-meat-giant-jbs-trucked-cattle-from-deforested-amazon-ranch ; Global Witness (2022) Cash Cow: How beef giant JBS's links to Amazon deforestation and human rights abuses is aided by UK, EU and US financiers, importers and supermarkets, https://www.globalwitness.org/en/ campaigns/forests/cash-cow/ Garcia, M., G. Rijk and M. Piotrowski (2020) Key Cerrado Deforesters in 2020 Linked to the Clearing of More Than 110,000 Hectares, https://chainreactionresearch.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Key-Cerrado-Deforesters-Linked-to-the-Clearing-of-Morethan-110000-Hectares.pdf
- 142. Global Witness (2021a) Seeds of Conflict: How global commodity traders contribute to human rights abuses in Brazil's soy sector, https://www. globalwitness.org/documents/20216/Seeds_of_Conflict_-_November_2021.pdf; Global Witness (2020) Trading Risks: How ADM & Bunge are failing Land & Environmental Defenders in Indonesia, https://www.globalwitness.org/documents/20068/GW_Trading_Risks_Indonesia_EN_ download.pdf
- 143. SP Global 2023.
- 144. BNP Paribas (2022a) Climate Analytics and Alignment Report, https://group.bnpparibas/uploads/file/bnpp_climateanalytics_alignmentreport_final.pdf
- 145. Reclaim Finance (2022) Baby steps for the climate https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2022/05/03/bnp-paribas-baby-steps-for-the-climate/ ; Reclaim Finance (2021a) BNP Paribas: stop the deforestation, https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2021/01/11/bnp-paribas-stop-the-deforestation/
- 146. Amis de la Terre, Notre Affaire à Tous and Oxfam France (2023) The BNP Paribas Case: taking a funder of climate chaos to court, https://www. amisdelaterre.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/dp-affaire-bnp-en-def-bd.pdf
- 147. RAN et al. (2023), p.10.
- 148. Reclaim Finance (2020) Coal: BNP Paribas Close to Adopting Global Exit Policy https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2020/07/22/coal-bnp-paribasadopting-global-exit-policy/
- 149. BNP Paribas (2023) "Sector Policy Oil and gas", 10 May, https://cdn-group.bnpparibas.com/uploads/file/bnpparibas_csr_sector_policy_oil_gas.pdf
- 150. Martin, R. (2023) "BNP Paribas Exits Bond Arranging for New Oil, Gas Ventures" Bloomberg 7 June, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2023-06-07/bnp-paribas-exits-bond-arranging-for-new-oil-gas-ventures
- 151. BNP Paribas (2021) "Sector Policy Agriculture", https://group.bnpparibas/uploads/file/position_paper_soft_commodities_format_corporate_final.pdf
- 152. Amnesty International et al. (2020); Amnesty International (2017) A Criminal Enterprise? Shell's involvement in Human Rights Violations in Nigeria in the 1990s, https://www.amnesty.org/en/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/AFR4473932017ENGLISH.pdf
- 153. Banktrack (2022b), p. 51, https://www.banktrack.org/project/nigeria_lng_limited
- 154. Banktrack (2022b), p. 51
- 155. Jordan, L., A. Ross, E. Howard, A. Heal, A. Wasley, P. Thomas and A. Milliken (2020) "Cargill: the company feeding the world by helping destroy the planet" Unearthed 25 November, https://unearthed.greenpeace.org/2020/11/25/cargill-deforestation-agriculture-history-pollution/;
- 156. Jordan, L., A. Wasley, E. Mendonça, L. Slattery (2022) "Agribusiness giant again linked to Amazon deforestation" Unearthed 14 January, https:// unearthed.greenpeace.org/2022/01/14/agribusiness-giant-c ; Global Witness (2021a), Client Earth (2023) Agricultural giant Cargill faces legal complaint over deforestation and human rights failings in Brazil https://www.clientearth.org/latest/press-office/press/agricultural-giant-cargill-faces-legal-complaint-over-deforestation-and-human-rights-failings-in-brazil/ Forests & Finance (2022a) "BNP Paribas warned over role in financing deforestation and rights violations" 17 October, https://forestsandfinance.org/news/bnp-paribas-warned-over-role-in-financing-deforestation-andrights-violations/cargill-amazon-deforestation/; Comissão Pastoral da Terra and Notre Affaire à Tous (2023) "NGOs file second complaint against BNP Paribas", 27 February, https://www.banktrack.org/article/ngos_file_complaint_against_bnp_paribas
- 157. SP Global (2023)
- 158. Isjwara, R. (2021) "HSBC growth plans center around 'pivot to Asia' strategy", S&P Global 23 February, https://www.spglobal.com/ marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/hsbc-growth-plans-center-around-pivot-to-asia-strategy-62798609
- 159. HSBC (2022a) "HSBC Energy Policy". https://www.hsbc.com/-/files/hsbc/our-approach/risk-and-responsibility/pdfs/221214-hsbc-energy-policy. pdf?download=1
- 160. HSBC (2022b) HSBC Thermal Coal Phase Out Policy, https://www.hsbc.com/-/files/hsbc/our-approach/risk-and-responsibility/pdfs/221214hsbc-thermal-coal-phase-out-policy.pdf; Reclaim Finance (2021b) "HSBC fails to blacklist all coal expansionists", https://reclaimfinance.org/site/ en/2021/12/14/hsbc-fails-to-blacklist-all-coal-expansionists/
- 161. Forests & Finance (2022b) Policy Assessment 2022: Is your money destroying rainforests or violating rights? https://forestsandfinance.org/wpcontent/uploads/2022/10/FF2022-policy-briefer.pdf, p. 10
- 162. Environmental Paper Network (2021a) "HSBC", Accessed 25 April 2023, https://environmentalpaper.org/hsbc/
- 163. Banktrack (2022c) The Banktrack Global Human Rights Benchmark 2022, https://www.banktrack.org/download/global human rights benchmark_2022/global_human_rights_benchmark_2022_2.pdf pp.64-65



- 164. Banktrack (2023a), "OLAM", Accessed 25 April 2023 https://www.banktrack.org/company/olam
- 165. Global Witness (2021a), 10; Banktrack (2022d) "Marfrig", Accessed 25 April 2023 https://www.banktrack.org/company/mafrig ; Banktrack (2022e); "Minerva Foods", Accessed 25 April 2023 https://www.banktrack.org/company/minerva_foods
- 166. Banktrack (2022b), pp. 46-48
- 167. Banktrack (2022b), p. 47
- 168. SP Global (2023)
- 169. Bank of America (2022) "Environmental and Social Risk Policy Framework", https://about.bankofamerica.com/content/dam/about/pdfs/ESRPF_ ADA_Tagged_Secure_June_2022_Final.pdf
- 170. RAN et al. (2023), pp.10-11.
- 171. Bank of America (2022), Reclaim Finance et al. (2023b) "Oil and Gas Policy Tracker", Accessed 30 April 2023, https://oilgaspolicytracker.org/
- 172. Bank of America (2022): Reclaim Finance (2021c) Bank of America fails coal policy test https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2021/02/12/bank-ofamerica-fails-the-coal-policy-test/.
- 173. Bank of America (2022), pp. 10-11).
- 174. Bank of America (2022), p. 14)
- 175. Banktrack (2022c), p.65
- 176. Global Oil & Gas Exit List (GOGEL) (2023) Greater Tortue Ahmeyim Project, https://gogel.org/greater-tortue-ahmeyim-project ; Jones, S. and E. Howard (2021) "BP's big new gas plans in West Africa pose climate and biodiversity threats" Unearthed 21 June, https://unearthed.greenpeace. org/2021/06/21/bp-gas-west-africa-senegal-mauritania-coral-reef/ ; Toto, E. (2023) "Win for science as BP pressured into cleaning up offshore gas plans" MongaBay 9 February, https://news.mongabay.com/2023/02/win-for-science-as-bp-pressured-into-cleaning-up-offshore-gas-plans/
- 177. Mednick, S. (2023) "Communities can fall apart': Senegal gas project drives locals to desperation" Associated Press 14 April, https://www. euronews.com/green/2023/04/14/communites-can-fall-apart-senegal-gas-project-drives-locals-to-desperation
- 178. Sguazzin, A. (2020) "The World's Biggest Emitter of Greenhouse Gases" Bloomberg 17 March, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ features/2020-03-17/south-africa-living-near-the-world-s-biggest-emitting-plant#xj4y7vzkg?leadSource=uverify%20wall
- 179. Just Share (2022) Briefings: Sasol's climate and air quality disclosures, https://justshare.org.za/media/news/climate-change/briefings-sasolsclimate-and-air-quality-disclosures/
- 180. Bega, S. (2022) "Sasol in the dock for environmental degradation at Secunda, polluting the Vaal River" Mail & Guardian 26 August, https://mg.co. za/environment/2022-08-26-sasol-in-the-dock-for-environmental-degradation-at-secunda-polluting-the-vaal-river/
- 181. ETC Group (2022) Food Barons 2022: Mapping Corporate Power in Big Food, https://www.etcgroup.org/content/food-barons-2022, p. 16
- 182. Shield, C. (2021) "Who controls the world's food supply?" DW 8 April, https://www.dw.com/en/agriculture-seeds-seed-laws-agribusinessesclimate-change-food-security-seed-sovereignty-bayer/a-57118595
- 183. Reisdorf, P. (2022) "Bayer Faces Protests Across Latin America for Selling Pesticides Banned in Europe" CorpWatch 19 August, https://www. corpwatch.org/article/baver-faces-protests-across-latin-america-selling-pesticides-banned-europe
- 184. Clausing, P., L. Luig, J. Urhahn and W. Beushausen (2022) "Double Standards and Hazardous Pesticides from Baver and BASF- A glimpse behind the scenes of the international trade in pesticide active ingredients, https://www.rosalux.de/fileadmin/images/publikationen/Studien/Double_ Standards_and_Hazardous_Pesticides_ENG_20210422.pdf
- 185. Clausing et al. (2021); Dowler, C. (2020) "Revealed: The pesticide giants making billions on toxic and bee-harming chemicals" Unearthed 20 February, https://unearthed.greenpeace.org/2020/02/20/pesticides-croplife-hazardous-bayer-syngenta-health-bees/; Greenpeace (2020) EU-Mercosur: Double standards concerning agrotoxics. How the EU and German companies profit from the sale of pesticides detrimental to biodiversity, https://www.greenpeace.de/publikationen/eu_mercosur_double_standards_concerning_agrotoxics_2020.pdf
- 186. Business & Human Rights Resource Centre (BHRRC) (2018) "India: FAO/WHO monitoring mechanism failed to address mismanagement of pesticides by co's, says civil society", 12 June, https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/latest-news/india-faowho-monitoring-mechanism-failedto-address-mismanagement-of-pesticides-by-cos-says-civil-society/ ; Clausing et al. (2021).
- 187. Global Witness (2021a)
- 188. Global Witness (2020)
- 189. SP Global (2023)
- 190. RAN et al. (2023), pp.10-11
- 191. Citi (2023) "Environmental and Social Policy Framework", https://www.citigroup.com/rcs/citigpa/akpublic/storage/public/Environmental-and-Social-Policy-Framework.pdf
- 192. Citigroup (2023).
- 193. Reclaim Finance (2021d) "Citi becomes the first US bank to announce a partial coal phase-out", https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2021/03/16/citibecomes-the-first-us-bank-to-announce-a-partial-coal-phase-out/

- 194. Citigroup (2023), p.21
- 195. Citigroup (2023), pp. 22
- 196. Davey, E. (2022) "Major Banks support rainforest oil project despite problems" The Independent 4 November, https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/ap-citibank-london-citi-jpmorgan-b2217725.html
- 197. Citigroup (2023), pp.20-21
- 198. Banktrack 2022c, pp. 65-66
- 199. ClientEarth (2021) "Greenwashing Files: Aramco", https://www.clientearth.org/projects/the-greenwashing-files/aramco/
- 200. ClientEarth (2021); Climate Action 100+ (2022) "Company Assessment: Saudi Arabian Oil Company (Aramco)", https://www.climateaction100.org/ company/saudi-arabian-oil-company-aramco/; Oil Change International (2022) Recent and Anticipated Final Investment Decisions for New Oil and Gas Production beyond the 1.5°C Limit, https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2022/11/Investing_In_Disaster.pdf , p.10
- 201. Muttitt, G. and C. McKinnon (2017) Overheated Expectations: Valuing Saudi Aramco's IPO in light of climate change, http://priceofoil.org/content/ uploads/2017/08/Overheating-Expectations.pdf, p. 2
- 202. Freedom House (2023) Global Freedom Status / Saudi Arabia https://freedomhouse.org/country/saudi-arabia/freedom-world/2023
- 203. Amnesty International (2023) "Saudi Arabia: Aramco's profits, the largest ever by a company, should support funding a global transition to renewable energy", 12 March, https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2023/03/saudi-arabia-aramcos-profits-the-largest-ever-by-a-companyshould-support-funding-a-global-transition-to-renewable-energy/
- 204. Banktrack (2022f) "Exxon", Accessed 29 April 2023, https://www.banktrack.org/company/exxonmobil ; Greenpeace (2016) Exxon's Climate Denial History: A Timeline, Accessed 29 April 2023, https://www.greenpeace.org/usa/fighting-climate-chaos/exxon-and-the-oil-industry-knew-aboutclimate-crisis/exxons-climate-denial-history-a-timeline/; Oil Change International (2022) Big Oil Reality Check: Updated Assessment of Oil and Gas Company Climate Plans, https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2022/05/big_oil_reality_check_22_final.pdf, pp.19-20
- 205. Carrington, D. And M. Taylor (2022) "Revealed: the 'carbon bombs' set to trigger catastrophic climate breakdown" The Guardian 11 May, https:// www.theguardian.com/environment/ng-interactive/2022/may/11/fossil-fuel-carbon-bombs-climate-breakdown-oil-gas
- 206. Global Oil & Gas Exit List (GOGEL) (2022a) "Cabo Delgado, Mozambique: A Resource-Rich War Zone" Accessed 29 April 2023, https://gogel.org/ cabo-delgado-mozambique-resource-rich-war-zone
- 207. Barrett, J. and T. Westbrook (2019) "In Papua New Guinea, Exxon's giant LNG project fuels frustration" Reuters 18 January, https://www.reuters. com/article/us-papua-Ing-exxon-%20mobil-insight/in-papua-new-guinea-exxons-giant-Ing-project-%20fuels-frustration-idUSKCN1PA32M
- 208. SP Global (2023)
- 209. Morris, S., K. Bryan and O. Walker (2022) "US banks threaten to leave Mark Carney's green alliance over legal risks" Financial Times 21 September, https://www.ft.com/content/0affebaa-c62a-49d1-9b44-b9d27f0b5600
- 210. RAN et al. (2023), p. 4
- 211. RAN et al. (2023), 10-11).
- 212. Banktrack (2022b), p.5
- 213. JPMorgan Chase (2021) "Environmental and Social Policy Framework", https://www.jpmorganchase.com/content/dam/jpmc/jpmorgan-chaseand-co/documents/environmental-and-social-policy-framework.pdf
- 214. Reclaim Finance et al. (2023b) "Oil and Gas Policy Tracker". Accessed 30 April 2023. https://oilgaspolicytracker.org/
- 215. JPMorgan Chase (2021), p.6
- 216. JPMorgan Chase (2021) p.9
- 217. BankTrack (2022c) pp. 66-67
- 218. Carrington and Taylor (2022), Banktrack (2022g) "Exposed: Western banks funding Qatar's carbon bombs" 8 December, https://www.banktrack. org/blog/exposed_western_banks_funding_qatar_s_carbon_bombs
- 219. Al Sayegh, H. and D. Barbuscia (2019) "Saudi Aramco gives nine banks top roles on world's biggest IPO: sources" Reuters 11 September, https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-aramco-ipo-banks-idUSKCN1VW1PO; Reuters (2020) "Saudi Aramco raises IPO to record \$29.4 billion by overallotment of shares" Reuters 12 January, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-saudi-aramco-stocks-idUSKBN1ZB03D
- 220. Jordan et al. (2020), Jordan et al. (2022)
- 221. SP Global (2023)
- 222. Industrial & Commercial Bank of China (ICBC) (2022) "Particulars of Shareholding of the Top 10 Ordinary Shareholders of the Bank (As at 31 December 2021)", https://www.icbc-ltd.com/ICBCLtd/Investor%20Relations/Share%20Information/Shareholding%20Structure/
- 223. Go Clean ICBC (2021a) "ICBC In-Depth", https://gocleanicbc.org/why/icbc-in-depth/
- 224. Reclaim Finance et al. (2023a) "Coal Policy Tool", Accessed 30 April 2023, https://coalpolicytool.org/; Reclaim Finance et al. (2023b)
- 225. Global Witness (2021b) Under the spotlight: Chinese banks' risky agribusiness portfolio, https://www.globalwitness.org/documents/20149/Under the_Spotlight_-_Chinese_Banks_Risky_Agribusiness_Portfolio_-_June_2021.pdf, p.3



- 226. Banktrack (2022c), p.15; Environmental Paper (2021b) "Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (ICBC)", Accessed 30 April 2023, https://environmentalpaper.org/industrial-and-commercial-bank-of-china-icbc/
- 227. Business & Human Rights Resource Centre (2021) "Going out" responsibly: The Human Rights Impact of China's Global Investments, https:// media.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/2021_BHRRC_China_Briefing.pdf, p.38
- 228. Wang, C. And X. Bing (2022) "Interpretation: New CBIRC "Green Finance Guidelines for the Banking and Insurance Industry" 14 July, https:// greenfdc.org/interpretation-new-cbirc-green-finance-guidelines-for-the-banking-and-insurance-industry/
- 229. Wang, C. (2022) "Interpretation of the 2022 "Guidelines for Ecological Environmental Protection of Foreign Investment Cooperation and Construction Projects", 18 January, https://greenfdc.org/interpretation-2022-guidelines-ecological-environmental-protection-of-foreign-investment-cooperation-and-construction-projects/
- 230. Go Clean ICBC (2021b) "Case Studies", https://gocleanicbc.org/why/coal-projects/; Market Forces 2021).
- 231. Go Clean ICBC (2021b); Warmerdam, W. (2022) ICBC Renewable Energy Investments: Does the practice live up to the promise?, https://gocleanicbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/ICBCreport-22-01-2023.pdf, p. 2).
- 232. Blackridge (2022) "Global Top 10 Oil and Gas Companies [2022]", https://www.blackridgeresearch.com/blog/global-top-biggest-largest-leadingindependent-integrated-oil-and-gas-companies-producers-suppliers-in-the-world
- 233. Human Rights Watch (2021) "'Break Their Lineage, Break Their Roots': China's Crimes against Humanity Targeting Uyghurs and Other Turkic Muslims", 19 April, https://www.hrw.org/report/2021/04/19/break-their-lineage-break-their-roots/chinas-crimes-against-humanity-targeting
- 234. Global Oil & Gas Exit List (GOGEL) (2022b) "Oil Production in Xinjiang, China", https://gogel.org/oil-production-xinjiang-china
- 235. Stop EACOP (2022) "Don't Bank on EACOP: Who's backing the pipeline and who's ruled it out?" Accessed 30 April 2023, https://www. stopeacop.net/banks-checklist
- 236. Global Witness (2021b), p.4
- 237. Global Witness (2021b), p.6; Wasley, A., A. Heal, A. Campos and D. Camargos (2021) "Loophole lets soya farmers tear down the Amazon", The Bureau of Investigative Journalism 19 May, https://www.thebureauinvestigates.com/stories/2021-05-19/loophole-lets-soya-farmers-tear-downthe-amazon
- 238. SP Global (2023)
- 239. Reclaim Finance et al. (2023a, 2023b).
- 240. https://forestsandfinance.org/bank-profile/?bank=CITIC
- 241. 2021 https://environmentalpaper.org/china-citic-bank-corp-ltd/
- 242. Wang, C. (2022) "Interpretation of the 2022 "Guidelines for Ecological Environmental Protection of Foreign Investment Cooperation and Construction Projects", 18 January, https://greenfdc.org/interpretation-2022-guidelines-ecological-environmental-protection-of-foreign-investmentcooperation-and-construction-projects/ ; Wang, C. And X. Bing (2022) "Interpretation: New CBIRC "Green Finance Guidelines for the Banking and Insurance Industry" 14 July, https://greenfdc.org/interpretation-new-cbirc-green-finance-guidelines-for-the-banking-and-insurance-industry/
- 243. ETC Group (2022), p.16
- 244. ETC Group (2022), p.14
- 245. Tostado, L. and S. Bollmohr (eds.) (2022) Pesticides Atlas, https://eu.boell.org/en/PesticideAtlas p.13
- 246. Dowler, C. and L. Gaberell (2021) "The Paraquat Papers: How Syngenta's bad science helped keep the world's deadliest weedkiller on the market "Unearthed 24 March, https://unearthed.greenpeace.org/2021/03/24/paraquat-papers-syngenta-toxic-pesticide-gramoxone/
- 247. Dowler, C. and L. Gaberell (2021) "The Paraquat Papers: How Syngenta's bad science helped keep the world's deadliest weedkiller on the market "24 March, https://unearthed.greenpeace.org/2021/03/24/paraquat-papers-syngenta-toxic-pesticide-gramoxone/
- Dowler, C. and L. Gaberell (2021); Gillam, C. and A. Uteova (2022) "Secret files suggest chemical giant feared weedkiller's link to Parkinson's disease" The Guardian 20 October, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2022/oct/20/syngenta-weedkiller-pesticide-parkinsons-diseaseparaquat-documents
- 249. European Center for Constitutional and Human Rights (ECCHR) (2016) Syngenta pesticides endanger farmers and plantation workers, https:// www.ecchr.eu/en/case/syngenta-pesticides-endanger-farmers-and-plantation-workers/; ECCHR (2015) "The facts about pesticides in Punjab: users speak out. Report on Bayer and Syngenta submitted to the United Nation's Panel of Experts on Pesticide Management", https://www.ecchr. eu/fileadmin/Juristische_Dokumente/CaseReport_Pesticides_IndiaPunjab_FAO_20151009.pdf
- 250. Dowler, C. (2020) "Revealed: The pesticide giants making billions on toxic and bee-harming chemicals" Unearthed 20 February https://unearthed. greenpeace.org/2020/02/20/pesticides-croplife-hazardous-bayer-syngenta-health-bees/ ; FAO and WHO (2019) Detoxifying agriculture and health from highly hazardous pesticides - A call for action, p.9
- 251. Public Eye (2020) "Toxic exports: a Syngenta pesticide banned in Switzerland pollutes drinking water in Brazil", 9 January, https://www.publiceye. ch/en/media-corner/press-releases/detail/toxic-exports-a-syngenta-pesticide-banned-in-switzerland-pollutes-drinking-water-in-brazil
- Olcott, E. (2022) "China Ramps Up Coal Power to Boost Post-Lockdown Growth" Financial Times 16 June, https://www.ft.com/ content/68bc7f20-e5f9-4532-bb0f-4820783de2c2
- 253. Olcott (2022).



254. SP Global (2023)

- 255. MUFG (2021) "Carbon Neutrality Declaration", https://www.mufg.jp/english/csr/environment/cnd/index.html
- 256. MUFG (2022) "Environmental and Social Policy Framework", https://www.mufg.jp/english/csr/policy/index.html
- 257. MUFG (2022).
- 258. Rainforest Action Network, TuK Indonesia and Jikalahari (2021) "White Paper on MUFG Forest-Sector Financing", https://forestsandfinance.org/ wp-content/uploads/2021/05/MUFG_white_paper_march2021.pdf
- 259. MUFG (2020) "Human Rights Policy Statement", https://www.mufg.jp/english/csr/policy/index.html
- ActionAid Denmark (2023), Norway's Coal Secret: The Norwegian Oil Fund's Continued Investments in the World's Most Polluting Industry ActionAid Denmark, https://www.ms.dk/en/publications/norways-coal-secret , pp.12-13 Pratiwi, N. A., Y. D Rahmawati and I. Setiono (2016) "Mainstreaming gender in climate change adaptation in Cirebon, Indonesia", https://www.iied.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/migrate/10791IIED.pdf
- 261. Albay, R. (2023) "Indonesia's Cirebon 1 coal power project highlights gaps in ADB's 'coal-to-clean' ETM scheme", 7 February, https://www.ecobusiness.com/news/indonesias-cirebon-1-coal-power-project-highlights-gaps-in-adbs-coal-to-clean-etm-scheme/
- 262. Forest Peoples Programme (2020) "Large scale bribery and illegal land-use violations alleged on large parts of Golden Agri Resources palm oil plantations", 20 March, https://www.forestpeoples.org/en/palm-oil-rspo/press-release/2020/large-scale-bribery-and-illegal-land-use-violations-alleged-large; Greenpeace Southeast Asia (2020) "Greenpeace finds Asia Pulp and Paper guilty of peatland clearance and fuelling forest fires in Indonesia", 15 July, https://www.greenpeace.org/southeastasia/press/43721/greenpeace-finds-asia-pulp-and-paper-guilty-of-peatland-clearance-and-fuelling-forest-fires-in-indonesia/; Business & Human Rights Resource Centre (2021) "Liberia: panel finds palm oil giant violated lands and cultural rights of local communities" 17 February https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/latest-news/liberia-panel-finds-palm-oil-giant-to-have-violated/the-land-and-cultural-rights-of-local-communities/
- 263. Rainforest Action Network, TuK Indonesia and Jikalahari (2021), pp.3-4
- 264. Rainforest Action Network, TuK Indonesia and Jikalahari (2021), p.4
- FAO, UNDP and UNEP (2021) A multi-billion-dollar opportunity Repurposing agricultural support to transform food systems, FAO, https://doi. org/10.4060/cb6562en , p.117
- 266. FAO, UNDP and UNEP (2021), p.xvi
- 267. Muchero, M. (2022) Financing for Agroecology in Zimbabwe, ActionAid and PSA, p.8
- 268. ActionAid Malawi (2022) "Analysis of the 2022/23 draft National budget focusing on Agriculture"
- Duchoslav, J. And J. Rusike (2021) "Why Are Fertilizer Prices in Malawi High? And what can be done?" https://massp.ifpri.info/files/2021/09/ PN_fertilizer_final-002.pdf
- 270. National Planning Commission (2020) Malawi 2063, https://npc.mw/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/MW2063-VISION-FINAL.pdf, p.14
- 271. ActionAid Malawi (2022), p.28
- 272. ActionAid Malawi (2022), p.34
- 273. FAO, UNDP and UNEP (2021), p.38
- 274. FAO, UNDP and UNEP (2021), p.38, p.71; Pernechele, V., Fontes, F., Baborska, R., Nkuingoua, J., Pan, X. & Tuyishime, C. (2021) Public expenditure on food and agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa: trends, challenges and priorities, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb4492en , p.42
- 275. Pernechele et al. (2021), pp.45-46
- George, L. (2023) Total spending on fuel subsidies topped \$7 trillion in 2022, IMF says. Reuters, 24 August https://www.reuters.com/business/ energy/total-spending-fuel-subsidies-topped-7-trillion-2022-imf-says-2023-08-24/
- 277. IEA (2022) Fossil Fuels Consumption Subsidies 2022, https://www.iea.org/reports/fossil-fuels-consumption-subsidies-2022
- European Commission (2017) "Fossil Fuel Subsidies", http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/IDAN/2017/595372/IPOL_ IDA(2017)595372_EN.pdf, p.8
- 279. Baršauskaitė, I. (2022) Background Note on Fossil Fuel Subsidy Reform, IISD and Global Subsidies Initiative, https://www.iisd.org/system/ files/2022-08/background-note-fossil-fuel-subsidy-reform.pdf
- McCulloch, N., D. Natalini; N. Hossain, and P. Justino (2021) "An Exploration of the Association Between Fuel Subsidies and Fuel Riots", IDS Working Paper 556, Brighton: Institute of
- 281. Development Studies, DOI: 10.19088/IDS.2021.058 ; Horowitz, J. (2022) "Ditching fossil fuel subsidies can trigger unrest. Keeping them will kill the climate", CNN 20 January, https://edition.cnn.com/2022/01/20/energy/oil-subsidies-unrest-climate/index.html Rentschler, J. (2016) "Incidence and impact: The regional variation of poverty effects due to fossil fuel subsidy reform", Energy Policy 96, pp.491-503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol
- 282. Soman, A. et al. (2018) "India's Energy Transition: Subsidies for Fossil Fuels and Renewable Energy", https://www.iisd.org/library/indias-energytransition-subsidies-fossil-fuels-and-renewable-energy-2018-update; Van der Burg, L. and Whitley, S. (2016) "Unexpected allies: fossil fuel subsidy reform and education finance", https://www.odi.org/publications/10628-unexpected-allies-fossil-fuel-subsidy-reform-and-education-finance
- 283. Soman, A. et al. (2018), p.10.



- 284. Soman, A. et al. (2018); Bridle, R., Sharma, S., Mostafa, M. and Geddes, A. (2019) Fossil Fuel to Clean Energy Subsidy Swaps: How to pay for an energy revolution, https://www.iisd.org/library/fossil-fuel-clean-energy-subsidy-swap , p.12
- 285. Bridle, R. et al. (2019)
- 286. ODI et al. (2019) G20 Coal Subsidies: Tracking Government Support to a Fading Industry https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2019/06/g20coal-subsidies-2019.pdf, pp.26-28
- 287. Manley, D. And P. Heller (2021) Risky Bet: National Oil Companies in the Energy Transition, https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/ documents/risky-bet-national-oil-companies-in-the-energy-transition.pdf
- 288. ODI et al. (2019), p.35
- 289. ActionAid Denmark (2023) p.3
- 290. Government of Norway (2021) Guidelines for Observation and Exclusion of companies from the Government PensionFund Global (GPFG), Accessed 1 May 2023 https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/9d68c55c272c41e99f0bf45d24397d8c/guidelines-for-observation-andexclusion-of-companies-from-the-gpfg-19.11.2021.pdf; Norges Bank (2023) Observation and exclusion of companies Accessed 1 May 2023, https://www.nbim.no/en/the-fund/responsible-investment/exclusion-of-companies/
- 291. Norges Bank Investment Management (NBIM) (2023) "Investments" Accessed 1 May 2023, https://www.nbim.no/en/the-fund/investments/#/
- 292. Olam Group (2022) "Shareholding Structure", Accessed 1 May 2023, https://www.olamgroup.com/investors/shareholder-centre/shareholdingstructure.html
- 293. Al Sayegh, H. (2023) "Saudi Aramco 4% stake transferred to PIF's Sanabil" Reuters 16 April, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/saudiaramco-4-stake-transferred-pifs-sanabil-2023-04-16/
- 294. BIDV (2022) "Ownership structure", Accessed 2 May 2023, https://www.bidv.com.vn/en/quan-he-nha-dau-tu/co-phieu-bid/co-cau-so-huu
- 295. Mighty Earth (2021) "Is Nothing Sacred?" 8 January, https://www.mightyearth.org/2021/01/08/is-nothing-sacred/; Bugalski, N. And R. Thuon (2015) "A Human Rights Impact Assessment: Hoang Anh Gia Lai Economic Land Concessions in Ratanakiri Province, Cambodia", https://www. iss.nl/sites/corporate/files/CMCP 28- Bugalski Ratha.pdf
- 296. Tatarski, M. (2020) "Vietnamese agribusiness firm HAGL accused of clearing indigenous land in Cambodia", MongaBay 15 June, https://news. mongabay.com/2020/06/vietnamese-agribusiness-firm-hagl-accused-of-clearing-indigenous-land-in-cambodia/
- 297. Greenberg and Muchero (2022), p.5; CIDSE (2020) Finance for Agroecology: More than just a Dream? https://www.cidse.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/09/CIDSE-Agroecology-and-Finance-Briefing-Sept-2020-1.pdf
- 298. Achterberg, A. and D. Quiroz (2020) Development aid funds for agroecology. Support for agroecology of Dutch ODA spending, Profundo, https:// www.bothends.org/uploaded_files/document/Dutch_ODA_Funding_for_Agroecology_Report.pdf , p.4
- 299. Achterberg and Quiroz (2020), p.4
- 300. Pimbert, M. and N. Moeller (2018) "Absent Agroecology Aid: On UK Agricultural Development Assistance since 2010", https://www.mdpi. com/2071-1050/10/2/505
- 301. DanChurchAid (2020) Sustainability Starts from the Ground, https://www.agroecologynow.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/DCA_sustainabilitystarts-from-the-ground_20.pdf, p.20
- 302. ActionAid Australia (2023) Hidden Cash for Fossils: How multilateral banks are diverting Australian tax dollars to fossil fuels https://actionaid.org.au/ wp-content/uploads/2023/05/23129-AAA-HiddenCash-Report-D5-%C6%92-LR-single.pdf, 24.
- 303. Ibid. 11.
- 304 Ibid 16-17
- 305. Ibid. 25.
- 306. Various (2022) "Statement on International Public Support for the Clean Energy Transition", https://ukcop26.org/statement-on-international-publicsupport-for-the-clean-energy-transition/ However, the applicability only to "unabated" fossil fuel energy represents a loophole, given the frequent use of this term to cover for continued fossil fuel investment. The pledge also has a mixed record to date, see Oil Change International (2023b) Promise Breakers: Assessing the impact of compliance with the Glasgow statement commitment to end international public finance for fossil fuels, https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2023/03/PROMISE-BREAKERS.pdf
- 307. JBIC (2020) "Project Financing for Vung Ang 2 Coal-Fired Power Generation Project in Vietnam", https://www.jbic.go.jp/en/information/press/ press-2020/1229-014147.html
- 308. ActionAid Denmark (2023) p.11. Analysis was provided to ActionAid Denmark by the Centre for Research on Energy and Clean Air.
- 309. JBIC (2016) "Project Finance and Political-Risk Guarantee for Central Java Coal-Fired Power Generation Project in Indonesia", https://www.jbic. go.jp/en/information/press/press-2016/0603-48594.html
- 310. Global Energy Monitor (2023) "Central Java Power Project" Accessed 3 May 2023, https://www.gem.wiki/Central_Java_Power_Project
- 311. Banktrack (2022) "BankTrack condemns Japanese and Singapore bank financing of Batang coal project in Indonesia as reckless to people and climate", https://www.banktrack.org/news/banktrack_condemns_japanese_and_singapore_bank_financing_of_batang_coal_project_in_indonesia_ as_reckless_to_people_and_climate ; Greenpeace (2015) Human Cost of Coal Power, https://www.greenpeace.org/static/planet4-indonesiastateless/2019/02/676f10e5-676f10e5-full-report-human-cost-of-coal-power.pdf , p.23
- 312. JBIC (2017) "Project Finance for Expansion of Cirebon Coal-fired Power Plant in Indonesia", https://www.jbic.go.jp/en/information/press/ press-2017/1114-58532.html



- 313. Global Energy Monitor (2023) "Matarbari Power Station" Accessed 2 May 2023, https://www.gem.wiki/Matarbari_power_station
- 314. Mighty Earth (2020) Ten Reasons Why Sumitomo's Matarbari Coal Plant is a Terrible Idea https://www.mightyearth.org/61988-2/
- 315. ActionAid Netherlands and ActionAid Bangladesh (2020) Women and their communities in Bangladesh protect their livelihoods from land-grabs by a coal fired power plant September. Resist, Engage, Change Magazine, September
- 316. Market Forces (2022) "Matarbari coal power plants: Sumitomo, Japanese companies threaten communities and climate in Bangladesh", https:// www.marketforces.org.au/stop-matarbari-coal-power-projects/
- 317. FAO (2019) How to reduce food loss and waste for food security and environmental sustainability. https://www.fao.org/documents/card/ en?details=ca6481en
- 318. Jacobson, M.Z. et al (2022) Low cost solutions to global warming, air pollution and energy insecturity for 145 countries. Energy and Environmental Science, 15 https://web.stanford.edu/group/efmh/jacobson/Articles/I/145Country/22-145Countries.pdf
- 319. Teske et al (2019) Achieving the Paris Climate Agreement Goals: Global and regional 100% renewable energy scenarios with non-energy GHG pathways for +1.5°C and +2°C https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-030-05843-2
- 320. Carbon Tracker (2021) The Sky's the Limit: Solar and wind energy potential is 100 times as much as global energy demand https://carbontracker. org/reports/the-skys-the-limit-solar-wind/
- 321. IPCC (2023)
- 322. Friends of the Earth International (2021) A Just Recovery Renewable Energy Plan for Africa https://www.foei.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/ Friends-of-the-Earth-Just-Recovery-Renewable-Energy-Plan-for-Africa-2021.pdf
- 323. ActionAid (2020) Principles for Just Transitions in Extractives and Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2020/principles-just-transitionsextractives-and-agriculture-shaping-energy-and-food
- 324. Sokona, Y. et al (2023) Just Transition: A climate, energy and development vision for Africa https://www.powershiftafrica.org/storage/publications/ Just-Transition-Africa-report-ENG_single-pages_1685021139.pdf
- 325. Urgewald (2022) Who is Financing Fossil Fuel Expansion in Africa? https://reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/2022.11.15_ Urgewald_Who-is-Financing-Fossil-Fuels-in-Africa.pdf
- 326. US Dept Commerce (2022) Kenya: Energy Electrical Power Systems 19 August https://www.trade.gov/country-commercial-guides/kenyaenergy-electrical-power-systems
- 327. World Bank (2021) Access to electricity (% population) Kenya (accessed May 2023) https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EG.ELC.ACCS.ZS?locations=KE
- 328. Zúniga (2021) Costa Rica's electric grid powered by 98% renewable energy for 7th straight year. The Tico Times. 28 October https://ticotimes. net/2021/10/28/costa-ricas-electric-grid-powered-by-98-renewable-energy-for-7th-straight-year#:~:text=The%20Costa%20Rican%20 government%20expects,for%20Energy%20Control%20(CENCE).
- 329. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Synthesis Report Summary for Policy Makers https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/downloads/report/IPCC_ AR6 SYR SPM.pdf
- 330. IPCC (2023) 6th Assessment Report Summary for Policy Makers https://www.ipcc.ch/srccl/chapter/summary-for-policymakers/
- 331. UN FAO Committee on World Food Security (2020) CFS policy recommendations on agroecological and other innovative approaches for sustainable agriculture and food systems that enhance food security and nutrition https://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs1920/ Agroecology_an_other_innovative/23_July_2020/1CFS_Agroecological_innovative_approaches.pdf
- 332. ActionAid (2016) Climate Resilient Sustainable Agriculture Handbook https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/crsa_handbook_final.pdf
- 333. Dittmer, K. Et al, (2023) Agroecology Can Promote Climate Change Adaptation Outcomes Without Compromising Yield in Smallholder Systems https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00267-023-01816-x
- 334. FAO (2020) The 10 Elements of Agroecology, Accessed May 2023, https://www.fao.org/agroecology/home/en/
- 335. Climate, Land, Ambition & Rights Alliance (CLARA) (2018) Missing Pathways to 1.5°C the role of the land sector in ambitious climate action https://static1.squarespace.com/static/610ffde0dd5c39015edc6873/t/6149416b255ef35c1a852f04/1632190830409/ MissingPathwaysCLARAreport_2018r2.pdf
- 336. FAO (2014) The State of Food and Agriculture https://www.fao.org/3/i4040e/i4040e.pdf; Wolfensen, K. (2013), Coping with the food and agriculture challenge: Smallholders' agenda https://www.fao.org/3/ar363e/ar363e.pdf ; ETC Group (2017), "Who Will Feed Us? The Industrial Food Chain or the Peasant FoodWeb?", 3rd edition, https://www.etcgroup.org/content/who-will-feed-us-industrial-food-chain-vs-peasant-food-web
- 337. Ricciardi V. et al., (2018), "How much of our world's food do smallholders produce?", Glob. Food Sec. 17, 64–72; Lowder S.K., et al., (2021) "Which farms feed the world and has farmland become more concentrated?", World Development, 142.
- 338. ETC Group (2022) Small-scale farmers and peasants still feed the world https://www.etcgroup.org/sites/www.etcgroup.org/files/files/31-01-2022_ small-scale_farmers_and_peasants_still_feed_the_world.pdf
- 339. Altieri, M. and Nicholls, C. (2019) Urban agroecology https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Miguel-Altieri/publication/332183560_Urban_ agroecology/links/5ca550ce458515f785222a2e/Urban-agroecology.pdf?origin=publication_detail
- 340. Altieri, M. and Nicholls, C. (2019) Urban agroecology https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Miguel-Altieri/publication/332183560_Urban_ agroecology/links/5ca550ce458515f785222a2e/Urban-agroecology.pdf?origin=publication_detail; Pengue, W. (2022) Local Food Systems: Making visible the invisible through urban agroecology.



- 341. FAO (2023) Estimating global and country-level employment in agri-food systems https://www.fao.org/3/cc4337en/cc4337en.pdf
- 342. FAO (2023) Estimating global and country-level employment in agri-food systems https://www.fao.org/3/cc4337en/cc4337en.pdf
- 343. FAO (2012). "Smallholders and Family Farmers: Factsheet" http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/nr/sustainability_pathways/docs/Factsheet_ SMALLHOLDERS.pd
- 344. Goita, M. and Frison, E. (2020) The Added Values of Agroecology: Unlocking the potential for transition in West Africa.
- 345. Win, T.L. (2018) "Indian state wins prize for showing 100% organic 'no longer a pipe dream'" Reuters. 12 October https://www.reuters.com/ article/us-global-farming-environment-idUSKCN1MM0WC
- 346. Tashi, S. (2022) Bhutan's challenges and prospects of becoming a 100% organic country https://hk.boell.org/en/2022/09/08/bhutans-challengesand-prospects-becoming-100-organic-country
- 347. De Costa, J. (2022) Overnight conversion to 'exclusively organic agriculture' in Sri Lanka: How not to promote green technology https://hk.boell. org/en/2022/05/30/overnight-conversion-exclusively-organic-agriculture-sri-lanka-how-not-promote-green
- 348. ActionAid (2019) Principles for a Just Transition in Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2019/principles-just-transition-agriculture; ActionAid (2020) Principles for Just Transitions in Extractives and Agriculture https://actionaid.org/publications/2020/principles-just-transitionsextractives-and-agriculture-shaping-energy-and-food
- 349. ActionAid (2020)
- 350. IPES Food (2023) Breaking the cycle of unsustainable food systems, hunger and debt http://www.ipes-food.org/pages/debtfoodcrisis
- 351. ActionAid (2023) The Vicious Cycle: Connections between the debt crisis and climate crisis https://actionaid.org/publications/2023/vicious-cycle
- 352. Oxfam & ActionAid (2023) "Big business' windfall profits rocket to 'obscene' \$1tn a year amid cost-of-living crisis" (6th July) https://www.oxfam. org/en/press-releases/big-business-windfall-profits-rocket-obscene-1-trillion-year-amid-cost-living-crisis
- 353. Oxfam (2023) Survival of the Richest https://www.oxfam.org.uk/media/press-releases/richest-1-grab-nearly-twice-as-much-new-wealth-as-rest-ofthe-world-put-together/
- 354. Klein, A. (2020) What is a financial transaction tax? https://www.brookings.edu/policy2020/votervital/what-is-a-financial-transaction-tax-2/
- 355. For a methodology on assessing the scope of corporate group-level responsibility, see Greenpeace (2023) Shining Light on the Shadows, https:// www.greenpeace.org/static/planet4-international-stateless/2023/03/717b9dca-shining-light-on-the-shadows.pdf
- 356. Reclaim Finance (2023) Throwing Fuel on the Fire: GFANZ financing of fossil fuel expansion, https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2023/01/17/ throwing-fuel-on-the-fire-gfanz-members-provide-billions-in-finance-for-fossil-fuel-expansion/
- 357. Rainforest Action Network et al. (2023), p.25
- 358. Finance Center for South-South Cooperation (2015) "Global south countries (Group of 77 and China)", http://www.fc-ssc.org/en/partnership_program/south_south_countries



SEPTEMBER 2023 AUTHORS: OSCAR REYES AND TERESA ANDERSON DATA ANALYSTS: WARD WARMERDAM, BARBARA KUEPPER AND LÉA VAN PHAM COPY EDITOR: ROWAN DENT ADDITIONAL RESEARCH: DR DOREEN STABINSKY DESIGNER: WWW.NICKPURSERDESIGN.COM WITH THANKS TO COLLEAGUES FROM: ACTIONAID, ALLIANCE FOR FOOD SOVEREIGNTY IN AFRICA (AFSA), BANKTRACK, CENTRE FOR INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL LAW (CIEL), CLIENT EARTH, FRIENDS OF THE EARTH, POWER SHIFT AFRICA, RAINFOREST ACTION NETWORK (RAN), SCAN THE HORIZON, SUNRISE PROJECT AND URGEWALD



act:onaid

International Registration number: 27264198

Website: www.actionaid.org Telephone: +27 11 731 4500 Fax: +27 11 880 8082 Email: mailjhb@actionaid.org

ActionAid International Secretariat, Postnet Suite 248, Private Bag X31, Saxonwold 2132, Johannesburg, South Africa.

September 2023